
Agenda

Oxfordshire Growth Board
Tuesday 28 July 2020 at 1.30 pm to be held as a virtual meeting
From 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021, the Oxfordshire Growth Board meetings are managed 
by Vale of White Horse District Council.
Contact: Kevin Jacob, Growth Board Democratic Services Officer 01235 422191
E-mail: democratic.services@southandvale.gov.uk  
Telephone: 01235 422191
Website: www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org 

Members 

Leader of South Oxfordshire District Council Councillor Sue Cooper
Leader of Vale of White Horse District Council
(which holds the Chair)

Councillor Emily Smith

Leader of Cherwell District Council Councillor Barry Wood
Leader of Oxford City Council Councillor Susan Brown 
Leader of Oxfordshire County Council Councillor Ian Hudspeth
Leader of West Oxfordshire District Council
(which holds the Vice-Chair)

Councillor James Mills

Chairman of OxLEP Jeremy Long
Vice-Chairman and Skills Board representative Adrian Lockwood
Universities representative Professor Alistair Fitt
OxLEP business representative - Bicester Miranda Markham
OxLEP business representative – Oxford City Peter Nolan
OxLEP business representative – Science Vale Angus Horner
Homes England representative Catherine Turner
Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
representative

Dr Kiren Collison

Environment Agency representative Emma Hill

Notes:

1. The meeting will be web streamed. Please see the note at 
http://democratic.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=2777 on how 
to observe the meeting. 

2. One member, one vote for each constituent local authority member only.   

mailto:steve.culliford@southandvale.gov.uk
http://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/
http://democratic.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=2777


AGENDA

1.  Apologies for absence, declarations of interest and Chair's 
announcement  

2.  Minutes  (Pages 7 - 14)

To adopt as a correct record the minutes of the Oxfordshire Growth Board meeting held on 2 
June 2020. 

3.  Public participation  

Asking a question 
Questions (in full and in writing) must be received by 5pm on Wednesday 22 July 2020 
three clear working days before the Growth Board meeting. 

Addressing the Board 
Notice of a wish to address the Growth Board (in full and in writing) must be received by 
12 noon on Monday 27 July 2020, the working day before the Growth Board meeting.  

Questions and addresses should be no longer than one side of A4 paper in Ariel 12 font. 
The address or question will be circulated to the Growth Board and read out by the 
democratic services officer or Chair on behalf of those who have submitted them. A 
response may be given at the meeting or a written answer supplied. The Chair will have 
discretion to manage the public participation procedure as they see appropriate. Public 
speakers may be invited to speak at the virtual meeting, subject to technical 
arrangements being in place. Written submissions may also be read out by the Chair or 
Democratic Services Officer where requested

Questions and notice of addresses must be submitted to 
democratic.services@oxfordshiregrowthboard.org 

4.  Growth Board Scrutiny Panel update  (To Follow)

To receive any feedback from the Growth Board Scrutiny Panel meeting held on 
Wednesday 22 July 2020 (to follow). 

5.  Growth Board Review Stage 1 Implementation  (Pages 15 - 56)

For action: To consider a report setting out progress made against recommendations 
arising from the Growth Board Review. This includes providing endorsement and 
approval for a number of key governance documents.  

mailto:democratic.services@oxfordshiregrowthboard.org


6.  Covid-19 Recovery  (Pages 57 - 82)

For action: To consider a report setting out the current work underway to support 
Oxfordshire’s recovery in response to the Covid-19 pandemic and seeking the Growth 
Board’s support for the approach. 

7.  Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal  

(a)  Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Progress Report -Year Two (Pages 83 - 91)

For information: To receive the 2019/2020 Quarter 4 progress report
 on the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal. 

(b)  Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Financial Outturn 2019/20 (Pages 92 - 100)

For information: To receive the 2019/2020 Quarter 4 financial summary for the 
Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal. 

(c)  Infrastructure sub-group update (Pages 101 - 103)

For information: To receive an update from the Infrastructure Sub-Group.  
Summary notes from the meeting held on 11 May 2020 are attached. 

(d)  Housing sub-group update (Pages 104 - 106)

For information: To receive an update from the Housing Sub-Group.  
Summary notes from the meeting held on 16 June 2020 are attached. 

(e)  Oxfordshire Plan 2050 sub-group update (Pages 107 - 121)

For information: To receive an update from the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 
Sub-Group.  Summary notes from the meetings held on 19 March 2020, 
16 April 2020,14 May 2020 and 18 June 2020 are attached. 

(f)  Oxfordshire Plan 2050: Letter to HM Government (Page 122)

For action: To consider endorsement of a draft letter to HM Government 
regarding the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. 

8.  Community Led Housing in Oxfordshire  (Pages 123 - 184)

For action: To consider a report to the Growth Board following receipt of a £36,113 grant 
from Homes England to commission a study into the establishment of a commissioning 
and development framework to promote Community Led Housing (CLH) in Oxfordshire.

9.  Growth Board Forward Plan  (Pages 185 - 188)

For action: To note and consider any revisions to the Forward Plan. 



10.  Oxford to Cambridge Arc Update  (Pages 189 - 191)

For information: To receive an update from the Growth Board Director concerning 
developments within the Oxford to Cambridge Arc. 

11.  Updates on matters relevant to the Growth Board  

Growth Board members and officers may verbally update the Board concerning progress 
on matters previously before the Board for consideration, listed in the forward plan, or 
relevant to the Board’s future consideration.  This is for the sharing of information, except 
where any actions are required that cannot reasonably be deferred to the next meeting. 

12.  Dates of next meetings  

The dates of future Growth Board meetings are below.  These will normally be held on 
Tuesdays at Didcot Civic Hall, but may be held virtually and broadcast online, taking 
account of the latest Government guidance. Please refer to 
https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/meetings/ for the most up to date information. 

 22 September 2020 
 24 November 2020 
 26 January 2021 
 22 February 2021 (added)
 23 March 2021 
 8 June 2021

 

Councillors’ duties on declaring interests

General duty
You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item 
on the agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you. 

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your 
election expenses); contracts; land in the council’s area; licences for land in the council’s 
area; corporate tenancies; and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each 
councillor’s register of interests which is publicly available on the council’s website. 

Declaring an interest 
Where any matter disclosed in your register of interests is being considered at a meeting, 
you must declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as 
the existence of the interest.  If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having 
declared it at the meeting you must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and 
must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is discussed. 

https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/meetings/


Member’s Code of Conduct and public perception 
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Councillors’ Code 
of Conduct says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and 
that “you must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be 
questioned”.  What this means is that the matter of interests must be viewed within the 
context of the code as a whole and regard should continue to be paid to the perception of 
the public. 

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member 
her or himself but also those of the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living 
with as husband or wife or as if they were civil partners.  





Oxfordshire Growth Board minutes - 2 June 2020

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Oxfordshire Growth Board

HELD ON TUESDAY 2 JUNE 2020 AT 2.00 PM VIRTUALLY 

(recording of the meeting available here)

Present:

Councillor Emily Smith, (Chair), (Vale of White Horse District Council), 
Councillor Susan Brown, (Oxford City Council), Councillor Sue Cooper, (South Oxfordshire 
District Council), Councillor Ian Hudspeth, (Oxfordshire County Council), 
Councillor James Mills, (Vice-Chair) (West Oxfordshire District Council), 
Councillor Barry Wood, (Cherwell District Council), Professor Alistair Fitt, (Universities' 
representative), Emma Hill, (Environment Agency), Angus Horner, (OxLEP business rep - 
Science Vale), Adrian Lockwood, (OxLEP Vice-Chair), Jeremy Long, (OxLEP Chair), 
Miranda Markham, (OxLEP business rep Bicester), Peter Nolan, (OxLEP business rep - 
Oxford City) and Catherine Turner (Homes England). 

Officers: Andrew Down (South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District 
Councils),John Disley, (Oxfordshire County Council), Caroline Green (Oxford City 
Council), Susan Harbour, (South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils), 
Bev Hindle (Oxfordshire Growth Board), Giles Hughes (West Oxfordshire District Council 
CEX), Kevin Jacob, (Oxfordshire Growth Board), Yvonne Rees (Cherwell District Council 
and Oxfordshire County Council CEX, Stefan Robinson, (Oxfordshire Growth Board), 
Mark Stone (South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils CEX) and 
Nigel Tipple (OxLEP CEX). 

1 Election of Chair and Vice-Chair for the 2020/2021 year 

Councillor Sue Cooper welcomed all present to the virtual meeting and made a statement 
as outgoing Chair. She referred to the extraordinary circumstances facing Oxfordshire and 
the country in light of the Covid-19 emergency. Councillor Cooper thanked all residents for 
their forbearance and expressed her gratitude to all of those tackling the pandemic. She 
added that local councils were, in addition to continuing to deliver many existing regular 
services, working tirelessly as part of the national response effort. The Growth Board 
would have a key role in planning for the post-Covid-19 recovery and the Councils working 
in partnership with sharing of skills and resources would become even more important. 

Referring to her year as Chair of the Oxfordshire Growth Board, Councillor Copper 
thanked both the members and those supporting its work for their help and assistance. 
During the last 12 months, significant progress had been to improve the Board’s 
transparency and openness. Councillor Cooper commented that her view was that 
economic prosperity remained a key priority, but it was also important for the county to live 
within its environmental limits. 

Public Document Pack

Page 7

Agenda Item 2

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=4QJqxewKqdQ
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=4QJqxewKqdQ


Oxfordshire Growth Board minutes - 2 June 2020

Councillor Cooper proposed Emily Smith as Chair of the Oxfordshire Growth Board for the 
year 2020/21 and this was seconded by Councillor Susan Brown. There being no other 
nominations this was confirmed by the voting members present. 

RESOLVED: That Councillor Emily Smith be elected as Chair of the Oxfordshire Growth 
Board for the 2020-2021 year.  

Councillor Smith took the Chair at this point and proposed that Councillor James Mills be 
elected as Vice-Chair of the Oxfordshire Growth Board for the 2020/2021 year. This was 
seconded by Councillor Cooper and upon there being no other nominations this was 
confirmed by the voting members present. 

RESOLVED: That Councillor James Mills be elected as Vice-Chair of the Oxfordshire 
Growth Board for the 2020/2021 year. 

Councillor Smith paid tribute to Councillor Cooper for her service as Chair during the 
previous year, particularly in relation to the review of the Growth Board. She referred to the 
need to implement the changes that the Board had committed to from the review. She also 
highlighted the need to continue to make improvements around communications and 
engagement with the public. Oxfordshire faced significant challenges coming out of the 
Covid-19 emergency, but opportunities also existed. It was important for the Growth Board 
to work in partnership with neighbouring counties as part of the Oxfordshire to Cambridge 
Arc to get the best outcomes for residents and the planet.

2 Apologies for absence 

Apologies for absence were submitted by Dr Kiren Collison, Oxfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group.

3 Adoption of Virtual Meeting Procedure Rules 

RESOLVED: That the virtual meeting rules of Vale of White Horse District Council be 
adopted.

4 Declarations of interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

5 Minutes 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 11 March 2020 be signed as a 
correct record.

6 Chair's announcements 

The Chair reminded those present that the meeting was being broadcast live online and 
recorded.  

Page 8



Oxfordshire Growth Board minutes - 2 June 2020

7 Public participation 

Julia Benning on behalf of Need Not Greed Oxfordshire submitted a question. It 
challenged what was felt to be an implicit assumption that, despite the impacts of Covid-
19, the Oxford to Cambridge Arc and the Expressway would go ahead unchanged. It also 
articulated the view that a greater emphasis needed to be placed on the provision of green 
infrastructure within the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy. The Growth Board was asked 
to provide answers to the following specific questions. 

a) How will it put environmental considerations, including climate change but also 
biodiversity, food production and access to green space, at the heart of the OxIS revision, 
including decision-making on spatial strategy, and how will this be reflected in the brief to 
external consultants?
John Disley, Infrastructure delivery Manager at Oxfordshire County Council, responded 
that it was recognised that the OxIS update would need to be developed in the context of a 
changed policy environment. In particular, the updated objectives as set out in section 2 of 
the Outline Project Brief and Scope of Work reflected the key theme of the Environment 
(including addressing the climate emergency). The external consultants work would need 
to build on the latest evidence base. This would help to ensure that OxIS reflected the 
infrastructure priorities across this entire area.
The OxIS update was proposed to be carried out in two stages to align with, and support, 
the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Regulation 18 (spatial options) and Regulation 19 (submission 
consultations. This would allow it to develop iteratively through the consultation process. 
The expectation was that the OxIS update would form the infrastructure evidence base for 
the Oxfordshire Plan. 

b) Which partners/stakeholders does the Growth Board propose to work with to ensure 
that the evidence base is available and used to best effect to support the necessary step-
change of investment in Oxfordshire’s green infrastructure and to guide any funding 
obtained to where it can be most effective (rather than simply a rather random wish-list of 
projects, no matter how noteworthy)?

John Disley responded that it was planned to engage with a wide variety of key 
infrastructure stakeholders including those involved in the delivery of green infrastructure, 
utilities, education, health facilities and transport. This would ensure that the Growth Board 
had the most up-to-date data set for OxIS, and that the relevant policy and strategy was 
understood and reflected in the work. Wider engagement on the draft Stage 1 study was 
planned in early 2021 (alongside the first Oxfordshire Plan consultation) This would ensure 
that wider stakeholders had the opportunity to review and comment on outputs prior to the 
finalisation of the study.

Charlotte Ritchie submitted a question in relation to the Oxford City Council Local Plan. In 
view of the fact that:
a) Any investment in infrastructure to boost local economies should and will take place in 

the north of England, and that
b) Oxford's 'housing need' is unclear, and that
c) The Green Belt, once destroyed cannot be reclaimed, that its destruction contradicts 

the aims of sustainability, biodiversity and ecosystemic balance, and in particular 

Page 9



Oxfordshire Growth Board minutes - 2 June 2020

government policy as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs:7-
14,117-123 and 133-147, and that

d) Working practices including the use of offices and transport, post Covid 19, will 
change.

Was it not time for the Growth Board to request a review of the local plan, and to meet any 
unmet housing need using brownfield areas, and in particular, redeveloping the Botley 
Road/Western gateway to the City (currently occupied by carparks and superstores) and 
the Oxford Business Park areas that are within the ring road, and which are currently 
under-utilised and are likely to become more so?

The Chair responded that the Growth Board oversaw the preparation of the Oxfordshire 
Plan 2050, which when adopted by the District and City Councils, would set an 
overarching strategic framework for the county. It was not the Growth Board’s place to 
request a review of individual Local Plans, as asked by the question, which was a matter 
for the individual statutory planning authorities. 

The Oxfordshire Plan was still very much in early development, and its content was still a 
matter for ongoing discussion and engagement with the public. While the Plan would 
include a spatial strategy, which will seek to direct where future growth was best planned, 
it was not intended to provide specific allocations or detail on individual sites.  
In response to the previous questions, Councillor Brown commented that the Oxford City 
Local Plan had been through a long and thorough period of development and consultation. 
It had now been subject to a public examination and the inspector had agreed with the 
plan’s conclusions in respect of Oxford City’s future housing needs.  

Giles Lewis, on behalf of Cherwell Development Watch Alliance submitted a written 
address to the Board asking it to agree that the Covid-19 emergency should be used as an 
opportunity to revise Oxford City’s housing needs assessment downwards. A letter had 
been sent by the Alliance to Robert Jenrick citing evidence from the Office of National 
Statistics that the currently identified level of housing need had been exaggerated and was 
unrealistic. Concerns were also expressed over what was regarded to be a continuation of 
the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 trajectory of economic growth, more homes and further 
infrastructure. In addition, there were fears that the Plan was set within the context of 
Oxfordshire being a contributor to the Oxford to Cambridge Arc and wider sub-regional 
ambitions.

Bev Hindle, Growth Board Director, responded that it was not the place of the Growth 
Board to comment on individual local plans, as those matters were best taken up with the 
relevant local planning authorities. The Oxfordshire Plan was looking ahead for the next 30 
years and needed to take account of expected changes in the context in which it would sit. 
The Oxfordshire Plan was looking to plan for the next 30 years and needed to take 
account of expected changes in the context in which it would sit. This needed to be 
reflected on and responded to through the evidence base that was gathered. The public 
and partners were invited from 2 June to contribute to this discussion through the 
Oxfordshire Open Thought platform to provide their views on exactly these types of issues.

8 Growth Board Scrutiny Panel Update 

The Growth Board welcomed Councillor Andrew Gant, Chair of the Growth Board Scrutiny 
Panel, to the meeting. 

Page 10

https://www.oxfordshireopenthought.org/


Oxfordshire Growth Board minutes - 2 June 2020

Councillor Gant reported on the outcomes of the Growth Board Scrutiny Panel meeting 
held on 28 May 2020 as set out in the circulated report. He thanked Councillor Hudspeth 
for attending and expressed his gratitude to the officers who had attended and supported 
the meeting.

Councillor Smith outlined the Growth Board’s initial response to each recommendation, the 
majority of which were accepted, and it was noted that the full final text of this would be 
published on the Agenda website.

9 Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the Oxfordshire Housing and 
Growth Deal 

The Growth Board considered a report providing an update on the early impact of the 
Covid-19 pandemic on the delivery of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal. It 
included a recommendation to revise the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 timeline. In presenting the 
report Bev Hindle, Growth Board Director, highlighted that:

 The report represented a point in time and there remained significant uncertainty 
around the length and severity of the impact of the pandemic.

 These issues would need to be monitored and there would now be regular updates to 
the Growth Board on the issue and potential mitigations. 

 The pandemic was expected to impact on deliverability across the whole of the 
Housing and Growth Deal, not just the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 elements. In many 
cases, the completion of the Deal objectives depended on the ability of external 
stakeholders to deliver. These were outside of the Board’s direct influence.

 The expected changes in public behaviour as a result of the pandemic might affect 
issues such as housing type and infrastructure planning.

 A joint approach to the recovery was being developed with the Oxfordshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership (OxLEP).

 A joint approach to the recovery was being developed with the Oxfordshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership, (OxLEP).

 Given the uncertainties, it was impossible to rule out the need for a further extension of 
the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 timeline.  

Nigel Tipple, Chief Executive of OxLEP, supported the comments made, particularly those 
with regard to the uncertainty of timescales. He commented that there was likely to be a 
period of economic renewal, with businesses recalibrating over a period of at least 12 
months, rather than a recovery to a pre-Covid position.  

Councillor Wood expressed the view that it was possible that developers, citing the 
economic impact of Covid-19 on viability, might seek to renegotiate previous planning 
application commitments on financial contributions. There was merit in local authorities 
continuing to liaise regarding their response to this. Potential opportunities for local 
authorities also existed. For instance, the provision of land for affordable housing or 
infrastructure in lieu of a financial contribution by developers. The pressing need for more 
affordable housing was also commented upon.
 
RESOLVED: That

1. The early impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the delivery of the Oxfordshire 
Housing and Growth Deal be noted by the Growth Board, and in considering this;

Page 11

http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/documents/b8196/Written%20Answer%20to%20public%20question%20and%20response%20to%20Growth%20Board%20Scrutiny%20Panel%20recommendations%20Tuesd.pdf?T=9


Oxfordshire Growth Board minutes - 2 June 2020

2. The Growth Board endorses the revised timeline for the Oxfordshire Plan 2050, as set 
out in the report, for officers to take forward in discussion with MHCLG.

10 Updating the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy (OxIS) 

The Growth Board considered a report on the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy (OxIS) 
which outlined next steps for delivery to align with the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 timescales. 
John Disley, Oxfordshire County Council Infrastructure Strategy and Policy Manager, 
presented the report and highlighted that:   

 OxIS had been originally completed in 2017 and was considered to have been 
successful in supporting funding bids for infrastructure across Oxfordshire. 

 There had been a commitment within the Housing and Growth Deal to refresh OxIS 
linked to the infrastructure priorities of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050.

 It was sensible for OxIS to be revisited in light of the forthcoming revised purpose of 
the Growth Board.

 A two-stage process was envisaged for the update. It would be undertaken in 
partnership across Oxfordshire.

 The timing of the update allowed for impacts arising from the Covid-19 pandemic to be 
taken into consideration as it progressed. 

In discussion, the Growth Board welcomed the report and the proposed update of OxIS. 
While it was observed that the delivery of OxIS schemes was not as evident on the ground 
as it could have been, it was recognised that the Infrastructure strategy had been very 
successful in helping to secure funding and providing links to HM Government.

Support was expressed for the introduction of a new scoring matrix as part of the strategy. 
This would focus upon local needs, whilst taking account of priorities such as the climate 
emergency and the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic.

Jeremy Long, Chair of OxLEP, commented that OxIS (along with the Oxfordshire Local 
Industrial Strategy) represented a coherent understanding of the county moving forward. 
He remarked that it was the right time to reflect on the county’s infrastructure needs and 
that the impacts arising from the pandemic should rightly form part of that.

RESOLVED: That the Oxfordshire Growth Board endorse the outline project brief and 
scope of work for the OxIS update, in line with the current commitment to update OxIS in 
the Oxfordshire Growth Deal.

11 Growth Board Forward Plan 

Stefan Robinson, Growth Board Manager, set out the proposed Growth Board Forward 
Plan. He drew attention to an additional meeting scheduled for late July 2020 to consider 
the continued response to the pandemic and ongoing developments within the Arc. If 
appropriate, other items which had been provisionally programmed for the September 
meeting would also be brought forward.

It was also highlighted that consideration would be given as to how the Growth Board 
annual work planning event might be replaced by a virtual workshop or offline discussion.

Page 12



Oxfordshire Growth Board minutes - 2 June 2020

Resolved:
That the Growth Board notes its forward programme.

12 Updates on matters relevant to the Growth Board 

Oxfordshire Open Thought 
Bev Hindle, Growth Board Director, informed the Board that the recently launched 
Oxfordshire Open Thought website had been designed to be innovative and provide a 
different non-statutory form of consultation than that traditionally associated with local 
government. Work had commenced prior to the pandemic, and the aim was to access the 
ideas of Oxfordshire’s population (and other interested parties) about how people might 
live, work and travel up to 30 years in the future. Growth Board members were 
encouraged to visit and promote the website as much as possible.

Oxford to Cambridge Arc Leaders Executive Group
Bev Hindle reminded the Board that the Oxford to Cambridge Arc was an area of 
economic priority for HM Government. At the Budget, the Chancellor of the Exchequer had 
made a commitment to the development of an Arc spatial framework as a major plank of 
HM Government’s economic strategy. Across the geography of the Arc, local authorities 
had been working collectively with partners including Local Enterprise Partnerships and 
universities to try and see how they could mutually add value. Facilitation of this work, 
including meetings of the organisations involved, formed part of his role.

The Oxford to Cambridge Arc Leadership Group comprised of approximately 30 local 
authorities and partner organisations within the Arc area. The group had recently 
established a governance structure to include an Executive Leaders Group based upon 
Growth Board representation.

The Growth Board was invited to appoint three local authority representatives to the Arc 
Executive Leaders Group. The issue had been brought to this meeting, because it could 
not reasonably be deferred. It was noted that representatives from the LEP and 
universities sectors would also be represented on the group via a separate appointment 
process. 

Members of the Growth Board agreed unanimously that it was important for Oxfordshire to 
fully engage in the work and development of the Arc for the benefit of Oxfordshire’s 
residents and this was followed by detailed discussion around the appointments. 

It was proposed by Councillor Mills that the three representatives should comprise 
Councillor Smith (as the current Chair of the Growth Board), Councillor Hudspeth (as the 
current Leader of Oxfordshire County Council – the transport authority) and Councillor 
Barry Wood (in light of his service as Chair of the Arc Leaders Group). Furthermore, 
Councillor Brown should be the standing deputy for all three appointments. In response, 
Councillor Brown commented that, in considering the Terms of Reference of the Executive 
Group, the Arc Leaders Group had accepted the importance of the respective Growth 
Boards being mindful of the overall political balance of appointments across the Arc. It 
was, therefore, important to ensure the voice and perspectives of cities, including Oxford, 
were recognised and represented.

After further discussion, Councillor Mill’s proposal was seconded by Councillor Hudspeth 
and agreed by a majority vote. 

Page 13

https://www.oxfordshireopenthought.org/


Oxfordshire Growth Board minutes - 2 June 2020

RESOLVED: 

1. That Councillors Smith, Hudspeth and Wood be appointed as the Growth Board’s 
representatives on the Oxford to Cambridge Arc Leaders Executive Group for the 
2020/21 Growth Board year. 

2. That Councillor Brown be appointed as the Growth Board’s standing deputy in respect 
of the above appointments for the 2020/21 Growth Board year.

3. That the above appointments be reviewed on an annual basis.

13 Dates of next meetings 

The Growth Board noted the dates of future meetings as set out below:

 July (tbc)
 22 September 2020 
 24 November 2020 
 26 January 2021
 22 February 2021
 23 March 2021 
 8 June 2021

The meeting closed at 16:00

Chairman Date

Page 14



www.OxfordshireGrowthBoard.org 

To: Oxfordshire Growth Board

Title of Report: Growth Board Review Stage 1 Implementation 

Date: 28 July 2020

Report of: Bev Hindle, Growth Board Director 

Stefan Robinson, Growth Board Manager

Introduction

1. This report provides a summary of progress made on early actions arising from 
the Growth Board’s review of its functions and recommends a series of 
governance documents for endorsement or approval. Designated as stage one 
of two in the review implementation plan, these documents bring forward a 
series of changes to working practices, led by a clear refreshed purpose for the 
Board which is to manage economic, housing and infrastructure development in 
a way that is inclusive and maximises local social and environmental benefits. 

2. This renewed focus will need to permeate various levels of the Board’s work 
going forward and be supported by a demonstrable change in how this is 
communicated with partners and the public. This report and recent work however 
focusses on providing a robust baseline of core governance documents, on 

Executive Summary and Purpose: This report sets out progress to date in 
implementing early actions from the Growth Board review, and requests 
endorsement and approval for a suite of revised governance documents, which 
have been updated to reflect the outcomes of the review.  

Recommendations: That the Growth Board:
1) Endorse its revised Terms of Reference and Memorandum of Understanding. 

These will take effect following approval by each local authority Cabinet, the 
last of which meets on or before 7 August 2020.

2) Approve the revised Advisory Sub-Group Terms of Reference.
3) Approve the revised Executive Officer Group Terms of Reference. 
4) Approve the revised Public Participation Protocol

Appendices:
Appendix 1: Revised Growth Board Terms of Reference.
Appendix 2: Revised Growth Board Memorandum of Understanding.
Appendix 3: Revised Advisory Subgroup Terms of Reference (three documents).
Appendix 4: Revised EOG Terms of Reference.
Appendix 5: Revised Public Participation Protocol.

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



which other changes can build from. This work has been undertaken following 
the support given by the Growth Board in January 2020, informed by an open 
and wide-ranging consultation exercise that was undertaken with the public, 
partners and councillors across Oxfordshire at the end of 2019. 

3. The review found that there have been a series of unique successes and 
opportunities realised through the Growth Board collaboration and the duty to 
cooperate, including securing over £500m of investment in Oxfordshire in recent 
years. There were however areas identified for improvement concerning 
communication and the integration of environmental issues within the Board’s 
work. 

4. The Growth Board is asked to endorse its revised ToR and Memorandum of 
Understanding, which will be adopted only once they are approved separately by 
each of the six local authorities through their respective Cabinets / Executive. 
The Board is also asked to approve revised versions of the three Advisory Sub-
Group ToR (Infrastructure, Housing and Oxfordshire Plan 2050), Executive 
Officer Group ToR and Public Participation Protocol. 

5. Before further progress is made in implementing the outcomes of the Growth 
Board review, it is critical that these documents are agreed, as they inform the 
next stages of work. Whilst the local, regional and national context continues to 
evolve concerning the role of Growth Boards and sub-regional governance 
structures across the Oxford to Cambridge Arc, there is, and there will continue 
to be, a need to keep these documents under regular review. This report is 
divided into three sections; governance documents, other ongoing progress and 
work still to do. 

Part 1: Governance Documents 

Terms of Reference

6. The Growth Board’s revised ToR have a clear purpose from the outset, with an 
emphasis on sustainable development, the pursuit of a zero-carbon future, and 
the oversight of delegated programmes of work within this remit. This includes 
amendments throughout to give a greater emphasis on sustainability in the 
Board’s work. This is perhaps the most significant change in how the Board is 
organised, reflecting the specific importance of environmental preservation and 
tackling climate change in Oxfordshire’s future. An early draft of this new 
purpose received positive feedback from some contributors to the review, as well 
as support from the Board’s Scrutiny Panel. It also incorporates suggested 
revisions made by the Panel to reference to the Government’s stated aim of net 
zero carbon by 2050. The new proposed purpose states that Growth Board will:

a) Coordinate local efforts to manage economic, housing and infrastructure 
development in a way that is inclusive and maximises local social and 
environmental benefits;

b) Support the development of local planning policy that meets the UK 
Government’s stated aim of net zero carbon by 2050, and contributes 
towards biodiversity gain whilst embracing the changes needed for a low 
carbon world; and, 

Page 16



c) Seek to secure funding in the pursuit of these aims and oversee the delivery 
of related work programmes delegated to it by the Joint Committee’s 
constituent local authority members.  

7. When the Growth Board’s ToR were last considered in April 2018, the Advisory 
Sub-Groups and the Scrutiny Panel ToR were still in development. Now that they 
have been established, the Board’s ToR do not need to list the specific detail of 
how each of these external groups will operate. The revised ToR instead now 
summarise in general terms the role of these groups and redirects to the 
separate ToR that now exist.  

8. Non-voting members have been renamed as associate members. This has been 
done in order to move away from voting terminology being a defining feature of 
their role. Instead, the associate status brings a parity of esteem between 
colleagues on the Board. The revised draft does however retain the distinction 
that associate members will not be able to vote on local authority matters.

9. Included in the new ToR is a provision to request a subscription fee from each 
member of the Board. This is to raise the visibility and transparency of the need 
for continued joint funding arrangements for the Board’s work to be delivered. 
The Board currently has a spending pot for administrative costs of approximately 
£24k which has no current commitment to top up. Separately, approximately 
£118k in staffing costs are divided equally and recharged in arrears to all six local 
authorities each year. Subscription fees will enable a more formalised budgeting 
structure to exist for the Board’s operations, and for budget approval to be 
recommended to each authority in February. This will bring greater visibility to the 
ongoing costs and improve our ability to plan for future budget rounds. 

10.The Board is now recommended to continue with six meetings each year, with 
four of these being scheduled for the timeliest consideration of quarterly progress 
reports. A further two dates will be scheduled to accommodate the breadth and 
depth of the anticipated future work programme.

11.As required under the emerging Oxford to Cambridge Arc governance 
arrangements, it has been made clear in the ToR that the Growth Board may 
appoint representatives to relevant bodies as required. Greater clarity will come 
forward later this year about the implications of the emerging Arc concept, the 
opportunities it presents, and the role of local authorities, the Board and the 
public in that process.  

12.Provision has been included in the new ToR for members to withdraw from the 
Board, which provides certainty around the process if this were to occur. 
Importantly, it specifies periods of notice which will allow enough time for 
withdrawal to take place, and for budget impacts to be assessed. 

Memorandum of Understanding

13.The Memorandum of Understanding between Oxfordshire County Council and 
the Growth Board was established in April 2018. This is principally an operational 
document to support the administration of the Board’s work. A revised version is 
included at Appendix 2 for the Growth Board’s endorsement, though this will 

Page 17



need to be agreed by each council’s Cabinet / Executive. The updated MoU 
provides greater operational clarity concerning the handling freedom of 
Information requests related to the Growth Board. Several minor changes have 
also been included to mirror the terminology and arrangements now included in 
the revised ToR for the Growth Board.

Advisory Sub-group Terms of Reference 

14.The Growth Board has three Advisory Sub-groups covering three workstreams 
within the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal (Housing, Infrastructure and 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050). These non-decision-making groups are made up of 
senior councillors from each local authority, plus a member of the Growth Board 
as Chair. Responding to feedback received during the review, a new section 
within the Advisory Sub-group ToR has been added concerning the role of 
members and the Chair, to emphasise their role in communicating and being a 
conduit between their respective councils. Further work is needed however to 
ensure that members received the support they need in that role. Provision to 
elect a temporary chair when the usual chair cannot attend, but still wishes for the 
meeting to progress, has also been included in the new Sub-group ToR. 

Public Participation Protocol

15.The Growth Board agreed its public participation protocol in March 2017. This 
was done to ensure consistency in procedures for the public when the hosting 
arrangements rotate each year to a different local authority. The current protocol 
requires one day notice for addresses, and three for questions, for which the text 
is required. This difference in timing has caused confusion. The Growth Board 
review report presented on 28 January 2020 recommended aligning both to three 
days’ notice for constancy. Since the protocol was last considered, the agenda 
publication deadline has been brought forward by two days to allow more time for 
the public to digest any papers before submitting questions, offsetting the change 
in notice required for addresses. A further change is the provision of a 
supplementary question, if the Chair can manage this within the total time 
allocated for public speaking. The protocol has also been updated to welcome 
any member of the Board to respond to public representations, and not just the 
Chair. 

16.The Growth Board resolved at its meeting on 2 June 2020 to adopt the Vale of 
White Horse’s virtual meeting procedure rules, as the host authority, where they 
can be applied. As the response to Covid-19 evolves, the Board will need to 
maintain flexibility in how best can best facilitate the business of the Growth 
Board whilst ensuring public access and participation. 

Executive Officer Group (EOG) Terms of Reference 

17.The Growth Board Executive Officer Group is the lead operational group that 
supports the Growth Board in its work. Its purpose is to support the Board and 
provide advice on the range of functions that it covers. Brought into existence and 
agreed in 2014, it is now timely that the ToR of this group be updated. The 
revised ToR included at Appendix 4 have been updated to identify EOG as the 
lead operational group for supporting the Growth Board’s role within the Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc, whilst reporting into local authority Chief Executives. 

Page 18



18.Responding to feedback received during the review, there is now provision for 
local Health and Environmental bodies to be members of this group, though more 
work is needed to identify the specific nominations. The new ToR, much like the 
Advisory Sub-group ToR, have strengthened the role and accountabilities of 
members surrounding communication and acting as a conduit with their 
respective organisations. 

Part 2: Other Ongoing Progress

Annual Work Planning Event

19.Officers had previously planned for an annual work planning event to take place 
in June this year with the Growth Board’s membership, Local Authority Chief 
Executives and EOG. In light of the Covid-19 pandemic, a new virtual approach is 
being pursued, in which all parties can feed into the agenda setting process for 
2021/22. 

Scrutiny Task and Finish Groups 

20.The Scrutiny Panel welcomed, as did the Growth Board, the opportunity to hold 
Task and Finish groups to look in depth at specific issues related to the Housing 
and Growth Deal. This can still be facilitated virtually, and support for this can be 
provided from within existing resources. It will however be for the Panel to 
establish and scope its own reviews, taking account of advice from the Panel’s 
Scrutiny Officer and technical officers involved. 

Communication

21.Good communication is fundamental to the work of the Growth Board. As shown 
through the recent review, a step change is required for the Board to become 
more proactive in informing people about its work and engaging them in the 
process where appropriate. The Board’s ability to provide a systematic means of 
communication with a variety of stakeholders is the subject of an ongoing 
operational review that is taking place to assess the resource requirements 
needed to effectively support the Board. The Board continues to issue a 
newsletter to all councillors, which is administered through each local authorities’ 
communications resource. A new facility to record virtual meetings of the Scrutiny 
Panel and the Growth Board has boosted our ability to share the content of 
meetings, with early analysis showing that viewing numbers of our virtual 
meetings far exceed attendance at physical meetings.  

22.Across the Board, its Advisory Sub-groups and the Scrutiny Panel, most local 
authorities have seven elected councillors involved in the formal governance 
structures of the Board and its work. There are equally officers involved in 
supporting those councillors, either through the Executive Officer Group, Growth 
Deal and Board Officers, or through bespoke briefing structures that have been 
developed within individual councils. This critical mass will go a significant way in 
helping to distribute important information throughout each local authority, and on 
to residents. The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 programme will be supported specifically 
by a dedicated central communications resource to ensure that it engages at the 
right levels and at the right time. 

Page 19



Establishing a standalone Environmental Body 

23.The Board provided its support to establishing a standalone environmental body 
or Local Nature Partnership which could link in where appropriate with the 
Board’s work. A workshop is being arranged which will review work undertaken 
by the Berkshire, Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire Wildlife Trust on behalf of the 
Oxfordshire Environment Board which will consider best practice nationally with 
respect to Local Nature Partnerships (LNP). 

24.That workshop provides the opportunity to develop clear recommendations on a 
preferred approach by early autumn. It is possible that any new LNP will be an 
important part of an emerging wider environmental workstream under the Growth 
Board, but this needs further discussion and development. 

Part 3: Work Still to Do

Oxfordshire Leadership Conference

25.This Growth Board Review showed support for wider public and stakeholder 
engagement and debate outside of the Growth Board structure on matters 
affecting the county. The Review recommended that an annual conference take 
place for example, with workshops, debates and exhibitions. It would provide a 
space for clear place-based civic leadership and debate on the most important 
strategic issues for Oxfordshire. The Board endorsed further exploration of this 
concept with other community partnerships across the county. As set out in 
January 2020, firmer proposals can be brought forward later in 2020, as part of a 
wider stage 2 update on progress with the review’s implementation. Again, the 
impact of Covid-19 needs to be considered in how this proposal evolves, and in 
particular, how a wider group of stakeholders and the public can be engaged in 
an effective, open and transparent way.

Working Groups

26.Officers reported in January 2020 that there would be merit in exploring the 
creation of thematic working groups, potentially reflecting the Arc sub-structure 
(i.e. Place, Environment, Connectivity and Productivity). More time is needed 
before settling on any firm arrangements, given that the Arc concept is still 
evolving.

Timescales

27.The Growth Board Terms of Reference and Memorandum of Understanding are 
matters reserved for decision by each local authority’s Cabinet / Executive. The 
list of meeting dates below set out a timetable for these documents being 
considered by each local authority. Pending agreement by all, the revised ToR 
and MoU will take effect from 7 August 2020; the date on which the last council’s 
cabinet meets.

 Cherwell District Council: 6 July 2020
 South Oxfordshire District Council: 9 July 2020
 Oxford City Council: 15 July 2020
 Oxfordshire County Council: 21 July 2020

Page 20



 West Oxfordshire District Council: 22 July 2020
 Vale of White Horse District Council: 7 August 2020 

Report Authors:

Bev Hindle, Director Oxfordshire Growth Board

Stefan Robinson, Growth Board Manager

Contact: 

bev.hindle@oxfordshire.gov.uk

Stefan.robinson@southandvale.gov.uk

Page 21



 
 

Appendix 1  
 

Oxfordshire Growth Board Joint Committee 
Terms of Reference  

June 2020  
 
1.0 Purpose  
 
1.1 Oxfordshire’s growing economy is set to create challenges and opportunities for the 

County related to housing, infrastructure, public services and the environment. These 
issues will best be addressed through joined up planning between local councils which 
prioritises sustainable development and quality of life. Collective planning, where it 
makes sense to do so, will be the most effective means of minimising the unwanted 
impacts of a growing economy, whilst leveraging the maximum benefit from the 
opportunities it brings for our existing and future communities. 

 
1.2 The Oxfordshire Growth Board (“Joint Committee”) will: 
 
1.3 Coordinate local efforts to manage economic, housing and infrastructure development 

in a way that is inclusive and maximises local social and environmental benefits; 
 

1.4 Support the development of local planning policy that meets the UK Government’s 
stated aim of net zero carbon by 2050, and contributes towards biodiversity gain whilst 
embracing the changes needed for a low carbon world; and,  

 
1.5 Seek to secure funding in the pursuit of these aims and oversee the delivery of related 

work programmes delegated to it by the Joint Committee’s constituent local authority 
members.   

 
2.0 Membership 

 
2.1 The Joint Committee’s core membership includes the local authorities within 

Oxfordshire comprising, Cherwell District Council, Oxford City Council, South 
Oxfordshire District Council, Vale of White Horse District Council, West Oxfordshire 
District Council and Oxfordshire County Council. Voting rights are reserved to local 
authority members only. 
 

2.2 It also includes co-opted associate members from those organisations listed below: 
 

 Chair of OxLEP  

 Chair of the Oxfordshire Skills Board  

 Universities Representative  

 OXLEP Business Representative-Bicester  

 OXLEP Business Representative-Oxford City  

 OXLEP Business Representative-Science Vale 

 Homes England Representative 

 DEFRA Agencies Representative 

 Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group Representative 
 

Page 22



 
 

2.3 When considering transport infrastructure matters, Network Rail and Highways England 
will have the right to attend as associate members.  

 

2.4 As the Joint Committee is constituted to be able to discharge executive functions if 
delegated to it by the constituent authorities, then the appointed person must be from 
the Executive of the constituent authorities. There should be one member from each 
constituent authority. 

 
2.5 Each constituent authority shall appoint a substitute (also being an Executive member). 

The substitute member shall have the same rights of speaking and voting at the 
meetings as the member for whom the substitution is made. 

 
2.6 The Joint Committee, with the agreement of the local authority members, may co–opt 

other associate members to its membership where it is considered conducive to the 
effective consideration of any matter. 

 
2.7 The Joint Committee may appoint representatives to the other outside bodies for which 

the Committee has membership. 

 
3.0 Governance 

 
3.1 The Oxfordshire Growth Board is a Joint Committee under s101 (5), 102 Local 

Government Act 1972 (LGA 1972) and s9EB Local Government Act 2000 (LGA 2000) 
and pursuant to the Local Authorities (Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) 
(England) Regulations 2012. 

 

3.2 Notwithstanding the above each constituent authority will retain all non-executive and 
executive functions generally and specifically in relation to economic development, 
housing provision, strategic spatial planning and strategic transport planning.  

 

3.3 The Joint Committee will meet in public subject to the provisions of s100 LGA 1972 as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985. The Joint 
Committee will be hosted under local government arrangements and chairing will be 
rotated between the local authorities on an annual basis in line with the arrangements at 
9.1.  

 
3.4 The policy advice and support will be provided by the Joint Committee’s Executive 

Officer Group (Chaired by the Growth Board Director), Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer, reporting to the Local Authority Chief Executive Group. 

 
3.5 The resources and capacity required to deliver the Joint Committee’s work 

programmes, and the work of any associated sub groups, will be agreed by the Chief 
Executive Group. 

 

4.0 General functions  

 

4.1 To facilitate and enable collaboration between local authorities and key partners to 
manage economic, housing and infrastructure development in a way that is inclusive 
and maximises local social and environmental benefits. 

Page 23



 
 

 

4.2 To facilitate strategic alignment of spatial, economic and infrastructure plans in a way 
that is environmentally, economically and socially sustainable in order to safeguard 
Oxfordshire’s unique historical, cultural and environmental character. 

 
4.3 To facilitate collective engagement of Joint Committee Partners with other national, 

regional and sub-regional bodies on matters concerning infrastructure and strategic 
planning and where relevant, comment on wider proposals and decisions from national 
agencies, where these have a strategic impact on Oxfordshire. 

 
4.4 To act as the voice of Oxfordshire to Government and other national and Sub National 

bodies to ensure Oxfordshire’s infrastructure and housing needs are recognised in 
future investment priorities and funding. 

 
4.5 To provide a strategic partnership forum for the identification and development of 

sustainable strategies and plans for Oxfordshire related to spatial planning, economic 
development, housing and transport.  

 
4.6 To coordinate the prioritisation of funding from devolved funding sources for 

infrastructure schemes, where this funding is not already within the remit of the Local 
Transport Authority, to ensure that decisions are made in one place and supported by 
all relevant partners and stakeholders. 

 
4.7 To oversee the delivery of detailed work programmes as delegated to the Joint 

Committee by the constituent authorities, as set out under specific functions at 5.0. 

 
4.8 To bid for the allocation of resources and investment to support the above purposes.   

 

5.0 Specific Functions  

 
Strategic Planning  

 

5.1 To oversee joint work on cross border issues to ensure partners meet the 
requirements of the Duty to Cooperate under S33A of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and wider national planning policy. 

 
5.2 To assess whether strategic spatial planning, infrastructure and public services 

are integrated and delivered in a sustainable way, and to make 
recommendations to encourage this. 

 
5.3 To monitor the production of collective spatial plan studies as determined by the 

Joint Committee (including the Oxfordshire Plan 2050). 

 
5.4 To act as the voice of Oxfordshire in respect of the emerging Oxford to 

Cambridge Arc and to appoint representatives on behalf of the Joint Committee 
as required.   

 
 

 

Page 24



 
 

The Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal  

 

5.5 To oversee and facilitate delivery of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal 
(“the Deal”), including: 

 
5.6 To prioritise and allocate all funding from the Deal and from the Accountable 

Body to the body responsible for delivery of projects. 

 
5.7 To approve and monitor the implementation of work programmes for the delivery 

of the Deal (including infrastructure, affordable housing funding and capacity 
funding). 

 
5.8 To oversee the delivery of a productivity stream work programme to be   

delivered by OxLEP. 

 
5.9 To monitor the production of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 (under Section 28 of the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004) and associated work 
programmes. The draft plan will be subject to examination and the adoption of 
the plan will require a decision by each constituent authority at key milestones.   

 
5.10 To establish Advisory Sub Groups to oversee delivery of work programmes to 

meet the agreed milestones and targets set out in the Deal relating to 
Infrastructure, Affordable Housing and the Oxfordshire Plan 2050.  

 
5.11 To receive and publish quarterly performance and finance monitoring reports as 

set out in the Deal Delivery Plan.  

 
5.12 To seek agreement on alignment between national and regional and local 

funding streams in the fields of activity listed above and prioritise competitive 
funding bids made on behalf of the Joint Committee or where the bid process is 
Oxfordshire wide. 

 
6.0 Voting  

 
6.1 Only local authority Members (or their substitutes) shall be designated as voting 

members and shall be entitled to one vote on items of business considered by the Joint 
Committee, although members intend to agree matters on a unanimous basis where 
possible. 
 

6.2 A majority vote shall be required. In the event of there being an equal number of votes 
for and against a particular proposition, a casting vote by the Chair may be exercised. 

 
7.0 Quorum and Safeguard  
 
7.1 The quorum for a meeting shall be four voting members.  

 
7.2 Where the effect of a particular proposition, if adopted by the Joint Committee on a 

majority basis, would give rise to policy, contractual or financial implications for a 
constituent authority that it does not support, that authority may opt out of participation 
in that proposition in so far as it affects their authority before any vote is taken but this 

Page 25



 
 

will not prevent the other parties proceeding with the proposition. In respect of other 
matters, all other voting will be on a normal majority basis.  

 
7.3 Normal rules as to declarations of interest to be applied to local authority members in 

accordance with the respective Council’s Code of Conduct.  
 

8.0 Accountable Body  
 

8.1 The Accountable Body for the Joint Committee is Oxfordshire County Council. It will 
provide Section 151 and Monitoring Officer roles to the Committee in accordance with 
the Memorandum of Understanding between Oxfordshire County Council and the Joint 
Committee. 

 

8.2 The County Council’s Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) will provide the Joint 
Committee with quarterly financial reports for funding that has been allocated directly to 
Oxfordshire County Council as the Accountable Body.  These reports will provide the 
Joint Committee with an overview of the funds spent and funds committed against funds 
allocated. 

 
8.3 For those programmes and funding streams where another local authority is the 

Accountable Body, the relevant Section 151 Officer will provide the financial and 
performance information to the County Council’s Section 151 Officer, for integration into 
the quarterly reporting process.   

 
9.0 Meetings  

 
9.1 The Chair and Vice-Chair of the Joint Committee will be elected at the first meeting in 

each Growth Board year, which runs from 1 June to 31 May.   

 

9.2 The Growth Board Director shall be responsible for convening meetings in consultation 
with the Chief Executive of the authority which holds chairing responsibilities.  

 
9.3 Meetings shall usually be held six times each year. However, meetings may be called 

by the Chair, Monitoring Officer, Chief Executive Group, or any three voting members of 
the Joint Committee, in circumstances where business cannot be reasonably deferred 
to the next scheduled meeting.  

 
9.4 Agendas and minutes will be published, and meetings held in public, in accordance with 

the requirements set out in the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985. A 
Forward Plan of items to be considered will be published online each month, and 
included with each agenda.  

 
9.5 Public speaking procedures will be established in line with a separate protocol as 

agreed by the Joint Committee.  

 
10. Advisory Sub Groups  

 

10.1 The Joint Committee will establish Advisory Sub Groups to oversee specific work 
programmes or broader thematic areas as required. Sub groups, reporting into the Joint 

Page 26



 
 

Committee, will be managed in accordance with separately published terms of 
reference as agreed by the Joint Committee. 

 
10.2 The role, remit and membership of Advisory Sub Groups will be reviewed regularly to 

ensure they remain flexible to the demands of ongoing and new programmes of work. 

 
11. Scrutiny Arrangements  

 
11.1 The Joint Committee will establish a non-statutory Scrutiny Panel with a cross party 

membership of councillors from each constituent local authority, with a role to review 
decisions and actions taken by the Joint Committee. The Scrutiny Panel will be 
managed in accordance with separately published terms of reference. 

 

11.2 The Scrutiny Panel will be non-statutory and not strictly constituted in accordance with 
the statutory provisions of the Local Government Act 2000. The Panel’s function will 
therefore complement, rather than replace, the statutory overview and scrutiny duties of 
the constituent authorities, as set out under the Local Government Act 2000. 

 
12. Funding Contributions  
 
12.1 The budget for the Joint Committee’s administration will be endorsed no later than 1 

December of the preceding financial year by the local authority membership of the Joint 
Committee. The cost of meeting the expenditure planned in the budget shall, to the 
extent not met from other sources, be divided among all members of the Joint 
Committee, with discretion to vary fees between associate and local authority 
membership.  
 

12.2 The budget endorsed by the Joint Committee will subsequently be recommended to 
each Local Authority member for approval during the February budget setting process.  

 
13. Withdrawal  
 
13.1 If any member determines that they no longer require membership to the Joint 

Committee, they may give written notice to the Joint Committee’s Chair and Director no 
later than 1st January preceding the financial year to which the budget will apply. 
Unless they withdraw that notice in writing, they shall cease to be a member from 1st 
April of that year. Any member which has not given due notice shall be obliged to pay 
its subscription for the next year. 

 
14. General principles  

 
14.1 These Terms of Reference will be reviewed at regular intervals to ensure they remain fit 

for purpose and flexible to meet the requirements of ongoing and future work. Any 
changes to the Joint Committee’s powers or functions will be a matter for each 
constituent authority to agree.  
 

14.2 In adopting these terms of reference, members of the Joint Committee agree to support 
the purposes of the Joint Committee by ensuring that in their decision making, they:  

 

 Collaborate and cooperate with each other  

 Are open and accountable to each other  

Page 27



 
 

 Adhere to all relevant statutory requirements  

 Deploy appropriate resources  

 Act in good faith  
 

14.3 These principles are not intended to be legally binding, and no legal obligations or rights 
shall arise from this. 

 
 
 
Appendix 1 – Oxfordshire Growth Board High Level Governance (June 2020) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Oxfordshire Growth Board 
Scrutiny 
Panel  

Growth Board Director 
Growth Board Programme Officers  

Executive Officer Group 

Chief Executive Group Advisory Sub Groups 

Affordable Housing 

Infrastructure  

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 

OxLEP 

Page 28



 1 

Appendix 2  
 

Oxfordshire Growth Board Memorandum of Understanding  
June 2020 

 
This memorandum of understanding is made by and between the Parties:  

 
i)      Oxfordshire County Council of County Hall, New Road, Oxfordshire OX1 1ND 

(“OCC”) 
 
ii) Oxfordshire Growth Board; a joint committee formed by Cherwell District Council, 

Oxford City Council, Oxfordshire County Council, South Oxfordshire District Council, 
Vale of White Horse District Council and West Oxfordshire District Council. 

 
The local authorities listed above comprising the county, city and district councils are 
together referred to as “the Parties” and each a “Party.” Individual constituent members 
of the Growth Board are as each a “Council.” 

 
1. Introduction and Background 
 
1.1 The Growth Board was established in 2014 and has the purpose of facilitating and 

enabling collaboration between Oxfordshire local authorities and other bodies operating 
in Oxfordshire in relation to economic, housing and infrastructure development. 

 
1.2 OCC is the designated accountable body for the Growth Board providing Section 151 

and Monitoring Officer related services to the Growth Board.  
 
1.3 The Growth Board and OCC may change these arrangements by mutual agreement, 

and the Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) shall be reviewed annually by the Growth 
Board and OCC to ensure it is accurate and complete. 
 

1.4 The purpose of this MoU is to set out the respective roles and responsibilities of OCC 
acting as accountable body for the Growth Board and that of the Growth Board itself and 
therefore the Parties hereby agree the Scheme of Roles and Responsibilities set out in 
Section 6 hereto. This MoU also sets out commitments made in respect of existing joint 
programmes of work overseen by the Growth Board, and incorporates material elements 
of the formerly established Memorandum of Information Disclosure, which will cease in 
effect from the date of the signing of this document.  

 
1.5 This MoU shall commence upon the date hereof and shall continue in effect until 

terminated by either Party.  
 
2. Termination and Variation  

2.1 Termination can be enacted by either Party upon giving six months’ notice in writing to 
the other. In terminating this MoU the Parties shall comply with the requirements, if any, 
of Central Government and any other funding agencies. 

 
2.2 If OCC cease to be the accountable body, it shall: 
 

i)       Continue to co-operate with the Growth Board and any successor accountable 
body and with all grantors to ensure a smooth transition; and 

 
ii) Provide to the Growth Board or the new accountable body (where requested to do 

so by the Growth Board) all such invoices, receipts and other relevant records 

Page 29



 2 

which are in its possession and which it holds in connection with its role of 
accountable body. For the avoidance of doubt, documents will be retained in 
accordance with OCC’s Corporate Retention Schedule Policy. 

 
2.3 This MoU shall terminate automatically upon the disbanding of the Growth Board. In 

such case, OCC and the Growth Board shall complete all of their obligations 
concerning: 
 
i) Monies granted to or by the Growth Board; 
 
ii) Other assets held by OCC on behalf of the Growth Board; and 
 
iii) Any accounts required to be submitted to Central Government or to any other 

relevant funding organisation.  
 

2.4 This MoU shall be varied in writing only by the mutual agreement of OCC and the 
Growth Board save that this shall not prevent the Growth Board from making 
amendments to its Governance and Working Arrangements. Where a variation of this 
MoU requires a change to be made to the Growth Board’s governance and working 
arrangements, that change shall not come into effect until the governance and working 
arrangements have been duly amended in accordance with its requirements. 
 

3. Responsibilities 

3.1 The Growth Board is responsible for defining its strategic vision and overseeing 
delivery of the Growth Board priorities in accordance with any relevant funding 
arrangements.  

 
3.2 The Growth Board will operate in accordance with:- 

i) Its Terms of Reference; 
ii) This MoU;  
iii) The guidelines provided by Central Government or any other body whose 

regulation controls the use of funds provided to the Growth Board; and 
iv) Statutory requirements. 

 
3.3 In addition, Growth Board members will  

i) where possible, work together to procure services to ensure best value is 
achieved; 

ii) give assurance and commit to do everything reasonably possible to ensure the 
objectives and targets of jointly funded programmes (such as the Housing and 
Growth Deal) are met. 

iii) once the Growth Board has determined funding allocations, take steps required to 

reflect those allocations within their budgets.  
iv) accept that in certain circumstance spend relating to individual workstreams may 

be greater than the funding allocations. In these circumstances the source of 
additional funding will be clearly identified.  

 
3.4 OCC will operate in accordance with:- 

i) Its Constitution; 
ii) This MoU;  
iii) Individual project collaboration agreements; 
iv) The guidelines provided by Central Government or any other body whose 

regulation controls the use of funds provided to the Growth Board; and 
v) Statutory requirements. 
 

Page 30



 3 

4       Financial Management Arrangements 

4.1  The Growth Board is currently allocated public funding under a Housing and Growth 
Deal. Use of this funding, and any other future funding deals, must be undertaken in 
accordance with statute and the principles of democratic and financial accountability. 

 
4.2  This requires there to be a public-sector body identified as the accountable body for 

audit and transparency purposes. Oxfordshire County Council is the accountable body 
for the Growth Board. 
 

4.3 As the accountable body, OCC is held accountable for the Growth Board’s funds in the 
same way that it is for its own funds.  All funding received and expenditure incurred on 
behalf of the Growth Board will be subject to the same scrutiny.  This means that OCC 
will administer any funds held on behalf of the Growth Board under its own accounting 
policies, financial procedure rules and contract procedure rules as set out in the 
Council’s constitution to ensure that funds are applied and accounted for appropriately. 
This will be carried out under the direction of the Section 151 Officer.  
 

4.4 OCC, as recipient of the Growth Board’s grant allocations from Central Government in 
relation to the Housing and Growth Deal is responsible for compliance with the grant 
conditions which may include the obligation to repay, in whole or in part, grants in the 
event of non-compliance with grant conditions. 

 
4.5 OCC will hold any funding it receives and all interest or income earned for and on 

behalf of the Growth Board and ensure that the money is not moved or converted to 
cash without specific instruction from the Growth Board. 
 

4.6 OCC will consolidate the Growth Board’s cash balances with its own cash balances 
and deposit the co-mingled funds in accordance with the OCC's Treasury Management 
Strategy. OCC will pay interest on the Growth Board daily cash balances based on the 
‘Average 7 Day Rate’.  
 

4.7 Any infrastructure constructed or acquired by OCC acting on the Growth Board’s 
behalf, will be accounted for as part of the Council’s asset register in line with OCC’s 
normal accounting procedures.  
 

5       Provision of Services by OCC 

5.1 OCC provide a range of services to the Growth Board. Those that are only incurred 
because of the requirement to have an accountable body are provided free of charge. 
These include Section 151 Officer time to provide advice and support to the Growth 
Board and relevant sub committees/groups with regard to the use of any public funds 
that are allocated to the Growth Board. This also includes Monitoring Officer time to 
provide advice in relation to legal matters.  
 

5.2 In addition, OCC also provide the following chargeable services to the Growth Board: 
i) Finance functions relating to the monitoring and reporting of total funding received 

and available to the Growth Board; the monitoring and reporting of programmes 
and schemes; the payment of funds to Growth Board delivery partners; the 
calculation of interest earned on funds received; the provision of financial 
information for internal and external audit requirements and the completion of 
relevant government financial returns  

ii) Internal Audit functions in regard to the governance arrangements between the 
Growth Board and the accountable body as well as use of public funds allocated to 
the Growth Board 

Page 31



 4 

iii) legal functions including preparation of funding agreements with regard to the use 
of any public funds that are allocated to the Growth Board and advice on state aid 
issues.  

 
5.3 Chargeable and non-chargeable arrangements will be reviewed annually and if/ when 

the scale of accountable body responsibilities, managed resources or project portfolio 
resource requirements increase significantly. Where specific, additional work is 
required then these may be charged where mutually agreed. 

 
6       Scheme of Roles and Responsibilities  

 
6.1 The Growth Board shall:  

 
i) make all decisions on the allocation of the Housing and Growth Deal (the Deal) 

grant funding agreed by Government as well as other funding for the purposes of 
the Housing and Growth Deal; 

ii) prioritise and allocate funding and be accountable for the delivery of   projects 
funded by funding streams for which OCC is to act as accountable body including 
the Housing and Growth Deal; 

iii) monitor all activities financed by the Growth Board and ensure that all decisions 
are fully documented and recorded in writing; 

iv) agree robust and transparent assessment criteria against which funding will be 
allocated; 

v) ensure that projects are approved only after an appraisal has been carried out 
and that the separation of duties between project appraisal and project approval; 

vi) through agreed project plans, ensure appropriate timescales and operating 
practices are in place to support effective implementation of decisions made  

vii) following approval, request OCC to effect the payment of funding to the relevant 
organisations; 

viii) fulfil the client role vis a vis OCC as the accountable body and, in particular, give 
OCC clear and comprehensive instructions in relation to the performance by 
OCC of its roles and responsibilities as set out in paragraph 6.2 below; 

ix) Co-operate with and assist OCC acting in its role as accountable body in 
undertaking the day to day responsibility for financial matters. 

 
6.2 OCC shall:  

 
i) provide support and assistance to the Growth Board to ensure both legal and 

financial probity in relation to the receipt and use of specific funding for which it 
acts as accountable body; 

ii) ensure decisions and activities of the Growth Board conform with legal 
requirements with regard to transparency, equalities, social value, environment, 
State Aid and procurement; 

iii) ensure that funds are used appropriately and advise the Growth Board on the 
procedures necessary to ensure formal compliance with any terms and 
conditions of funding or grant; 

iv) provide advice on proper and effective governance for overseeing the allocation 
and spend of the Growth Board funding; 

v) enter into funding agreements on behalf of the Growth Board for agreed funding 
streams; 

vi) enter into appropriate legal agreements or contracts with the relevant Growth 
Board member on behalf of the Growth Board once the project is approved by the 
Growth Board following a successful due diligence process; 

vii) ensure that the funding is passed on to the relevant Growth Board member 
without delay and in line with the conditions of the funding; where this is to be 
passed onto a third party it will be for the Growth Board member to action; 

viii) submit the claims to the funding body and prepare and submit relevant 

Page 32



 5 

documents for inspection by Central Government or external auditors as 
required; 

ix) where the funding stream is working on a claim basis, ensure that the claimed 
funding is passed on to the relevant Growth Board member delivery partner 
without delay and in line with the conditions of the funding or loan agreements; 

x) ensure that the Growth Board performance and financial systems are robust; 
xi) provide details of all monies expended in accordance with the terms and 

conditions of funding; 
xii) monitor approved projects during and after implementation in line with the agreed 

monitoring framework or as required by the funding body;  
xiii) inform and keep the Growth Board informed of any grant funding allocations 

received and the procedures and recommended criteria for distributing the 
funding based on the funding body’s requirements; 

xiv) assist the Growth Board in identifying other sources of funding or to apply for 
these where commissioned by the Growth Board;  

xv) ensure that the Growth Board adheres to its assurance framework in respect of 
maintaining the official record of Growth Board proceedings and holding copies of 
all relevant documents relating to funding; and 

xvi) report and take appropriate action where it has reason to believe that the Growth 
Board, or anybody acting as its agent, is failing to  

a) adhere to the terms and conditions of funding requirements or the funding or loan 
agreements; 

b) comply with its governance and working arrangements or any statutory 
requirement; 

c) provide a suitable standard of probity. 
 

7       Audit 
 

7.1 The Growth Board shall 
i) co-operate with and assist OCC in audit examinations relating to governance 

arrangements, use of public funds and all operating systems; 
ii) act upon all agreed management actions contained within the OCC’s internal 

audit report; 
iii) report to OCC any financial irregularity or suspected irregularity in the use of any 

funding. 
 

7.2 OCC shall 
i) maintain proper records, in accordance with its Constitution, of all monies 

received and disbursed for the Growth Board and make such records available 
for inspection by both internal and external regulators; 

ii) arrange regular audit examination of the Growth Board’s activities with regards to 
use of public resources and, following each audit, present a report to the Growth 
Board with recommendations to strengthen their governance and management 
practices;  

iii) allow funding bodies to have access to all files and records of projects for which it 
acts as accountable body; and 

iv) supply, as necessary, completed statements of income, expenditure and 
disbursements to the Growth Board, funding organisations, Central Government 
and external auditor. 

 
8       Recovery of funds  

 
8.1 The conditions where funds will be recovered will be laid out in the initial funding or 

grant agreement. Where recovery of funds is at risk, the general stage of fund recovery 
will be as follows: 

Page 33



 6 

i) Stage 1: OCC will send notice containing the reason for concern, outlining the 
potential fund recovery situation and giving time where appropriate for 
corrective action; 

ii) Stage 2: If corrective action is not taken or is deemed insufficient to avoid fund 
recovery a further notice will be sent by OCC asking for the return of funds with 
a deadline for the return of the funds. In cases of particular difficulty OCC may 
accommodate a fund return payment plan of instalments over an agreed period 
of time. However, this must be agreed in writing and cannot be assumed; 

iii) Stage 3: If funds are not returned within the set deadline then OCC may then 
instigate debt recovery procedures which may result in legal action being taken. 

 
8.2 OCC will only take the step to recover funds from those Growth Board members it has 

a direct agreement with. In the case of a third party such as a subcontractor it would be 
up to the Growth Board member OCC is seeking funds from to determine and take any 
action they require to recover their losses from any third parties. 
 

8.3 OCC does not wish to undertake stage 3 if at all avoidable but will do so in order to 
protect the public purse and ensure that public funding is being used appropriately. 
 

9       Data Protection 
 

9.1 The Parties hereto shall comply with their obligations under the EU General Data 
Protection Regulation EU 2016/679(GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018 and any 
subordinate legislation made under such Act together with any guidance and codes of 
practice issued by the Information Commissioner or relevant government department in 
relation to such legislation in the performance of their obligations under this agreement. 

 
10       Publicity and Disclosure in Relation to Meetings 
 

10.1 The Growth Board will operate in accordance with the publicity requirements 
applicable to a joint committee under Part VA of the Local Government Act 
1972. Papers relevant to meetings of the Growth Board will be placed into the 
public domain in the normal way by the Party with administrative control of that 
joint committee in compliance with s100A to 100K (and Schedule 12A) of the 
Local Government Act 1972.  In accordance with those provisions confidential 
information as defined in that Act will not be disclosed.  Exempt information as 
defined in that Act may or may not be disclosed.  It is acknowledged that under 
these provisions information is exempt if the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

 
11  Requests under Freedom of Information and Environmental Information 

 
11.1 The Growth Board and the Monitoring Officers of the relevant Councils have developed 

a Protocol for Handling Freedom of Information and Environmental Information 
requests. This is based on the principle that the Growth Board itself and each member 
authority is a ‘freedom of information authority’ in its own right.  The agreed Protocol 
(Annex 1 to the MoU) shall guide how the Board and the member authorities will 
handle requests relating to the work of the Growth Board. 

 
12 Confidentiality 

 
12.1 Each Party agrees not to unilaterally disclose any information identified by any Council 

as confidential information or exempt material (under the Local Government Act 1972) 
information unless required by law without giving notice of at least 14 calendar days to 
the Council or Councils who provided the confidential/exempt information. No 
confidential/exempt information will be disclosed without full consideration having been 

Page 34



 7 

given to any objection made to its disclosure, unless disclosure is otherwise required 
by law. 
 

12.2 Neither Party will use or disclose any confidential material provided by the other 
pursuant to this agreement otherwise than for the performance of their obligations 
under this agreement, save as may be otherwise agreed or required by law. 

 
12.3 For the avoidance of doubt, confidential information shall not include (a) any 

information obtained from a third party who is free to divulge such information; (b) any 
information which is already in the public domain otherwise than as a breach of this 
agreement; or (c) any information which was rightfully in the possession of a Party prior 
to the disclosure by the other Party and lawfully acquired from sources other than the 
other Party. 

 
13      Dispute resolution 

 
13.1 If either Party has any issues, concerns or complaints about any matter in this MoU, 

they shall notify the other Party and the Parties shall then seek to resolve the issue by 
a process of consultation. If the issue cannot be resolved within a reasonable period of 
time, the matter shall be escalated to the Growth Board’s Chair (or if the Chair is an 
OCC appointee, the Vice-chair) and OCC’s Section 151 Officer (or if the dispute is 
between the Growth Board and OCC, one of the district/city council’s Section 151 
Officer) who shall decide on the appropriate course of action to take. 
 

13.2 If either Party receives any formal inquiry, complaint, claim or threat of action from a 
third party they shall notify the other Party and co-operate with each other to respond, 
or take such action, as is appropriate and/or necessary 

 
14 The Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 
 
14.1  The Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 shall not apply to this MoU but this 

does not affect any rights which are available apart from this Act. 
 
15      Status  

 
15.1 This MoU is not intended to be legally binding, and no legal obligations or legal rights 

shall arise between the Parties from this MoU. The Parties enter into the MoU intending 
to honour all their obligations.  

 
16       Governing Law and Jurisdiction 

 
16.1 This MoU shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law. 
 
 
This Memorandum of Understanding is agreed and signed by: 
 
Signed for and on behalf  
of Oxfordshire County Council by 
 
 
………………………………………… 
 
 
 
Signed for and on behalf  
of Oxford City Council 
 

Page 35



 8 

…………………………………………. 
 
 

 
Signed for and on behalf  
of Cherwell District Council 
 
…………………………………………. 
 
 
Signed for and on behalf  
of South Oxfordshire District Council 
 
…………………………………………. 
 
 
 
Signed for and on behalf  
of Vale of White Horse District Council 
 
…………………………………………. 
 
 
Signed for and on behalf  
of West Oxfordshire District Council 
 
…………………………………………. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



 9 

Annex 1 
FOI/EIR PROTOCOL –  

INFORMATION REQUESTS RELATING TO  
THE OXFORDSHIRE GROWTH BOARD 

 
This process has been agreed by Oxfordshire’s Monitoring Officers and the Growth 
Board managers. It provides a means of handling Freedom of Information and 
Environmental Information requests regarding the work of the Growth Board.  Each 
member authority of the Growth Board and the Growth Board’s officers themselves 
may be recipients of information requests.   
 
This outline provides a legally compliant means of dealing with such requests while 
providing a degree of mutual consultation whilst also ensuring the identity of 
requesters is not disclosed to other members of the Growth Board. Each authority 
will be responsible for responding to requests submitted to it. Authorities 
should not simply redirect requesters ‘to the Growth Board’ but should answer 
the request on the basis of any information held by the receiving authority in relation to 
it. 
 
Freedom of Information Teams should adopt the following principles and process: 
 

1. Each of the county’s principal councils, and the Growth Board, are separate 

FOI authorities in their own right. Requesters may therefore submit requests 

from time to time to any or all of the bodies, about the Growth Board 

partnership’s work.  

 
2. Should there be such an FOI or EIR request in relation to the Growth Board’s 

work received by any of the authorities, then the receiving body’s FOI Team 

will notify each of the other bodies’ FOI Teams: for the purpose of consulting 

them about how the receiving authority intends to respond.   

 
3. The original receiving body will consider all representations (which shall also 

be made at the earliest opportunity) received in discharging its statutory 

obligations. The requester’s name will not be disclosed to the other 

authorities. 

 
4. In the event of a disclosure of information in response to a request under the 

Environmental Information Regulations or the Freedom of Information Act, the 

disclosing body shall notify all other Councils immediately and shall 

provide an explanation of its decision-making process on request. 

 
5. A similar process will then be followed if an Internal Review request is received; 

or an Information Commissioner referral. 

 
6. This process is on the basis that, while each authority is an FOI authority in its 

own right, consultation between authorities on a proposed response does 

not breach that principle.   

 

Page 37



 10 

7. If all authorities receive the same request, then each must respond to it at its 

own relevant level of management.  Achieving a ‘consistent’ response can 

not be the primary aim. While approaches can be discussed, it will be for each 

authority to ‘sign off’ its own responses. This will also be important if a request 

is referred to the Commissioner, who would be likely to ask how each authority 

addressed the response.   

 
8. It should be borne in mind that a requester can also ask for the ‘metadata’ to 

any request, which would bring into frame any information shared between 

authorities in the consideration of a response. 

 
NB The County Council will be acting as FOI advisers to the Growth Board.     

 

Page 38



 

 

 
Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Housing Advisory Sub-Group 

Terms of Reference 
 
1.  Purpose and Objectives 
 
1.1 The purpose of the Housing Advisory Sub Group is to act in an advisory and 

consultative capacity to the Growth Board on the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal, and provide strategic oversight in the development and delivery of the Housing 
from Infrastructure (HFI) and Affordable Housing (OAHP) programme streams. 

 
1.2 The Advisory Sub Group will work on the principle of consensus in advising the 

Growth Board, whilst at the same time each member will act as the individual lead 
and conduit, both to and from the authority they represent.  

 
1.3 The Advisory Sub Group will operate within the remit set by the Growth Board.  Their 

role is to: 
 

1.3.1 Broaden engagement and involvement of the constituent councils in key areas 
of the Growth Board’s work and ownership of each constituent council’s part in 
delivery of Growth Board programmes. 

 
1.3.2 Provide strategic oversight in the development and delivery of the Oxfordshire 

Housing and Growth Deal programmes and similar future programmes 
 

1.3.3 Provide a councillor forum in which to examine and discuss relevant issues in 
more detail. 

 
1.3.4 Inform development of the Growth Board’s work and of opportunities for new 

areas of work to progress the Growth Board objectives  
 

1.3.5 To develop areas for joint work across the Growth Board partnership to 
address key growth challenges and inform policy development 

 
1.4 As an advisory body, the Sub Group does not have decision making powers but will 

advise and make recommendations to the Growth Board on the areas outlined 
above. 

 
2. Membership and appointments 

 
2.1 The Advisory Sub Group will comprise of at least one executive member from each of 

the partner authorities which has relevant responsibilities, plus a chair appointed by 
the Growth Board. The partner authorities are as follows: 

 Cherwell District Council 

 Oxfordshire County Council 

 Oxford City Council 

 South Oxfordshire District Council 

 Vale of White Horse District Council 

 West Oxfordshire District Council 
 
2.2 The Chair of the Advisory Sub Group will be drawn from the voting membership of 

the Growth Board. 
 

Page 39

SAV_RobinsonS
Placed Image



 

 

2.3 Each partner authority shall appoint one executive substitute member for each 
Advisory Sub-Group, who can substitute for their member as required. The substitute 
member shall have the same rights as the member for whom the substitution is 
made. 

 

2.4 Co-opted non-voting members may be appointed for specific items or a period of up 
to a year by the Advisory Sub Groups with the agreement of the voting membership 
of the Growth Board. 

 

2.5 Where the Chair is unable to attend a meeting, but still wishes for it to progress, the 
Sub Group may elect a Chair for that meeting only.  

 
3. Role of the Chair 

 
3.1 The Chair must act in an independent and facilitative capacity to organise the Sub 

Group’s activities in support of the objectives of the Growth Board. At all times, the 
Chair must use their discretion to act in the interests of Oxfordshire and the Growth 
Board, and not of their own political group or local authority area.  
 

3.2 The Chair will manage meetings in accordance with the Sub Group’s terms of 
reference, and provide leadership and direction to the Sub Group in an open and 
transparent manner.  

 
3.3 The Chair will report directly into the Growth Board on the work of their Sub Group as 

agreed. In reporting to the Growth Board, the Chair will present the views of their Sub 
Group, and not necessarily their own views. 

 
3.4 The Advisory Sub Group is not a decision making body, and the Chair should aim to 

reach a consensus on matters under discussion. Where a consensus cannot be 
reached, the Chair shall present the split views of the sub group to the Growth Board.  

 

3.5 The Advisory Sub Group should be mindful of the work of the Growth Board Scrutiny 
Panel and any other Advisory Sub Groups to avoid any duplication of work.  The Sub 
Group should also be mindful of any work it may require of officers, and the impact 
this may have on existing priorities. 

 
4 Role of Members 

 

4.1 In addition to contributing to the overall role of the Advisory Sub Group, members will 
be a proactive conduit between the work of the Sub Group and their respective 
council.  This might include, for example, providing regular updates to their own 
council on the work of the Sub Group.  

 
5 Meeting Arrangements 

 
5.1 The Advisory Sub Group will meet in accordance with a schedule of meetings that 

satisfies the requirements of the relevant programmes of work. The notes of a 
meeting will be drafted and included in the agenda for the next available Growth 
Board meeting.  
 

5.2 Meetings may be rearranged, cancelled or additional meetings scheduled with the 
agreement of the Chair of the Advisory Sub Group.  

 

Page 40



 

 

5.3 The quorum for a meeting shall be three members. Non-attendance of partner 
authorities shall not affect the legitimacy of an Advisory Sub Group’s conclusions. 
However, where the effect of a particular consideration would give rise to contractual 
or financial implications for a partner authority that is not in attendance, or if their 
views cannot be obtained, then this fact will be reported to the Growth Board.  

 
6 Access to information 

 
6.1 It is expected that the Advisory Sub Group will have the right to see the same 

information as that of the Growth Board when advising on any given issue, in order 
that an informed view can be made.  

 
6.2 The Advisory Sub Group will meet in private and the meetings will not be subject to 

the provisions of s100 of the Local Government Act (LGA) 1972 as amended by The 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985. However, the conclusions of the 
Advisory Sub Group shall be conveyed in public to the Growth Board at each of its 
meetings, except in circumstances where the matter under consideration contains 
exempt or confidential information, as set out in the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended).  

 

6.3 The Advisory Sub Group’s agendas and associated written reports will be circulated 
to the members of the Advisory Sub Group, and the designated officer of the 
respective partner authorities, at least three clear working days before the meeting. 
Non adherence to this principal however will not invalidate a meeting.  

 
6.4 The work of the Advisory Sub Group will not be subject to scrutiny by the Joint 

Scrutiny Panel, although their notes will be available to Scrutiny to comment on as 
published reports to the Growth Board.  

 
7 Work Plan 

 
7.1 The Advisory Sub Group will establish a forward Work Plan of matters to consider, 

which will be reviewed at each meeting. The development and management of the 
Work Plan will be led by the Chair, having regard to the requirements of the Growth 
Board, the advice of the Housing and Growth Deal Programme Board, and the 
wishes of the Advisory Sub Group. 
 

7.2 The Work Plan will set out the matters to be considered, and the date at which they 
are to be considered. The Advisory Sub Group will have a specific role in: 

 
a) Considering quarterly progress updates, and monitoring spend against budgets, 

within the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal housing programmes. 
b) Considering any additional matters that the Growth Board requires of them 
c) Acting as a sounding board in the development of Programme Board proposals for 

the Growth Board 
d) Providing sound advice to the Growth Board concerning forthcoming decisions and 

acting in support of the objectives of the Growth Board. 
 
8 General principles 

 

8.1 Each partner authority agrees to support the purposes of the Sub Group by ensuring 
that in their own decision making, they collaborate and cooperate with one another in 

Page 41



 

 

an open and accountable manner in the interests of the whole of Oxfordshire, whilst 
acting in good faith. 

 
8.2 The joint management of the Advisory Sub Groups will be conducted in such a way 

that no authority’s capacity to deliver day to day services is disadvantaged more so 
than another through their commitment to the Advisory Sub Groups.  

 

8.3 The normal rules as to declarations of interest will be applied to local authority 
members in accordance with the respective Council’s Code of Conduct.  

 

8.4 The Growth Board may amend these Terms of Reference or discontinue the work of 
the Advisory Sub Group at any time.  

 

Page 42



 

 

 
Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Infrastructure Advisory Sub-Group 

Terms of Reference 
 
1.  Purpose and Objectives 
 
1.1 The purpose of the infrastructure Advisory Sub Group is to act in an advisory and 

consultative capacity to the Growth Board on the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal, and provide strategic oversight in the development and delivery of the 
infrastructure programme. 

 
1.2 The Advisory Sub Group will work on the principle of consensus in advising the 

Growth Board, whilst at the same time each member will act as the individual lead 
and conduit, both to and from the authority they represent.  

 
1.3 The Advisory Sub Group will operate within the remit set by the Growth Board.  Their 

role is to: 
 

1.3.1 Broaden engagement and involvement of the constituent councils in key areas 
of the Growth Board’s work and ownership of each constituent council’s part in 
delivery of Growth Board programmes. 

 
1.3.2 Provide strategic oversight in the development and delivery of the Oxfordshire 

Housing and Growth Deal programmes and similar future programmes 
 

1.3.3 Provide a councillor forum in which to examine and discuss relevant issues in 
more detail. 

 
1.3.4 Inform development of the Growth Board’s work and of opportunities for new 

areas of work to progress the Growth Board objectives  
 

1.3.5 To develop areas for joint work across the Growth Board partnership to 
address key growth challenges and inform policy development 

 
1.4 As an advisory body, the Sub Group does not have decision making powers but will 

advise and make recommendations to the Growth Board on the areas outlined 
above. 

 
2. Membership and appointments 
 
2.1 The Advisory Sub Group will comprise of at least one executive member from each of 

the partner authorities which has relevant responsibilities, plus a chair appointed by 
the Growth Board. The partner authorities are as follows: 

 

 Cherwell District Council 

 Oxfordshire County Council 

 Oxford City Council 

 South Oxfordshire District Council 

 Vale of White Horse District Council 

 West Oxfordshire District Council 
 

Page 43



 

 

2.2 The Chair of the Advisory Sub Group will be drawn from the voting membership of 
the Growth Board. 

 
2.3 Each partner authority shall appoint one executive substitute member for each 

Advisory Sub-Group, who can substitute for their member as required. The substitute 
member shall have the same rights as the member for whom the substitution is 
made. 

 

2.4 Co-opted non-voting members may be appointed for specific items or a period of up 
to a year by the Advisory Sub Groups with the agreement of the voting membership 
of the Growth Board. 

 

2.5 Where the Chair is unable to attend a meeting, but still wishes for it to progress, the 
Sub Group may elect a Chair for that meeting only.  

 
3. Role of the Chair 

 
3.1 The Chair must act in an independent and facilitative capacity to organise the Sub 

Group’s activities in support of the objectives of the Growth Board. At all times, the 
Chair must use their discretion to act in the interests of Oxfordshire and the Growth 
Board, and not of their own political group or local authority area.  
 

3.2 The Chair will manage meetings in accordance with the Sub Group’s terms of 
reference, and provide leadership and direction to the Sub Group in an open and 
transparent manner.  

 
3.3 The Chair will report directly into the Growth Board on the work of their Sub Group as 

agreed. In reporting to the Growth Board, the Chair will present the views of their Sub 
Group, and not necessarily their own views. 

 
3.4 The Advisory Sub Group is not a decision making body, and the Chair should aim to 

reach a consensus on matters under discussion. Where a consensus cannot be 
reached, the Chair shall present the split views of the Sub Group to the Growth 
Board.  

 

3.5 The Advisory Sub Group should be mindful of the work of the Growth Board Scrutiny 
Panel and any other Advisory Sub Groups to avoid any duplication of work.  The Sub 
Group should also be mindful of any work it may require of officers, and the impact 
this may have on existing priorities. 

 
4 Role of Members 

 

4.1 In addition to contributing to the overall role of the Advisory Sub Group, members will 
be a proactive conduit between the work of the Sub Group and their respective 
council.  This might include, for example, providing regular updates to their own 
council on the work of the Sub Group.  

 
5 Meeting Arrangements 

 
5.1 The Advisory Sub Group will meet in accordance with a schedule of meetings that 

satisfies the requirements of the relevant programmes of work. The notes of a 

Page 44



 

 

meeting will be drafted and included in the agenda for the next available Growth 
Board meeting.  

 
5.2 Meetings may be rearranged, cancelled or additional meetings scheduled with the 

agreement of the Chair of the Advisory Sub Group.  
 
5.3 The quorum for a meeting shall be three members. Non-attendance of partner 

authorities shall not affect the legitimacy of an Advisory Sub Group’s conclusions. 
However, where the effect of a particular consideration would give rise to contractual 
or financial implications for a partner authority that is not in attendance, or if their 
views cannot be obtained, then this fact will be reported to the Growth Board.  

 
6 Access to information 

 
6.1 It is expected that the Advisory Sub Group will have the right to see the same 

information as that of the Growth Board when advising on any given issue, in order 
that an informed view can be made.  

 
6.2 The Advisory Sub Group will meet in private and the meetings will not be subject to 

the provisions of s100 of the Local Government Act (LGA) 1972 as amended by The 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985. However, the conclusions of the 
Advisory Sub Group shall be conveyed in public to the Growth Board at each of its 
meetings, except in circumstances where the matter under consideration contains 
exempt or confidential information, as set out in the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended).  

 

6.3 The Advisory Sub Group’s agendas and associated written reports will be circulated 
to the members of the Advisory Sub Group, and the designated officer of the 
respective partner authorities, at least three clear working days before the meeting. 
Nonadherence to this principal however will not invalidate a meeting.  

 
6.4 The work of the Advisory Sub Group will not be subject to scrutiny by the Joint 

Scrutiny Panel, although their notes  will be available to Scrutiny to comment on as 
published reports to the Growth Board. 

 
7 Work Plan 

 
7.1 The Advisory Sub Group will establish a forward Work Plan of matters to consider, 

which will be reviewed at each meeting. The development and management of the 
Work Plan will be led by the Chair, having regard to the requirements of the Growth 
Board, the advice of the Housing and Growth Deal Programme Board, and the 
wishes of the Advisory Sub Group. 
 

7.2 The Work Plan will set out the matters to be considered, and the date at which they 
are to be considered. The Advisory Sub Group will have a specific role in: 

 
a) Considering quarterly progress updates, and monitoring spend against budgets, 

within the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal housing and infrastructure 
programmes respectively 

b) Considering any additional matters that the Growth Board requires of them 
c) Acting as a sounding board in the development of Programme Board proposals for 

the Growth Board 

Page 45



 

 

d) Acting as the member steering group for the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy 
(OxIS).  

e) Providing sound advice to the Growth Board concerning forthcoming decisions and 
acting in support of the objectives of the Growth Board. 

 
8 General principles 
 

8.1 Each partner authority agrees to support the purposes of the Sub Group by ensuring 
that in their own decision making, they collaborate and cooperate with one another in 
an open and accountable manner in the interests of the whole of Oxfordshire, whilst 
acting in good faith. 

 
8.2 The joint management of the Advisory Sub Groups will be conducted in such a way 

that no authority’s capacity to deliver day to day services is disadvantaged more so 
than another through their commitment to the Advisory Sub Groups.  

 

8.3 The normal rules as to declarations of interest will be applied to local authority 
members in accordance with the respective Council’s Code of Conduct.  

 

8.4 The Growth Board may amend these Terms of Reference or discontinue the work of 
the Advisory Sub Group at any time.  

 

Page 46



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 (Joint Statutory Spatial Plan) Advisory Sub Group 
Terms of Reference 

 
1.  Purpose and Objectives 

 
1.1 The purpose of the Oxfordshire Plan Advisory Sub Group is to act in an 

advisory and consultative capacity to the Growth Board on matters concerning 
the Oxfordshire Plan 2050.  
 

1.2 The Advisory Sub Group will provide strategic oversight of the delivery of the 
Plan, as well as any other matters of county wide work relating to the work of 
the Growth Board, as required by the Board.  

 
1.3 The work of the Advisory Sub Group will fall under Section 28 of the Planning 

and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) which provides the means for more than 
one Local Planning Authority to jointly produce a Local Development Document 
(the Oxfordshire Plan 2050). 
 

1.4 The Advisory Sub Group will work on the principle of consensus in advising 
Local Planning Authorities and the Growth Board, whilst at the same time each 
member will act as the individual lead and conduit for the authority they 
represent.  

 
1.5 The Advisory Sub Group will operate within the remit set by the Growth Board.  

Their role is to: 
 

1.5.1 Broaden engagement and involvement of the constituent councils in the 
Oxfordshire Plan work programme and ownership of each constituent 
council’s part in the delivery of the Plan’s work programme. 

 
1.5.2 Provide strategic oversight in the development and delivery of the 

Oxfordshire Plan programme and related areas of work. 
 

1.5.3 Provide a councillor forum in which to examine and discuss relevant 
issues in more detail. 

 
1.5.4 Inform development of the Growth Board’s work and of opportunities for 

new areas of work to progress the Growth Board objectives.  
 

1.5.5 To develop areas for joint work across the Growth Board partnership to 
address key planning challenges and inform policy development. 

 
1.6 As an advisory body, the Sub Group does not have decision making powers but 

will advise and make recommendations to the Growth Board on the areas 
outlined above. 

 
2. Membership and appointments 
 
2.1 The Advisory Sub Group will comprise of at least one executive member from 

each of the partner authorities which has relevant responsibilities, plus a chair 
appointed by the Growth Board. The partner authorities are as follows: 

 

Page 47



 Cherwell District Council 

 Oxford City Council 

 South Oxfordshire District Council 

 Vale of White Horse District Council 

 West Oxfordshire District Council 
 
2.2 Oxfordshire County Council is a central partner in the work of the Growth Board 

and has a specific role on the Advisory Sub Group. An elected councillor of 
Oxfordshire County Council will sit on the Advisory Sub Group as an observer.  
This reflects the importance of county functions in developing the Oxfordshire 
Plan but acknowledges that the County Council will not have a formal decision-
making role in developing the Oxfordshire Plan.  
 

2.3 The Chair of the Advisory Sub Group will be drawn from the voting membership 
of the Growth Board. 

 
2.4 Each partner authority shall appoint one executive substitute member for each 

Advisory Sub-Group, who can substitute for their member as required. The 
substitute member shall have the same rights as the member for whom the 
substitution is made. 

 
2.5 Representatives of the Statutory Agencies and other relevant bodies will be 

invited to participate in meetings as the agenda requires. 
 

2.6 Co-opted non-voting members may be appointed for specific items or a period 
of up to a year by the Advisory Sub Groups with the agreement of the voting 
membership of the Growth Board. 
 

2.7 Where the Chair is unable to attend a meeting, but still wishes for it to progress, 
the Sub Group may elect a Chair for that meeting only.  

 
3. Role of the Chair 

 
3.1 The Chair must act in an independent and facilitative capacity to organise the 

sub group’s activities in support of the objectives of the Growth Board. At all 
times, the Chair must use their discretion to act in the interests of Oxfordshire 
and the Growth Board, and not of their own political group or local authority 
area.  

3.2 The Chair will manage meetings in accordance with the Sub Group’s terms of 
reference, and provide leadership and direction to the Sub Group in an open 
and transparent manner.  

 
3.3 The Chair will report directly into the Growth Board on the work of their Sub 

Group as agreed. In reporting to the Growth Board, the Chair will present the 
views of their Sub Group, and not necessarily their own views. 

 
3.4 Advisory Sub Groups are not decision making body, and the Chair should aim 

to reach a consensus agreement on matters under discussion. Where a 
consensus cannot be reached, the Chair shall present the split views of the sub 
group to the Growth Board.  

 

Page 48



3.5 The Advisory Sub Group should be mindful of the work of the Growth Board 
Scrutiny Panel and any other Advisory Sub Groups to avoid any duplication of 
work.  The Sub Group should also be mindful of any work it may require of 
officers, and the impact this may have on existing priorities. 

 
4 Role of Members 

 

4.1 In addition to contributing to the overall role of the Advisory Sub Group, 
members will be a proactive conduit between the work of the Sub Group and 
their respective council.  This might include, for example, providing regular 
updates to their own council on the work of the Sub Group.  

 
5. Links with the Officer Project Board – Section 28 role 
 

5.1 The Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal commits to the establishment of a 
Oxfordshire Plan Project Board (formerly JSSP Project Board) to take forward 
the project under Section 28 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
(2004). The Officer Project Board will act as the Joint Oxfordshire Plan Project 
Board as agreed in the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal.  In carrying out 
this role, the Project Board will take into account the advice and guidance 
provided by the Advisory Sub Group. 

 
5.2 The Project Board is constituted of the relevant Heads of Service of the District 

Councils, including the Oxfordshire Plan Project Sponsor, the Growth Deal 
Work Stream Lead, and representatives of; Oxfordshire County Council, 
Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership, the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government, Homes England and other relevant bodies.  
 

6. Meeting Arrangements 
 
6.1 The Advisory Sub Group will meet in accordance with a schedule of meetings 

that satisfies the requirements of the Oxfordshire Plan work programme. The 
notes of meetings will be drafted and included in the agenda for the next 
available Growth Board meeting. 

 
6.2 Meetings may be rearranged, cancelled or additional meetings scheduled with 

the agreement of the Chair.  
 
6.3 The quorum for a meeting shall be three members. Non-attendance of partner 

authorities shall not affect the legitimacy of the Advisory Sub Group’s 
conclusions. However, where the effect of a particular consideration would give 
rise to contractual or financial implications for a partner authority that is not in 
attendance, then the Advisory Sub Group’s deliberations must consider the 
views of that authority before they are considered by the Growth Board.  

 
7. Access to information 

 
7.1 It is expected that the Advisory Sub Group will have the right to see the same 

information as that of the Growth Board when advising on any given issue, in 
order that an informed view can be made.  
 

Page 49



7.2 The Advisory Sub Group will meet in private. However, the conclusions of the 
Advisory Sub Group shall be conveyed in public to the Growth Board at each of 
its meetings, except in circumstances where the matter under consideration 
contains exempt or confidential information, as set out in the Local Government 
Act 1972 (as amended).  

 
7.3 The Advisory Sub Group agendas and associated reports will be circulated to 

the members of the Advisory Sub Group, and the designated officer of the 
respective partner authorities, at least three clear working days before the 
meeting. Nonadherence to this principal however will not invalidate a meeting.  
 

7.4 The work of the Advisory Sub Group will not be subject to scrutiny by the Joint 
Scrutiny Panel, although its reports to the Growth Board will be available to 
Scrutiny to comment on as published reports to the Growth Board. 

 
8. Work Plan 

 
8.1 The Advisory Sub Group will establish a forward Work Plan of matters to 

consider, which will be reviewed at each meeting. The development and 
management of the Work Plan will be led by the Chair, having regard to the 
requirements of the Growth Board, the advice of the Programme Lead, and the 
wishes of the Advisory Sub Group. 

 
8.2 The Work Plan will set out the matters to be considered, and the date at which 

they are to be considered. The Advisory Sub Group will have a specific 
responsibility to: 

 
a) Monitor the progress of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 project 
b) Provide input into the production of the Oxfordshire Plan including the 

documents produced for any statutory consultations undertaken.  
c) Act as a sounding board in the development of Programme Lead proposals 

for the Growth Board. 
d) Provide a link between the Oxfordshire Plan Project Team and the wider 

membership of the partner authorities.  
e) Consider any additional matters that the Growth Board requires of them. 
f) Providing sound advice to the Growth Board concerning forthcoming 

decisions, and acting in support of the objectives of the Growth Board. 
 
9. General principles 

 

8.1  Each partner authority agrees to support the purposes of the Advisory Sub 
Group by ensuring that in their decision making, they collaborate and cooperate 
with one another in an open and accountable manner in the interests of the 
whole of Oxfordshire, whilst acting in good faith and adhering to the relevant 
statutory requirements. 

8.2 The joint management of the Advisory Sub Group will be conducted in such a 
way that no authority’s capacity to deliver day to day services is disadvantaged 
more so than another through their commitment to the Advisory Sub Group. 

 
8.3 The normal rules as to declarations of interest will be applied to local authority 

members in accordance with the respective Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 

Page 50



8.4 The Growth Board may amend these Terms of Reference or discontinue the 
work of the Advisory Sub Group at any time.  

Page 51



Appendix 4 
 

 Oxfordshire Growth Board Executive Officer Group 
Terms of Reference 

2020 
 
The Purpose of the Group 
 

1. To provide officer support and advice for the Oxfordshire Growth 
Board (“the Joint Committee”) on the range of functions that it covers. 
 

2. To facilitate and enable cooperation and collaboration between local authorities 
and other relevant agencies on strategic planning, infrastructure and economic 
development, taking account of the Joint Committee’s specific priorities.  

 
3. To deliver and monitor the implementation of cross-boundary programmes of 

work as agreed by the Joint Committee, including agreeing the detailed contents 
of specific plans and programmes. 

 
4. To sign off written reports for the Joint Committee and make recommendations 

as required, including recommending an annual and forward programme of work. 
 
5. To provide oversight and scrutiny of the Joint Committee’s agreed programmes 

and budgets at quarterly intervals.  
 

6. To act as the lead operational group for supporting the Joint Committee’s role 
within the Oxford to Cambridge Arc.  

 

7. To bid for the allocation of resources to support the above purposes. 
 

Membership  
 

8. The membership of the Executive Officer Group will be made up of: 
 

 The Growth Board Director  

 One nominated senior officer from each Local Authority member of the 
Growth Board 

 The nominated lead officer for each of the Growth Board’s main programmes 
e.g. Heathy Place Shaping Lead 

 Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership representative 

 DEFRA representative 

 Oxfordshire environment bodies representative 

 Oxfordshire health bodies representative 

 Government Arc Team representative  

 Homes England representative  
 

9. Additional representatives from constituent bodies or other agencies can be 
invited to attend for specific items where relevant, and substitutes may be 
permitted.  

 

Page 52



10. The Chair will be the Growth Board Director reporting to the Local Authority 
Chief Executive’s Group.  

 
11. Meetings shall be held monthly in support of the Joint Committee’s quarterly 

meeting cycle to ensure timely clearance of reports. Meetings may also be called 
as and when required to ensure that critical timescales are met. 

 

12. Each meeting will have a formal agenda and minutes produced. 
 
Role of Members  
 

13. To act as lead liaison for their organisation in respect of the Joint Committee’s 
work, including for local authority members to ensure that their respective Chief 
Executive, Leader and Communication Lead is briefed on relevant developments 
and outcomes.  

 
14. To contribute to the agenda setting process for the Executive Officer Group and 

the Joint Committee. 
 

15. Where significant programmes of work are agreed, to act as their organisations 
representatives on any necessary oversight Programme Board.  
 
Programme Management 
 

16. The Executive Officer Group will lead in the operational management of any 
programmes as required by the Growth Board. This includes meeting as a 
specific Programme Board where the agreed governance of that programme 
requires it.  
 

17. Membership of the Executive Officer Group may be varied only in circumstances 
where it is required to sit as a sub-group for the purposes of specific programme 
management functions.  
 

18. The membership of the Housing and Growth Deal Programme Board will be 
limited to the Local Authority membership of the Executive Officer Group in 
addition to Oxfordshire County Council’s Director of Finance and representative 
from OxLEP. External attendees may be invited as required by the Programme 
Board.  

 
Protocol of Working 

 
19. The members of the Executive Officer Group agree to support the Oxfordshire 

Growth Board by ensuring that in their discussion and decision making, they: 


Collaborate and cooperate with each other 

Are open and accountable to each other 

Adhere to all relevant statutory requirements 

Deploy appropriate resources 

Act in good faith 

Respect each other’s views 
 

20. Meetings are not open to the public and are by invitation only except where 
substitutes have been arranged on behalf of members. 
 Page 53



21. Meetings will take place on a monthly basis, though this may be varied at the 
discretion of the Chair as required. Where feasible and effective to do so, these 
meetings will be held virtually otherwise in a central location easily accessible by 
public transport. 

  

Page 54



 

 

Appendix 5  
 

Oxfordshire Growth Board Public Participation Protocol 

May 2020 

Introduction 
 
1. Members of the public may ask questions of, or make addresses to, the Growth 

Board at its meetings, subject to the restrictions in this protocol. There shall be a 
specific item on each agenda for public speaking to take place.   

 
2. Questions and addresses must be directly relevant the Growth Board’s functions and 

must relate to a substantive agenda item for that meeting.  
 

3. This protocol will also apply to Growth Board Scrutiny Panel meetings until such a 
time that the Panel establishes separate arrangements.   

 

4. Up to 30 minutes of each meeting will be designated for public speaking.   
 
Questions and Addresses 
 
5. Any member of the public wishing to ask a question or make a statement may do so 

at a meeting of the Growth Board, and must give notice of the question or statement 
in writing or by email to the Chief Executive or the Secretariat of the host authority, at 
least three clear days before the meeting (i.e. not counting the day of the meeting or 
the day of receipt).   
 

6. Such questions and statements shall be for up to three minutes each, but this time 
may be varied at the Chair’s discretion depending on the number of speakers in 
attendance and having regard to the total time allocated to public speaking. 

 
7. The Chair will direct questions to the most relevant person on the Board to answer 

submitted questions, which may include supporting officers in attendance where the 
matter is of a technical nature.  

 
8. The speaker may read their question or statement, but the Chair will do so if the 

questioner wishes for that or is not present at the meeting.   
 

9. A supplementary question may be asked if, in the Chair’s judgement, this can be 
managed within the time allocated to public speaking.  

 
10. The answer given may take the form of an oral statement or may be given 

subsequently in writing to the questioner and published online. It is intended any 
written response will be given within ten clear working days of the meeting. Any oral 
response will be summarised as part of the minutes of that meeting. 

 
11. The Chief Executive of the host authority may, in consultation with the Chair of the 

Growth Board, refuse to accept a submitted question or address if they consider it to 
be offensive, defamatory, frivolous, vexatious, or is not directly relevant to the remit of 
the Growth Board.    

Page 55



 

 

 

12. There will not normally be any discussion on representations made except to the 
extent that they are considered when the relevant agenda item is considered later in 
the meeting.   
 

13. A written summary of public addresses and questions will be provided in the minutes 
of the meeting.  

 

Restrictions 
 
14. Submitted questions shall be dealt with in the order of receipt by the host authority, 

except where matters on the same subject can be grouped together. 
 
15. The Chair may vary the provisions of this scheme for a meeting, on taking advice, 

should they believe that to be appropriate.  

 

 

 

 

Page 56



www.OxfordshireGrowthBoard.org 

To: Oxfordshire Growth Board 

Title of Report: Covid-19 Recovery 

Date: 28 July 2020

Report of: Bev Hindle, Oxfordshire Growth Board Director

Nigel Tipple, Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership 
Chief Executive

Status: Public

Introduction

1. On 2 June 2020 the Growth Board received an update concerning the early 
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal. 
This report takes a wider look at the collective approach to local recovery across 
Oxfordshire and between partners, with a specific focus on economic recovery 
and the preparation of an Economic Recovery Plan for Oxfordshire. The 
development and implementation of that Plan, together with its integration with 
other key strategy documents, will be critical in providing a framework to lead us 
out of the current crisis. It is intended that this paper will bring all partners and 
the public up to date with some of the work that has been taking place at pace in 
response to the pandemic.

2. Governments across the world, both local and national, have taken 
unprecedented steps to support local populations and economies through strict 
restrictions on economic activity and the movement of people. Despite measures 
to limit its impact, the pandemic has caused the most significant economic shock 
in a generation amidst the most tragic circumstances. The International 
Monetary Fund forecasts that as a result of the pandemic, the global economy 

Executive Summary and Purpose:
This report provides the Board with an overview of the collective approach being 
taken within Oxfordshire to support the local economic and wider recovery in 
response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

Recommendation:
That the Growth Board support the approach to recovery as set out in this 
report. 

Appendices:
Appendix 1: Timeline of key events in the response to Covid-19
Appendix 2: Slides from OxLEP on Covid-19 Economic Responses & Recovery 
Planning

Page 57

Agenda Item 6



will contract by 3 per cent in 2020 –a much more severe contraction than during 
the 2008-09 financial crisis.

3. The challenge remains however to restart the economy and get back to 
normality, whilst avoiding a new wave of cases. With scores of pioneering 
academic institutions, many hundreds of innovative life sciences companies and 
unique research facilities, it cannot be underestimated just how well placed, 
vibrant and eminent Oxfordshire’s contribution to the global response is and will 
be. Oxfordshire’s response to COVID-19 was immediate – a mass-mobilisation 
which is witnessing ground-breaking research around vaccines, diagnostics and 
treatments, all within a unique ecosystem, in addition to the rapid acceleration of 
the Vaccines Manufacturing and Innovation Centre, the only one of its kind in 
Europe. This has all been pushed forward by some of the world’s leading experts 
who live and work in this county.

Interim Measures to Support Businesses in Oxfordshire

4. Since the outbreak of COVID-19, Oxfordshire has worked at pace to introduce 
measures to mitigate the economic impact of the pandemic; these have sought 
to complement policy interventions developed at national level such as the Job 
Retention Scheme, Bounce Back Loans, Future Fund and Coronavirus Business 
Interruptions Loans Fund (CBILS). OxLEP has led in the deployment of a 
comprehensive programme to support local businesses focused on signposting 
to national measures, pivoting “business as usual” activities and additional 
tailored support such as access to finance, cash flow management and business 
resilience planning.

5. Key Oxfordshire interventions include:

 1:1 diagnostic and business support for SMEs affected by COVID to build 
resilience and action plan

 business resilience grant programme to support SMEs, protect jobs and 
invest to stabilise their business 

 further targeting of existing EU programmes and funding to increase take up 
by SMEs of innovation and business grants and workforce planning advice

 business start-up programme for individuals looking to move out of 
employment and develop their own enterprise

 redeployment and job matching service for workers at risk of redundancy 
 virtual jobs and careers fairs 
 business and rural rate relief for eligible small businesses via Oxfordshire 

local councils
 small business and High Street / Town Centre regeneration grant 

programmes led by Oxfordshire local councils 
 dedicated business response and support desk for the tourism and 

hospitality sector provided by Experience Oxfordshire on behalf of OxLEP.

6. Despite these measures, COVID-19 is having a significant impact on the 
Oxfordshire economy:

 unemployment has risen to over 4%, from a historical low of virtual full 
employment, and is amongst the fastest rising in the South East

Page 58



 significant numbers of businesses in the visitor economy, which supports over 
40,000 jobs in the county, are facing closure in the face of significant losses 
in sales and bookings 

 the job retention scheme is delaying significant redundancies expected in the 
autumn, once furloughing ends, with particular concerns for young people 
about to enter the labour market or in the early staged of their career and 
adults in low wage, customer facing jobs

 a contraction in capital and investor readiness for technology start-up and pre-
revenue businesses embarking on the next stage of raising equity investment 

 The impact has varied significantly across different sectors, with pubs, 
eateries, arts venues and the wider visitor economy being hit significantly. 

7. Through the residual Growing Places Fund budget, a package worth c£1million 
of additional emergency support has been provided alongside the grants already 
in place under an existing programme. Additional work has also been 
undertaken with the Creative Industries Federation and Arts Council England to 
detail the challenges faced by the creative and cultural sector and inform 
interventions developed by HM Government. 

8. The Oxfordshire Redeployment Service has been developed alongside Adviza 
who hold the local National Careers Service contract. The online ‘job matching’ 
portal will be augmented by a series of ‘online’ jobs fairs bringing employers, 
vacancies and job seekers together. The first of these is planned for June and is 
likely to feature seasonal agricultural opportunities, growing demand from the 
grocery and logistics sectors as well long-standing vacancies in the health and 
social care sector.

9. Monthly labour market intelligence is being developed to help shape 
understanding of how our economy is impacted by the pandemic. Access to 
timely data remains a challenge with most labour market data having a 4-12-
week lag. Discussions are ongoing with HM Government to explore data sharing 
where practical allowing access to wider, and potentially more timely data sets to 
support the assessment of the real time impacts on the local economy and 
communities. 

10. A specific sector and market analysis was undertaken with Advanced Oxford, 
Oxford University Innovation and Oxford Sciences Innovation on the innovation 
ecosystem and investment risks for R&D, spinouts and technology firms in 
Oxfordshire. The outputs from this have been cited as being integral in shaping 
national policy which has resulted in the imminent launch of the Future Fund 
programme through the British Business Bank and innovate UK.  

11. The Coronavirus Business Interruption Loan Scheme provides up to £5 million 
for smaller businesses (those with a turnover of £45 million or less) who are 
experiencing lost or deferred revenues. The Scheme is available through the 
British Business Bank’s accredited lenders. Similarly, the Larger Business 
Interruption Loan Scheme provides finance to mid-sized and larger UK 
businesses with a turnover above £45 million. The Bounce Back Loan Scheme is 
designed to address concerns about accessing rapid loan support, providing 
loans between £2,000 and £50,000. 

Page 59



12. On the 20 of March, the Chancellor announced that the next quarter of VAT 
payments would be deferred – it will apply from the date of the announcement 
until the end of June. All businesses who currently qualify for Small Business 
Rate Relief or Rural Rate Relief are entitled to a £10,000 grant. Further, the 
smallest businesses in the retail, leisure and hospitality sectors are entitled to a 
grant of £25,000. 

Proposed Economic Recovery Plan Approach

13. As lockdown restrictions begin to ease, each and every sector will be developing 
plans for how they will respond and rebound from this crisis. The Economic 
Recovery Plan (ERP) for Oxfordshire is one such plan that pervades several of 
the Growth Board’s workstreams and membership organisations.

14. The Oxfordshire ERP is being led by OxLEP and will be overseen by its Board, 
which broadly shares its membership with the Growth Board. To ensure that a 
collaborative approach is taken in the Plan’s development, a dedicated ERP 
Task and Finish Group has been set up with senior representation drawn from 
Local Authorities and Universities, which has met three times already and will 
continue to do so over the summer. This will be a standalone overarching 
economic plan for Oxfordshire, recognising that the response on the ground 
(locality/District/City) will need to be tailored to support specific circumstances. 

15. While the precise detail of the ERP needs to be developed, it is expected to set 
out a programme of measures to support the Oxfordshire economy, based on a 
sound and robust analysis of the economic landscape and an assessment of the 
impact of COVID-19 on the County’s labour market, business base and key 
economic sectors and clusters. The Recovery Plan will focus on actions which 
will support the near-term recovery and renewal of the Oxfordshire economy 
over the next three years. It will need to complement the longer-term proposals 
developed under the Oxfordshire Local Industrial Strategy Investment and 
Delivery Plan which has been prepared by Oxfordshire partners. 

Integrated Planning with Local Authorities and Partners

16. The development of the Oxfordshire wide ERP will need to align to the Local 
Authority Emergency Planning structures the Government has set out and 
respecting the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) reporting requirements, which in 
Oxfordshire’s case is the Thames Valley LRF. Since the outset of the pandemic 
local authorities have established Gold, Silver and Bronze command levels 
within Oxfordshire to jointly manage the collective resources for emergency 
planning to best effect. This has been supported by input from business 
intelligence and support from wider partners. 

17. The overall focus on ‘Place’ is essential, recognising the interdependencies 
between the economy, environment, health, transport and local community 
service planning as the county gradually moves out of the lockdown phase. The 
intention here it to frame a single Recovery Plan response for Oxfordshire, which 
addresses a broad range of challenges facing the county. Partners are also 
continuing to engage across the Oxford to Cambridge Arc to identify 
opportunities for collaboration recognising Government’s continued focus on the 
Arc as a vital region for the UK economy. 

Page 60



18. On 29 May all Local Authority Chief Executives wrote to the Local Government 
Association to relay their Leaders and Section 151 Officers concerns about the 
financial impact of Covid-19. The grant currently allocated to all councils across 
Oxfordshire totals £34m, which falls short of the expected costs, including the 
inability to deliver on planned savings and lost income, currently estimated to be 
£88m for 2020/21. The Councils are also experiencing severely declined income 
from service areas with income streams such as car parking and it is also 
anticipated that as financial hardship increases within the districts, this may be 
reflected in council tax and business rates payments. Whilst the funding received 
from HM Government is welcome, there does remain a significant gap between 
these and the emerging picture on the true incurred costs of Covid-19.

19. The Coronavirus Act 2020 introduced temporary emergency measures to help 
deal with a range of issues associated with the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic. 
These principally enable Local Authorities to ease the burden on frontline public 
services, tackle the spread of the virus, and support local businesses and 
residents. Despite the challenges faced, local authorities have continued to 
stream their public meetings live online, as permitted under the Act, and delivery 
key services. The Act also made provision to postpone local elections until May 
2021. 

20. Local Authorities have spearheaded a comprehensive support programme 
delivered through each of the Councils, designed to provide support specifically 
to those on the Government’s Shielded List; those people identified by the NHS 
as being extremely vulnerable during the pandemic. Together with the huge 
energy of a robust community and voluntary sector, housing associations, and 
numerous council staff, a direct contact programme was rapidly established to 
contact every person on that list and to plan for additional support where 
needed. In some districts, up to 3% of the population were on the Shielded list. 
Support requests typically related to shopping needs during the most intense 
period of restrictions. Dedicated phone lines and webpages have been set up to 
help residents find the support they need. All this has been achieved through 
virtual means, as most council staff continue to work from home. 

21. Council officers and community groups have responded positively to the 
challenges of this crisis to make sure those in need receive support. Active 
community groups have been outstanding, pulling together with council staff to 
be solution focussed and support each other in responding to each and every 
request for support. Councils are assessing the longer-term implications of any 
ongoing support that is required in response to the pandemic, either to local 
community groups, or directly to residents. Each will have their own process for 
reporting on this work. 

Recovery in the construction sector and the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal

22. The construction sector is recognised as a key component of the national 
economy. Employing over 3 million people in 405,000 firms, it contributes 8.6% 
of GDP and a GVA in the last financial year of £149 billion. The impact of COVID 
on the sector has been profound with a 40% drop in productivity in the first two 
months of the pandemic.

Page 61



23. The Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal (the Deal) has already been 
referenced in this report as a tool for economic recovery. The productivity 
workstream of the Deal is enshrined in the Local Industrial Strategy, whilst the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 will pay a role in shaping the environmental and 
economic landscape of Oxfordshire that will drive recovery longer term.

24. Within the construction sector 40 % of total outputs are either housing or 
infrastructure and so rebooting these elements is crucial to the recovery of the 
sector. The housing and infrastructure investment streams of the Deal therefore 
have an important role to play as levers to drive economic recovery.

25. A pipeline of infrastructure investment in Oxfordshire will provide construction 
with certainty of investment and business opportunities they can bid for, whilst 
the completion of the infrastructure will provide assurance for house builders that 
planned developments are being enabled.

26. The affordable housing programme meanwhile can play an important counter 
cyclical role in boosting the housing market by absorbing excess housing supply 
and preserving developers’ financial positions whilst at the same time providing 
much needed additional affordable housing for those finding themselves in 
challenging circumstances. Officers are engaging with HM Government in 
ongoing dialogue to explore how the Deal can be shaped and reoriented better 
as a tool for recovery in responding to the pandemic. 

Wider considerations

27. One of the challenges for recovery planning however concerns the different 
geographic footprints and layers of governance that provide services within 
Oxfordshire and the wider region. Whilst proposals are being developed by 
OxLEP for an Oxfordshire ERP, there are other coalitions and bodies which have 
been tasked with responding in other related ways; all of which will need to 
operate in tandem with each another to ensure a holistic approach is taken. 

28. The Thames Valley Local Resilience Forum has established a Strategic 
Coordinating Group which includes local authorities, healthcare providers and 
emergency services. It is tasked with developing a combined response to the 
current rapidly evolving situation across Berkshire, Buckinghamshire, Milton 
Keynes and Oxfordshire. The Public Health response is also coordinated over a 
different footprint; the Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Clinical 
Commissioning Groups. Furthermore, collaborations are taking place across the 
Oxford to Cambridge Arc to identify areas of common interest and opportunities 
for scaling up response efforts between neighbouring service providers. It is 
critical that these various streams of work are brought together where 
appropriate to avoid any duplication of work, and to maximise the utility of 
collaboration. For Oxfordshire, having a Growth Board enables these 
conversations to be brought together in one place.

29. As national policy is still evolving, with the Devolution White Paper expected in 
September, there may be a need to move forward at pace depending on the 
timetable introduced by HM Government for areas to have recovery plans in 
place – in particular, to inform the forthcoming Comprehensive Spending 

Page 62



Review. The Oxfordshire ERP will need to respond and remain flexible to any 
new policy agendas being formulated over this period by Government and 
informed of the ‘Future Economy’ business roundtables and working groups 
being convened by the Department for Business, Energy and industrial Strategy.

30. The pandemic has prompted a greater global recognition that tackling climate 
change and supporting the environment are critically important to our 
communities. On 28 May 2020, the Prime Minister said the Government would 
push for a green and climate resilient recovery, and this reflects the ambitions of 
the Growth Board set out in its draft revised terms of reference elsewhere on this 
meeting’s agenda. This can be seen as an opportune moment to stimulate low 
carbon and environmental projects,1as the economic, social and environmental 
agendas have become so closely aligned.2

31. With frequency across various reports, infrastructure, connectivity and housing 
are highlighted as critical elements that require an environmental lens in 
planning for an economic recovery – with the construction sector seen as a 
“litmus test for a net zero recovery.”3 The wider commitments being made among 
Growth Board partners in this regard will need to be interweaved with key 
strategy documents such as the forthcoming Economic Recovery Plan, the 
Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy and the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. 

Financial Implications

32. There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

Legal Implications 

33. There are no legal implications arising from this report. The introduction of the 
Coronavirus Act 2020 provides temporary regulations for operating some council 
functions in a different way to support the overall response to the Pandemic. 

Conclusion 

34. The route to recovery from this virus will require a substantial collective effort 
between key system leaders across Oxfordshire, together with innovation and a 
readiness to adapt ‘business as usual’ activities. Oxfordshire’s history of 
innovation and the depth and talent of its population will stand it in good stead to 
rebound in the longer term. 

35. Given the significant impact that COVID-19 has had on the people who live and 
work in Oxfordshire, the Growth Board is asked to note the work underway in the 
development of an Economic Recovery Plan and support the approach as set 
out in this report. This is still an early stage in the recovery process, and it is 
critical that the ERP and its development remains fluid and flexible to the 

1 The Aldersgate Group. Seize the moment: building a thriving, inclusive and resilient economy in the aftermath 
of COVID-19 . Available at: https://www.aldersgategroup.org.uk/asset/1666
2 Current-News 2020. Green COVID-19 recovery a 'historic opportunity' as organisations turn up the heat. 
Available at:  https://www.current-news.co.uk/news/green-covid-19-recovery-a-historic-opportunity-as-
organisations-turn-up-the-heat
3 Energy Efficiency Infrastructure Group, Energy efficiency’s offer for a net zero compatible stimulus and 
recovery, June 2020, p.1 

Page 63

https://www.aldersgategroup.org.uk/asset/1666
https://www.current-news.co.uk/news/green-covid-19-recovery-a-historic-opportunity-as-organisations-turn-up-the-heat
https://www.current-news.co.uk/news/green-covid-19-recovery-a-historic-opportunity-as-organisations-turn-up-the-heat


changing policy landscape in which we are working, and to the requirements of 
the local economy.

  
Background Papers

36. None

Appendix 1: Timeline of Key Events in the response to Covid-19 

Dec 2019:   First COVID-19 case found in China
29 Jan: First COVID-19 case found in the UK
16 March: All non-essential travel to cease and work from home if possible
17 March: £330bn will be made available in loan guarantees for businesses 
19 March: Pound Sterling falls below $1.18, its lowest since 1985
20 March: Furlough scheme begins costing an estimated £14bn each month4 

Cafes, pubs, nightclubs, theatres and schools etc to close 
23 March: UK asked to stay at home for all but very limited purposes. 
3 April: Road traffic in the UK falls by 73%5

15 April: all non-essential NHS operations postponed 
22 April: UK Inflation fell 1.5% in March 
23 April: First human trials of a vaccine in Europe begin in Oxford. 
30 April: The PM announces that the UK is “past the peak” of infections. 
29 May: The Furlough Job Retention Scheme is extended until October 
5 June: The number of recorded deaths in the UK passes 40,000
12 June: The UK economy shrinks 20.4% in April, the largest fall on record6

16 June: ONS says 600,000 people lost their job between March and May7

18 June: Bank of England plans to inject an extra £100bn into the economy 
19 June: The UK Treasury announces that debt stands at £1.95trn 
29 June: The UKs first local lockdown occurs in Leicester 
4 July: Pubs, restaurants, hairdressers and hotels re-open under guidance

4 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-52634759 
5 https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2020/apr/03/uk-road-travel-falls-to-1955-levels-as-covid-19-
lockdown-takes-hold-coronavirus-traffic
6 https://www.bbc.com/news/business-53019360
7 https://www.bbc.com/news/business-53060529 

Report Author: Bev Hindle, Oxfordshire Growth Board Director

Contact information: Nigel Tipple, Oxfordshire Local Enterprise 
Partnership Chief Executive

Page 64

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-52634759
https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2020/apr/03/uk-road-travel-falls-to-1955-levels-as-covid-19-lockdown-takes-hold-coronavirus-traffic
https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2020/apr/03/uk-road-travel-falls-to-1955-levels-as-covid-19-lockdown-takes-hold-coronavirus-traffic
https://www.bbc.com/news/business-53019360


Oxfordshire Growth Board

COVID-19 Economic Response & 
Recovery Planning 
Tuesday 28th July

oxfordshirelep.com

P
age 65



Responding to the crisis 

oxfordshirelep.com

P
age 66



OxLEP COVID-19 Response - Business Support  

oxfordshirelep.com

Enhanced Support 

Package

• 1:1 business diagnostic 

& action planning

• SME micro-grants 

(revenue & capital) via 

repurposed GPF budget

• Business resilience and 

peer to peer support

• Increased business 

referrals into eScalate

and ISfB programmes 

• Pop Up Business School 

• Visitor economy COVID 

support desk within EO

P
age 67



Oxfordshire Growth Hub offer c£10million

oxfordshirelep.com

Offer/programme Offer Timescales Who

Innovation Support for 
Business (ISfB)

Grants/workshops/one to 
one support

Dec 2022 Innovative entrepreneurs and 
SMEs 

eScalate Grants/workshops/one to 
one support

Dec 2022 Scale-ups (growth) and social 
enterprises (businesses with 
impact on communities and 
charities)

Covid-19 Critical Support One to one support July 2020 Businesses who are facing 
unprecedented challenges brought 
about by the Coronavirus.

Pop Up Business School Digital Business Support 
programme – over 7 days

Starting 15 
June

Pre start – anyone looking to set up 
a business (c300 per session)

OxLEP discretionary 
grants

Capital and Revenue grants 
up to £10k 

Launching 22 
May 2020

Oxfordshire businesses only

Enhanced Growth Hub 1:1 support, peer to peer 
networks , one to few, 
diagnostic tool, enhanced 
triage encompassed within 
economic recovery plan for 
each business

To March 
2021

SME’s

P
age 68



OxLEP COVID-19 Response - Skills Support: 

oxfordshirelep.com

Enhanced Support 

Package

• Increased SME workforce 

support via our Skills for 

Business programme

• Regional Redeployment 

service and Virtual Job 

Fairs through collaboration 

with the National Career 

Service (NCS)

• Fortnightly Oxfordshire 

LMI reports

• Established Independent 

Provider Forum with 

Covid-19 related 

questionnaire

• Sharing best practice with 

Skills LEP Network and 

DfE SAP Group

P
age 69



OxLEP COVID-19 Response – Invest and Internationalisation: 

oxfordshirelep.com

Promoting Investment Opportunities

• Creating a Life Sciences and 

Healthcare brochure that’s being 

promoted globally through DIT networks

• Publishing a slide deck on how the life 

science and healthcare sector has 

responded to Covid-19 – A life sciences 

eco-system like no other – with regional, 

national and international response & 

recognition

• Developing a Fusion proposition and 

bidding for DIT’s High Potential 

Opportunity programme

• Working with other LEPs on a multi area 

proposition on our world leading CAV 

capabilities

Supporting health services and PPE

• Supporting the regional and national 

effort to source PPE by utilising our 

business and international contacts

P
age 70



OxLEP COVID-19 Response - Business Intelligence Activity: 

oxfordshirelep.com

Understanding Economic 

Impact 

• Weekly Growth Hub business 

report to BEIS collating Oxon 

partner intelligence sharing 

• Intelligence gathering via direct 

Growth Hub enquiries

• Dialogue with BROs on 

member based data

• Deep dive market studies with 

partners including Innovation 

Ecosystem, Creative Industries 

to inform policy development

• Joint reports and surveys inc

Experience Oxfordshire and 

Advanced Oxford 

P
age 71



Initial Economic 
Intelligence  

oxfordshirelep.com

P
age 72



Labour Market Information

oxfordshirelep.com

https://create.piktochart.com/output/46220533-covid-19-response-data-report-v3

P
age 73

https://create.piktochart.com/output/46220533-covid-19-response-data-report-v3


oxfordshirelep.com10

Impact on Unemployment

P
age 74



Business Impact Modelling

oxfordshirelep.com

P
age 75



oxfordshirelep.com

Include Link for latest edition

Business Impact Modelling

P
age 76



Recovery Planning

oxfordshirelep.com

P
age 77



COVID-19 Recovery Planning – Our Approach 

oxfordshirelep.com14

RESPOND (Re-Start)

Immediate and near term 
measures to stabilise the 
economy, support business 
resilience and manage the 
labour market to limit 
economic damage 

0-6 months – where we are 
now

RENEW (Re-Cover)
Introduce measures to support 
business and supply chains to 
rebuild market share and 
transition into new 
opportunities. Provide skills 
development for labour 
market. Promote investor 
opportunities in land, 
innovation and infrastructure

6-18 months – managing 
impact of economic downturn 

REBOUND (Re-New)
Accelerating growth as 
recovery builds, focusing on 
embracing new consumer 
trends, zero carbon, innovation 
and new business models 
created by ‘new normal’. 
Supporting the skills system to 
empower the workforce to 
secure the new employment 
opportunities created 

18 24months+ - leadership of 
the UK economy in key sectors 
and technologies

P
age 78



Building on the Local Industrial Strategy: Guiding Principles 

1. Invest in Oxfordshire, Deliver for the UK

As one of three deliver economic growth and 

manufacturing and supply chain opportunities for the rest 

of the net contributors to the exchequer, Oxfordshire will 

UK. 

2. Oxfordshire – The UK’s Innovation Engine

Oxfordshire has a world-class innovation ecosystem with a 

concentration of global assets and strengths. This, along 

with our strengths in research and talented workforce, 

make Oxfordshire a great place to invest.

3. Global Oxfordshire, Global Britain 

Many of Oxfordshire’s industries already compete on a 

global level, and in new emerging markets. Investing in 

Oxfordshire will support us in our international potential 

and winning new market share in technologies of the 

future.

P
age 79



LIS Investment Plan – Emerging Portfolio
• Over 20 projects with strategic business cases being 

finalised by project sponsors 

• All projects undergoing COVID-19 sense check to 
respond to economic landscape, deliverability and 
market opportunities 

• Key projects include:

• Bioescalator2 & Bio Manufacturing Hub

• International Space Cluster

• Energy Systems Accelerator 

• EnergyTEC Demonstrator

• Oxfordshire Social Contract

• Internationalisation Plan 

• Global Innovation District / West End

• Howbery Climate Park

oxfordshirelep.com16

P
age 80



Proposed Economic Recovery Plan 
• Incorporates full LIS Portfolio providing early 

package of investible opportunities 

• Refreshed economic baseline including structural 
and labour market analysis 

• People level interventions supporting the workforce 
secure new employment 

• Business support measures to facilitate market 
transition into new opportunities, and sector specific 
interventions

• Place promotion plan building on the LIS Investment 
Prospectus 

• Joint working with Arc partners to scale up key areas 
of investment activity 

oxfordshirelep.com17

P
age 81



Recovery Planning – Indicative Working 
Approach 

oxfordshirelep.com18

ERP Group Work Plan

Establish an Oxfordshire 
Stakeholder working group 
(including BEIS) May 2020 

Outline Work Programme  –
ToR, Task Allocation, 
Intelligence gathering 
approach June Board 2020

Alignment with Local Recovery 
Planning output at Stakeholder 
Level forming an Oxfordshire 
Response – Target date first 
draft September 2020

Refine Economic Recovery 
Plan intervention with updated 
evidence base December 
2020

Alignment HMG fiscal events

Board Reporting 

Respond (Re-Start) Phase -
Regular updates June, Sept , 
December 2020

Re-New (Re-cover) Phase -
Draft ERP September Board –
recognising possible fiscal 
events

Rebound (Re-New)  Phase -
December Finalise the ERP 
including a new “Road-Map” 
setting out the journey to our 
Economic Vision set out in the 
LIS but reflecting the changed 
baseline, interventions  and 
trajectory.

Partnership Working 

Informing and Collaborating 
with Partners across the OX-
Cam Arc on shared ERP 
Priorities - Alignment with 
Evidence gathering and 
modelling, programme 
development.

Securing the active 
engagement of the 
Oxfordshire Growth Board & 
associated Review - Critical to 
Place Recovery and “Shared 
Prosperity”

National, Regional and Local 
engagement with TVLRF, HMG, 
BRO’s, Sector Bodies etc.

P
age 82



www.OxfordshireGrowthBoard.org 

To:                          Oxfordshire Growth Board

Title of Report: Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Progress Report –                
Year Two

Date: 28 July 2020

Report of: Bev Hindle, Growth Board Director 

Status: Open 

HOMES FROM INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAMME

1. The Growth Board will recall that the Homes from Infrastructure Programme 
(HfI) is a £150m investment in infrastructure to support the acceleration of 
already planned housing in Oxfordshire over a five-year period from 2018/19 
to 2022/23. The infrastructure projects include road, rail, cycle routes and 
footpaths, as well as social infrastructure such as schools.

Executive Summary and Purpose:

The purpose of this report is to update the Growth Board on progress at Quarter 4, 
Year 2 (2019/20) with the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal (the Deal).

The report provides a summary of the following strands of the Deal.
 Infrastructure programme
 Affordable Housing programme
 Oxfordshire Plan 2050.

The fourth strand of the Deal, Productivity is reported through the OXLEP Board 
under separate arrangements.

A summary of the current governance position is also contained in the report.

A separate assurance statement detailing the financial position of the Growth Deal 
will be reported separately by Oxfordshire County Council, as the Accountable 
Body.

Recommendation; That the Growth Board notes the progress at Quarter 4, 2019/20 
towards the Housing and Growth Deal.

Appendices: None

Page 83

Agenda Item 7a



2. The HfI programme has two aspects.

 Firstly, the commitment to spend £30 million per annum on named 
infrastructure projects that have been identified as accelerators for 
planned housing growth in Oxfordshire.

 Secondly that this expenditure will then accelerate 6,549 planned 
homes that might not otherwise have come forward at this pace.

Infrastructure

3. The Growth Board will recall that in the last update officers advised that 
Oxfordshire County Council (OCC), who are the lead delivery partner for the 
infrastructure workstream and deliver the projects through their capital 
projects governance framework and project lifecycle have advised officers 
that the emerging spend profiles for the planned infrastructure schemes was 
leading to the conclusion that the originally negotiated spend profile of £30 
million per annum did not reflect the reality of the programme.

4. Officers reported that they believed that a more realistic profile would see 
spend much more backloaded, with greater spend at the latter end of the 5-
year period when projects reach the construction phases, whilst years two 
and three will see the majority of spend associated with planning and design 
work, which is typically only a small percentage of an overall scheme’s cost.

5. Because of this, officers embarked upon a review of the infrastructure 
programme in the final quarter of the year with the intention of agreeing with 
government this revised delivery profile and associated financial trajectory.

6. This review commenced as planned but has been overtaken by the COVID 
crisis which has had a significant impact upon the timing and costs of the 
infrastructure programme, impacts that are at the time of writing of this report 
still not fully understood.

7. OCC are continuing to revise the delivery trajectory with a view to offering a 
new baseline for the programme against which performance can be 
measured. Officers will report back on progress once these have been 
agreed, which we anticipate will be by the September Board meeting

Risk Management
 

8. The following risks have been identified as the key risks to the infrastructure 
programme:

 The increased backloading of the infrastructure programme, leading to 
concerns that some schemes may fall outside of the 5 year time-frame 
of the Deal.

 Managing the impact of the infrastructure programme upon the 
Oxfordshire road network- recognising that there are other significant 
infrastructure investment programmes in the same time frame.

 Procurement and market readiness.
 Potential delays due to the need to acquire land through compulsory 

purchase.

Page 84



 Reliance on third parties (developers / network rail etc) for delivery.
 The impact of COVID, for example delays to schemes caused by 

lockdown, interruptions to supply and labour chains and the wish of 
contracts to be renegotiated by infrastructure providers to reflect their 
new operating environment. 

9. Officers have developed risk registers for each infrastructure scheme, 
including appropriate mitigations that are regularly reported to the Programme 
Board to ensure that risk is managed.

Delivering Housing from Infrastructure
 

10.At the end of the third quarter officers reported the following trajectory for the 
Homes from Infrastructure programme, based upon partners assessment of 
their housing delivery trajectories at the end of December:

11.The graph shows that, against the trajectory of accelerated homes agreed in 
the Deal, of 6549 homes, we are estimating that we will accelerate 7862 
homes. Once we factor in the appropriate 20% optimism bias percentage to 
this expectation, we are estimating expecting to achieve 6485 homes.
 

12.The Board noted that the trajectory has reduced since we last reported to the 
Board and is now below the 6549 target, when the optimism bias is applied.

13.The Board also noted that the figure of 6485 was a mid-year estimate of 
housing completions, one that is not based upon empirical evidence of 
completions but a largely desk based assessment of the trajectory. The Board 
were advised that all partners finalise the year end position via a count of 
actual completions- at which point the optimism bias will not be required- and 
at this point officers expected the final year end position to be above target.

14.This work was anticipated to be completed in time to report to the Board, 
however as with other aspects of the Deal the COVID crisis has had a 
significant impact on partners ability to assess the delivery trajectory for the 
remainder of the programme. 

Page 85



15.The consequent impact of these COVID delays has meant that partner 
councils have not been able to complete the year end assessment of progress 
to date on the HfI programme, specifically an assessment of how the current 
level of completions at the year-end influences the estimated overall trajectory 
for the full five years of the programme.

16.Council partners are now aiming to complete this work by August of this year, 
which means that the Growth Board meeting in September will receive this 
data. Homes England have been advised of this revised timeline 

Risk Management
 The delivery plans contain the following risks, identified as the key to 

the delivery of homes:
 The pace of infrastructure delivery now heavily influenced by COVID. 

Particularly that identified as crucial to the acceleration of homes and 
the consequent impact on the pace of related housing development.

 Reliance on third parties (developers / network rail etc) for delivery of 
infrastructure.

 The speed of resolution of any planning issues needed to unblock 
sites, this has also been delayed by COVID.

 Potential impact of external market factors and the health of the 
economy.

 The stage and pace of development of some of Oxfordshire’s Local 
Plans.

17.Ongoing analysis of the above risks ensure a comprehensive understanding 
of mitigation activities are planned.

AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAMME (OAHP) 

18.The Board will not be surprised to learn that the Affordable Housing 
Programme (OAHP) has also been affected by the COVID crisis with all 
development sites closing as a result of the pandemic. This has led 
Registered Providers reporting significant delays in their delivery trajectories, 
typically between 6-9 months.

19.The key impacts of the pandemic and the consequent closedown of 
development on the OAHP has been:

 Year two schemes that were close to being completed by the 31 March 
deadline were delayed- meaning that our ambition for this year was 
significantly reduced.

 Most of the schemes programmed for year three have been delayed 
and outside of the current window of the OAHP.

20.Recognising the last-minute impact upon the year two programme, 
government agreed to pay the grant for the full programme of 192 units and 
asked the accountable body to hold this money until the district partners 
reported that schemes had achieved the relevant contractual milestone.

21.Regarding the year three programme, officers were requested by government 
to carry out a review and report by the end of May. The outcome of the review 
was that:

Page 86



 The full three-year programme has been materially reduced and now 
stands at 759 units against the target of 1322 units- 57% of target. 

 Predicted drawdown of budget will be £29.81 million against the full 
budget of £60 million, a drawdown of £49.5% of budget.

22.The response of officers to this review has been as follows.

 We have been seeking to further grow the OAHP to provide the size of 
programme that experience tells us will be required to offset the 
inevitable drop out of schemes- a likelihood that has increased as the 
COVID implications continue to influence the housing development 
market.

 We have with the encouragement of HE developed a year four 
programme for the OAHP- one that, if agreed with government would 
see us meet both numeric and budget spend targets.

 We have submitted a proposal to government setting out how we could 
use the final year(s) of the OAHP as a counter cyclical tool for housing 
market recovery and the changes required to the current rules of the 
OAHP that would be required to maximise this opportunity.

23.Officers have at the time of writing this report not met with HE to discuss 
either the possible extension to the OAHP or the economic recovery proposal 
but will update the Board verbally at the meeting.

Risk Management 

24.The key risks to delivery of individual schemes within the OAHP, are now 
primarily from delays in planning and tender processes caused by the COVID 
crisis together with financial challenges to schemes viability These risks are 
managed at district/city level.

25. In addition to these site-specific risks, there are more general risks identified 
for the Programme, these are:

 That the OAHP is not currently large enough to withstand the 
anticipated dropout rate of schemes that typically occurs through the 
programme. Experience to date suggests that up to a third of schemes 
can be delayed in any one year for a variety of reasons, and the OAHP 
needs to have the capacity to allow for such drop out and still deliver to 
target. 

 The risks to the OAHP of the anticipated downturn in the economy, 
slowing housing completion rates and thence the affordable units 
developed. It is this risk and our proposals to counter it that are the 
basis for our economic recovery proposal outlines in paragraph 22.

Page 87



OXFORDSHIRE PLAN 2050

26.Work in quarter four has been focussed on several key areas:

 Continuing engagement with stakeholders and in particular Duty to Co-
operate bodies

 Further broadening the reach of our engagement, targeting those 
underrepresented in consultation responses to date

 Commissioning and progression of technical studies, building the 
evidence base 

 Progressing work in co-ordination with the Liaison and Heads of 
Planning Groups and the steering and working groups of technical 
expert officers 

 Developing spatial scenarios and options for testing 

27.Engagement has continued through quarter four with further work to broaden 
the reach of the project and range of participants.  There have been 
workshops with students of Abingdon and Witney College and the City of 
Oxford College and a blog written by the Plan Team’s work experience 
student.
 

28.Preparation work has been progressing to build a new portal for engagement 
to be called Oxfordshire Open Thought for launch later in the year.  In 
addition, meetings have been continuing with the Duty to Co-operate bodies 
to ensure that any strategic matters and cross boundary issues are identified 
and addressed through the Plan.

29.The production of the Plan will require a significant level of technical work to 
form the evidence base.  The evidence base will help to shape the policy 
options for the Plan, then be used to test those options, and in due course will 
form the supporting evidence for the consideration of the Plan at examination 
by an Inspector. Several key evidence studies are underway with consultants 
appointed. Each technical commission is being carried out with the 
involvement of all the authority partners, via a steering group to oversee the 
commission.

30.To ensure that the wealth of local knowledge and expertise available within 
the councils (and partner organisations) is used to its full potential, a series of 
informal steering groups and working groups have been established to 
oversee specialist topic workstreams, such as health, transport and natural 
capital.  It is hoped that the Oxfordshire Open Thought exercise will also 
broaden the range of local expert voices on such issues to benefit the 
development of the Plan.

31.With the outbreak of COVID, work is progressing to assess the potential 
impact on the programme and the development of the Plan.  The required 
officer and member meetings to approve the next stage of work will be more 
difficult to prioritise amongst other COVID recovery work; engagement 
exercises will need to be redesigned to work in in a socially distancing 
context; and there may be some impacts of the work of the various technical 
consultants.  We are working with consultants to ensure that work on the 
evidence base incorporates where appropriate, consideration of the changing 

Page 88



economic and social circumstances of the COVID situation and any possible 
longer-term impacts of those.

32.Over the next quarter, officers will continue refining and then testing a series 
of spatial options and thematic policy options, including through the 
Sustainability Appraisal process (against environmental, economic and social 
objectives). This work will build towards the production of the next formal 
consultation document.  The focus of that next consultation document will be 
the options for the Plan, it will present a tested set of options for public and 
stakeholder consideration.

Risk Management 

33.The following have been identified as the key risks to the production of the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050:

 Challenges of being a front-runner, producing a new type of Plan with 
little bespoke guidance in national policy.  

 Challenging timeframe for production of the Plan given the complexities 
of the topics it will cover and of partnership working.

 The development of a clear, agreed spatial strategy to form the basis of 
the policies; without this the defence of the Plan and its policies would 
be impossible.

 Links with external projects such as the OxCam Arc. 
 Links with and relationship to district Local Plans especially with those 

which haven’t yet been adopted.

34.Officers have developed a detailed risk register including mitigations that are 
reported to the Heads of Planning Group and the Programme Board to ensure 
that risk is managed.

DEAL GOVERNANCE AND FINANCE

35.Programme governance for Q4 has focused on the financial process for the 
Growth Deal Capacity Fund to provide a tactical and strategic perspective of 
the financial position, based on supporting transactional evidence. This work 
has resulted in developing a more robust process to check and challenge all 
Capacity Fund transactions at a tactical level and to take immediate action to 
investigate and initiate corrective action. At the end of Q4, all financial queries 
were either resolved or in the process of being actioned.

36.The strengthening of the financial reporting of the Growth Deal Capacity Fund 
has been acknowledged by the Growth Deal Programme Board. 

37.The monthly financial statements are overseen by OCC Finance, as the 
Accountable Body. OCC Finance also lead on the production of the financial 
assurance statements for the Growth Board, Executive Officer Group (as 
required) and the Growth Deal Programme Board.

38.Regular reporting to the Growth Deal Programme Board encapsulate the 
financials of the following elements of the Growth Deal:

Page 89



 Capacity Fund – Housing and Oxfordshire Plan (JSSP) staffing and 
non-staffing costs. Plus 2 projects – Rail Connectivity Study and OxIS 
refresh

 Affordable Housing Programme - number of units/grant funding
 Infrastructure programme – capital and revenue spend
 Growth Board – support team and non-staffing costs

39. It is to be noted that the reporting process for the financials of the 
Infrastructure programme is currently in development by the OCC 
Infrastructure team. Progress will be reported at next quarter.

40.Work to assess the budget to support programme milestones for Year 3 + in 
terms of work priorities, staffing requirements and estimated costs is now 
underway. The assessment will also reflect on the impact of COVID on the 
Growth Deal milestones and the priorities needed to support a Recovery Plan.

41.A separate financial assurance statement will be presented to the Growth 
Board by the OCC Accountable Body.

Risk Management

42.As part of programme governance, the Growth Deal Programme Board 
oversee a strategic RAID log, reporting on strategic risks and issues and 
acknowledging the assumptions and dependencies of the programme.

43.Work in Q4 has been to review the formatting and production of this report to 
gain a more efficient way of reporting risks and issues. Main change is in 
developing the RAID log to be more of a strategic driver to the programme in 
terms of actions, priorities and ownership. This work commenced in Q4 and is 
currently in draft format for review by the Growth Deal Programme Board in 
July 20.

44.A key risk to programme governance remains with the outstanding Growth 
Board review and its outcomes, including finalising roles, responsibilities and 
decision making. This work, once finalised and the outputs shared, will enable 
the Growth Deal Programme Assurance Framework to be finalised and fully 
implemented.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

45.None arising from this report.

OTHER IMPLICATIONS

46.None arising from this report. 

CONCLUSION 

47.This report outlines progress against the agreed Growth Deal year two 
milestones at end of Q4 2019/20.

Page 90



48.Progress is being made towards meeting our commitments under the Deal 
and there are robust management arrangements, both within each council 
and across the partnership to address risks and issues as they arise.

49. In the last report for quarter three officers reported that the focus for the final 
quarter of year two needs would be on activity required to complete the 
delivery of the year two programmes and to develop confidence in the delivery 
of commitments in future years.

50.The former of these tasks was completed but the latter has been significantly 
affected and delayed by the COVID crisis. The impact of the pandemic and 
subsequent closedown of development is material to the Deal and to date still 
not fully understood. Officers are engaged in scoping out the impacts and 
manging the impacts on the Deal in consultation with government.

51.The report asks the Growth Board to note this progress with the Deal and the 
achievement against the milestones committed to.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

           None

Report Author: Paul Staines, Growth Board Service Delivery 
Manager on behalf of Bev Hindle, Growth Board 
Director.

Contact information: bev.hindle@oxfordshire.gov.uk

Page 91

mailto:bev.hindle@oxfordshire.gov.uk


www.OxfordshireGrowthBoard.org 

To: Oxfordshire Growth Board 

Title of Report: Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Financial Outturn 2019/20

Date: 28 July 2020

Report of: Director of Finance, Oxfordshire County Council (Accountable 
Body)

1.0 Introduction

1.1 This report sets out the financial outturn for 2019/20 of the following three stands of 
the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal and associated funding streams from 
Homes England (HE):

 Infrastructure Programme 
 Affordable Housing Programme 
 Growth Deal Capacity Fund

1.2 This report is prepared by the Director of Finance for Oxfordshire County Council (the 
County Council) in the capacity of Section 151 Officer of the Accountable Body for 
the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal and gives assurance over the grant funding 
and expenditure.

1.3 This report should be considered in conjunction with the ‘Oxfordshire Housing and 
Growth Deal Progress Report – Year Two’ by the Growth Board Director which sets 

Executive Summary and Purpose:
The purpose of this report is to update the Growth Board on the 2019/20 financial 
outturn and programme overview of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal.  The 
report covers the three grant funding streams:

 Infrastructure programme 
 Affordable Housing programme 
 Growth Deal Capacity Fund 

The report is prepared by the Director of Finance for Oxfordshire County Council the 
capacity of Section 151 Officer of the Accountable Body for the Oxfordshire Housing 
and Growth Deal and gives assurance over the grant funding and expenditure.

The fourth strand of the Deal, Productivity is reported through the OXLEP Board under 
separate arrangements

Recommendation: That the Growth Board notes the 2019/20 financial outturn report.

Page 92

Agenda Item 7b



out the Governance Arrangements for the deal and performance against the deal 
milestones.  This report is at item 7a on the agenda.  

1.4  Funding for the fourth strand of the deal Productivity Programme is managed by the 
Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (OxLEP) and financial performance is 
reported independently to the Growth Board. 

2.0  Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Fund Financial Governance

2.1 In accordance with the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Delivery Plan, the 
County Council is the accountable body for the financial management of the three 
key financial streams. A quarterly report is provided to the Growth Board.  
Responsibility for the management of each financial stream is held by the programme 
lead.

2.2     As the Accountable Body, the County Council is responsible for ensuring that:
 Funding is received from Government
 Recommendations to the Growth Board on schemes to be funded are 

in accordance with the grant conditions
 Regular monitoring reports are provided to the Growth Board

2.3 The County Council also holds the risk should Government require funding to be 
repaid if it is unspent or deemed to have been misused.  

3.0 Financial Summary 2019/20

3.1 Infrastructure Fund 

3.1.1  The Infrastructure Fund is a fund of £150.0m. The grant funding is paid in five equal 
annual instalments of £30.0m to the Accountable Body.  2019/20 was the second 
year of the Infrastructure Fund Programme.  

3.1.2  In the first two years of the programme the scheme delivery profile has not matched 
the funding profile.  As the Accountable Body, the County Council is able to use 
freedoms and flexibilities and the Council’s wider capital programme to ensure that 
grant funding is maximised and available when needed.  In 2018/19 it was agreed 
with Homes England that the grant funding could be applied to additional schemes 
outside of the main Growth Deal Programme with the funding streams for these 
schemes brought into the programme in later years so that the funding was aligned 
with the delivery profile.  The forecast outturn for 2019/20 includes the ongoing cost 
of these schemes and, as in 2018/19 the funding streams have been brought into the 
programme for use in later years.    The inclusion of these additional schemes has 
expanded the programme to £193.5m of which £150.0m are growth deal schemes.  
A summary of the programme is included at Annex 1.  

3.1.3  The £150m Infrastructure Fund grant includes allocations for revenue (£15.0m) and 
capital (£135.0m).  The revenue funding was front loaded to the first two years of the 
programme with £11.0m received in 2018/19 and £4m in 2019/20.  In 2018/19 the full 
funding was utilised, with £3.3m applied to revenue and the remaining £7.7m used to 
fund capital.  In 2019/20, £3.8m was applied to revenue and £0.2m was carried 
forward for use in future years.  

Page 93



3.1.4   It is expected that further revenue funding will be required over the remainder of the 
programme, over and above the £0.2m carried forward.  As the Accountable Body, 
the County Council will support the programme to manage this requirement using 
freedoms and flexibilities.       

3.1.5 The total spend reported for 2019/20 is £32.2m.  The spend by scheme is shown in 
Annex 2.     A summary of the 2019/20 outturn is as follows:

Capital Revenue Total2019/20 (Year 2)
£m £m £m

Expenditure  
 

Growth Deal Schemes 7.2 3.8 11.0
Infrastructure Schemes 2.1 0.0 2.1
School Schemes 19.1 0.0 19.1

 
Total Expenditure 28.4 3.8 32.2
Funding  

 
Growth Deal 26.0 4.0 30.0
Other Funding (County Capital Programme) 2.4 2.4

 
Total Funding 28.4 4.0 32.4

 
Revenue Grant Carried Forward  0.2 0.2

3.1.6  Work is ongoing to profile and programme the delivery of schemes in the final three 
years of the Infrastructure Fund Programme from 2020/21 to 2022/23.  Where 
possible, the County Council will continue to use its freedoms and flexibilities to 
ensure that funding is available to support the delivery profile of the programme, 
including potentially making funding available beyond 2022/23.  However, this will be 
subject to agreement with Homes England and the achievement of milestones 
relating to the unlocking of additional new homes of which 6,549 should be built or on 
site by March 2023.    

3.1.7 The Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Progress Report which sets out expected 
achievement against these milestones is included elsewhere on the agenda at item 
7.a.

3.2 Affordable Housing Fund 

3.2.1  The Affordable Housing Fund is a fund of up to £60.0m available over the first three 
years of the growth deal from 2018/19 to 2020/21.  The Affordable Housing 
Programme detail is set out in Annex 3.  The actual funding claimed is agreed with 
Homes England at the end of each financial year based on the number of affordable 
housing units that are in contract to be delivered.  

3.2.2  2019/20 was the second year of the Affordable Housing Programme.  The original 
phasing of the programme included forecast spend of £21.5m to deliver 464 

Page 94



affordable housing units.  In March 2020 it was agreed with Homes England that 
£7.6m could be claimed relating to 192 units of affordable housing secured in 
2019/20.  The cumulative total for the programme is £14.3m and 383 units.

3.2.3  At the end of March the government put measures in place to manage the Covid-19 
pandemic in the United Kingdom.  This had an impact on the ability reach the 
necessary contract milestones to release the funding for two schemes within the 
2019/20 programme.  As this money had already been paid to the accountable body 
for onward distribution to the district councils it was agreed with Homes England that 
the funding would be retained and treated as a Receipt in Advance.  The grant income 
will be recognised in 2020/21 when the contractual milestones are achieved and 
passed on to the relevant district councils.

Schemes 
in 

Contract

Schemes 
pending 
contract

Total District Council

£m £m £m
Cherwell District Council 0.1 0.1
Oxford City Council 0.5 2.9 3.4
Vale of White Horse District Council 2.4 2.4
West Oxfordshire District Council 1.7 1.7
Total 2.3 5.3 7.6

3.2.4 The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic is likely to extend into year three of this 
programme.  As such as review of the programme has been undertaken which has 
resulted in an amended programme for year three (2020/21).  Details of this are set 
out in the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Progress Report at item 7a on the 
agenda.

3.3 Growth Deal Capacity Fund 

3.3.1  The Growth Deal Capacity Fund is a fund of £5.0m.  The grant has been paid to the 
County Council in three instalments.  The first instalment of £0.5m was paid in 
2017/18, followed by an instalment of £2.5m in 2018/19 and £2.0m in 2019/20.  

3.3.2 The funding is available to be used over six years, from 2017/18 to the end of the 
Housing and Growth Deal programme in 2022/23.  At year end, funding that has not 
been spent is carried forward through the County Council’s Earmarked Reserves.  
Annex 4 sets out the actual spend to date and the forecast spend for the remaining 
three years of the programme.     

3.3.3 For the 2019/20, a total spend of £1.9m is reported against an original forecast spend 
of £2.1m.  A summary of actual spend is detailed in the table below:

Page 95



 2019/20

 
Forecast 

Spend Outturn Variance
 £m £m £m

 
Housing Delivery 0.5 0.5 0.0
Oxfordshire Joint Statutory Spatial Plan 1.3 1.3 0.0
Feasibility 0.3 0.1 0.2

 
Total Expenditure 2.1 1.9 0.2

3.4 Growth Board Costs

3.4.1 The costs of the Growth Board fall outside of the scope of the County Council’s role 
as Accountable Body.  However, they are included in this report for transparency.  

3.4.2 The Vale of White Horse District Council is the administering authority for the Growth 
Board and costs are recharged at year end based on actual spend. In 2019/20 the 
actual spend on Growth Board support costs was £0.1m.   This was recharged to the 
six authorities.  

.
4.0 Risk Management

4.1 The financial performance of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Grant funding 
streams is closely monitored by the Growth Deal Programme Board. This will ensure 
that forecast spend of the Growth Deal period is accurate, based on the knowledge 
of the programme plans, and actual spend is reported, based on a monthly review of 
all transactional activity and balanced to the County Council financial systems.

4.2 Any risk identified to the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Funding streams will 
be reported to the Growth Deal Programme Board for review and appropriate 
mitigation action will be agreed. Any strategic risk to the overall programme will be 
reported to the Growth Board.

5.0 Conclusion 

5.1 This report sets out the spend against the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal 
funding streams for 2019/20.

5.2 The Growth Board is asked to note the 2019/20 Outturn report.

Report Author: Lorna Baxter, Director of Finance  

Contact information: Hannah Doney, Head of Corporate Finance 

hannah.doney@oxfordshire.gov.uk

Page 96

mailto:hannah.doney@oxfordshire.gov.uk


Growth Deal Programme Summary Annex 1

Year 1 Year 2 Years 3-5

2018/19 2019/20

2020/21 to 

2022/23

£m £m £m £m

Growth Deal Schemes 7.730 10.982 131.288 150.000

Infrastructure Schemes 10.239 2.102 0.000 12.341

School Schemes 12.031 19.094 0.000 31.125

Total 30.000 32.178 131.288 193.466

Funding

Growth Deal 30.000 30.000 90.000 150.000

Other Funding (County Capital Programme) 0.000 2.178 41.288 43.466

Total Funding 30.000 32.178 131.288 193.466

Total 

Programme

P
age 97



Growth Deal Programme 2019/20 scheme spend detail Annex 2

Capital Revenue Total

£m £m £m

Growth Deal Schemes

Tramway Road Banbury 0.000 0.156 0.156

NW Bicester A4095 Howes Lane / Lords Lane Realignment 0.258 0.023 0.281

A4260 and A44 Corridor Improvements 0.000 0.844 0.844

Former RAF Upper Heyford Mitigation Package 0.000 0.111 0.111

A422 Hennef Way, Banbury 0.000 0.028 0.028

SE Corridor Study 0.000 0.090 0.090

Oxford Citywide Cycle and Pedestrian Routes 1.000 0.383 1.383

Botley Road Bridge 0.000 0.001 0.001

Oxpens to Osney Mead Cycling and Pedestrian Bridge 5.900 0.004 5.904

Banbury Rd Improvements (Banbury Road Corridor) 0.000 0.032 0.032

Woodstock Rd Improvement (Woodstock Road Corridor) 0.000 0.003 0.003

Jubilee Way Roundabout & Didcot Central Corridor 0.000 0.001 0.001

Benson Relief Road 0.044 0.005 0.049

Watlington Edge Road 0.005 0.006 0.012

Golden Balls Roundabout Junction (A4074/B4015) 0.000 0.002 0.002

Frilford Junction 0.000 0.004 0.004

Milton Enterprise Pedestrian and Cycle Bridge 0.006 0.000 0.006

Wantage Eastern Link Road 0.017 0.000 0.017

A40/Minster Lovell West Facing Slips/Access to Carterton 0.000 0.021 0.021

Access to Witney at Shores Green 0.000 0.018 0.018

Ploughley Road / A41 Bicester - signalisation of junction 0.000 0.005 0.005

Featherbed Lane Capacity Improvements 0.000 0.003 0.003

Thame to Haddenham Cycle Route 0.000 0.010 0.010

Total Scheme Spend 7.231 1.751 8.982

Supporting Spend 0.000 2.000 -0.021

Total Growth Deal Schemes 7.231 3.751 10.982

Additional Schemes: Infrastructure

Access to Headington 2.100 0.002 2.102

Additional Schemes: Schools

Bloxham, Warriner - 2FE Expansion 2.938 0.000 2.938

Bicester, South West - Secondary 7.962 0.000 7.962

Oxford - Barton (West) - 1.5FE Primary School 4.002 0.000 4.002

Banbury, Southam Road - 1FE Primary School 3.268 0.000 3.268

John Blandy 0.924 0.000 0.924

Total Additional Schemes 21.194 0.002 21.196

Total Spend 28.425 3.753 32.178

2019/20

Page 98



Affordable Housing Programme Annex 3

Unit Type

Units Grant 

claimed

Forecast 

Units 

Grant 

claimed

Forecast 

Units 

Forecast 

Grant Claim

Forecast 

Total Units 

Forecast 

Total Grant 

Claim 

No. £m No. £m No. £m No. £m

Social Rented 22 1.265 76 4.125 253 13.915 351 19.305

Affordable Rented 80 3.200 70 2.445 270 10.800 420 16.445

Shared Ownership 89 2.250 46 1.010 125 3.125 260 6.385

Total Units & Spend 191 6.715 192 7.580 648 27.840 1031 42.135

Original Phasing - Expected Grant Claim 6.500 21.500 32.000 60.000

Original Phasing - Units 148 464 710

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

P
age 99



Capacity Fund Annex 4

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Actual 

Spend

Actual 

Spend

Actual 

Spend

Forecas

t Spend 

Forecas

t Spend 

Forecast 

Spend 

TOTAL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Housing Delivery (Programme Team_Arc cr) 0.088 0.349 0.480 0.471 0.208 0.162 1.758

Joint Statutory Spatial Plan costs 0.252 1.347 0.901 2.500

Feasibility 0.030 0.042 0.208 0.280

Total Spend 0.088 0.631 1.869 1.580 0.208 0.162 4.538

Grant Received (0.500) (2.500) (2.000) (5.000)

Grant Carried Forward (-) / Drawn down (+) (0.412) (1.869) (0.131) 1.580 0.208 0.162 (0.462)

Year End Reserve Balance 0.412 2.281 2.412 0.832 0.624 0.462

P
age 100



Infrastructure Sub-Group Notes - 11 May 2020 

Notes 
OF A MEETING OF THE 

 

Oxfordshire Growth Board Infrastructure 

Sub-Group 
 

HELD ON MONDAY 11 MAY 2020 AT 1.00 PM 

ON-LINE TEAMS MEETING 
 

Present: 
 
Councillors Ian Hudspeth (Chair), Yvonne Constance, Jeff Haine, Lynn Pratt,  
Judy Roberts, Linda Smith and David Turner 
 
Officers: John Disley (Oxfordshire County Council), Kevin Jacob, (Oxfordshire Growth 
Board) and Owen Jenkins (Oxfordshire County Council) 
 

40 Apologies for absence and notifications of substitutions; 
declarations of interest; Chair's announcements  
 
There were no apologies for absence, declarations of interests or Chairs 
 

41 Notes of the previous meeting  
 
The notes of the meeting held on 14 January 2020 were received. 
 

42 Updating the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy (OxIS)  
 
The subgroup considered a draft covering report to the 2 June 2020 Growth Board on the 
updating of the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy, (OxIS), draft project brief and scope of 
work. It was noted that the report would also be considered by the Growth Board 
Executive Officer Group on 12 May 2020. 
 
The subgroup was informed that as part of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal, 
(OHGD) there was a commitment update (OxIS) originally produced by the Growth Board 
in 2017. In addition to the formal commitment to update OxIS in the deal, circumstances 
and priorities had changed since 2017 making an update timely. The milestones for the 
update anticipated stage 1 of the project being available for Growth Board consideration 
by December 2020 with stage 2 scheduled to begin in April 2021 subject to change in the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 consultation timetable.  
 
In discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

• It was important that whilst the County Council was to manage the update to OxIS, 
there was appropriate engagement with partner local authorities and other 
stakeholders. The subgroup was reassured that the document would be developed as 
a Growth Board document and that it was recognised that to be successful a 

Page 101

Agenda Item 7c



Infrastructure Sub-Group Notes - 11 May 2020 

partnership approach was required.  A cross authority officer steering group would 
help strength this and regular updates would be given to the subgroup which subgroup 
members welcomed.  

• The impact of responding to the Covid-19 emergency in terms of officer resource to 
support the update and the potentially longer-term impacts of Covid-19 on the county’s 
future infrastructure needs notwithstanding these effects were presently unknown.  

• The relationship and links between OxIS and the Oxfordshire Plan were extremely 
important, particularly in respect of timetables.  

• Assessment criteria for schemes would be updated and subgroup members expressed 
the view that the criteria should be need based rather than availability of funding 
based. 

• Stakeholder engagement in para 7 of the project scope.  It was suggested that this 
might be further strengthened and that there was a potential place for expert action 
groups as part of the stakeholder process. It was acknowledged that thus could be 
considered further.  

 
Members of the sub-group supported the recommendation to the Growth Board set out in 
the report that it endorse the OxIS project brief and scope of work for the update. 
 

43 Growth Deal Infrastructure Update Year 2  
 
Owen Jenkins provided the sub-group with a presentation setting out a summary of 
performance update against Year 2 of the Oxfordshire Housing and Deal Infrastructure 
programme. This include progress against Deal milestones and data on the delivery of 
homes accelerated by the Deal infrastructure programme on the basis forecast vs baseline 
figures.   
 
It was also highlighted that: 
 

• the provisions of the Deal represented part, but not all the activity undertaken and 
planned for.  

• Delivery of homes accelerated by infrastructure across Oxfordshire was as of the date 
of the meeting above the baseline, but a sharp decline arising from the impact of 
Covid-19 on construction was expected and it was unclear how delivery would be 
affected in the longer term.  It was noted that this information was also available at 
individual district and city council level.  

• Forecast spend on Growth Deal schemes was forecast to be marginally up for 
2019/2020 against spend in 2018/2019, but there was a risk that the situation could 
change significantly in the coming months and negotiations with national and local 
partners were continuing.  

• There was continued concern regarding whether it was possible to deliver such a 
significant programme over a five-year period and whether it might be possible to 
profile elements of the programme into a sixth or seventh year.  A significant 
proportion of spend on individual projects could not take place until towards the end of 
the programme and they were delivered on the ground, and this could be under further 
pressure due to the impacts of Covid-19. 

• Ongoing improvements were continuing to be made with teams and resources building 
slowing and a total of five programme leads were now in place. A Programme 
Management Unit had been created and examples of performance dashboard for the 
each of the capital elements were shared with the sub-group. It was hoped that these 
would accessible by a range of partners and help provide a more live and holistic 
picture of performance.  

Page 102



Infrastructure Sub-Group Notes - 11 May 2020 

• Risks to the programme including an anticipated significant impact of Covid-19 were 
set out.  

• In discussion of the presentation, members of the subgroup raised the potential impact 
of recent statements by the Prime Minister in relation to construction, but this was not 
to be a significant departure from previous announcement and policy.  

 
In respect of the Covid-19 on housing market generally it was noted that scale of the 
impact remained unclear and it was difficult to estimate how quick a recovery there would 
be. There were proposals to establish a developer forum.  
 
Concern was expressed that HM Government might request unspent funding to returned 
and officers indicated that they continued to have positive conversations with HM 
Government and partners such as Homes England. A ‘lessons learnt ‘exercise was also 
being undertaken.  
 
Several members commented that although Covid-19 would have an impact, particularly 
around demand for homes to buy, there remained an accommodation need even if it was 
for tenures other than to buy. There continued to be a strong argument to make this case 
to HM Government and for appropriate stimulus.  
 
The presentation was noted. 
 

44 Oxfordshire Rail Corridor Study Strategic Report  
 
The subgroup was informed that the final Oxfordshire Rail Corridor Study report had been 
signed off by Network Rail and it was expected that it would be published by the 
Department of Transport soon.  
 
A discussion took place on whether it was necessary or potentially advantageous to revisit 
some aspects of the report because of the Covid-19 emergency, particularly in respect of 
passenger demand. However, the counter view was expressed that there could be risks in 
doing so and it was noted that there currently no statistical basis for a review.  
 
Reference was made to the promotion by HM Government of cycling and walking as 
modes of transport arising from the easing of Covid-19 restrictions. It was felt that it 
remained difficult to travel with bicycles on trains and buses.   
 

45 Housing Infrastructure Fund - Update  
 
The subgroup received an update on bids to HM Government’s Housing Infrastructure 
Fund, (HIF). It was noted that the details of the A40 Smart Corridor agreement were close 
to completion. 
 

46 Date of next meetings  
24 August 2020 14:00 
26 October 2020 14:00 
14 December 2020 14:00 
 
The meeting closed at 2.30 pm 

 
 

Page 103



Oxfordshire Growth Board minutes - 16 June 2020 1 

Notes 
OF A MEETING OF THE 

 

Oxfordshire Growth Board Housing 

Advisory Sub-Group 
 

HELD ON TUESDAY 16 JUNE 2020 AT 6.30 PM 

VIRTUAL MEETING VIA MS TEAMS 
 

Present: 
 
Members: Councillors Susan Brown (Chair), Robin Bennett, Liz Brighouse, Jeff Haine, 
Mike Rowley and Bethia Thomas 
 
Officers: Caroline Green, Stephen Man, Stefan Robinson and Paul Staines 
 
 

26 Apologies for absence and notification of substitutions; 
declarations of interest; Chair's announcements  

 
Apologies were submitted from Councillor John Donaldson. There were no 
substitutions or declarations of interest. 

 

27 Notes of the meeting held on 7 January 2020  
 

In response to a question concerning the notes of the previous meeting, officers 
clarified that of the expected number of homes to exist in Oxfordshire by 2031, 80% 
of those homes had already been built. The notes of the previous meeting were 
agreed.  

 

28 Community Led Housing in Oxfordshire  
 

The meeting heard that £36,113 of Homes England grant had been received to 
undertake a study into how a commissioning and development framework could be 
established to promote Community Led Housing in Oxfordshire. The report, which 
would be presented to the Growth Board on 28 July, presented the findings of that 
work. It was recommended that a project team drawn from across the six councils 
be established to drive forward actions arising from the report’s findings, returning 
to the partner councils or the Growth Board for any necessary authorisations as 
they are developed. It was noted that there would be cost and resource implications 
to this work, but officers would be working to minimise those costs. 

 
Local Authorities were in different places with respect to their approach to 
Community Led Housing. Officers explained that whilst there were several benefits 
associated with Community Led Housing, these could only be realised in certain 
circumstances, and it was not the only development model that could be used.   

 

Page 104

Agenda Item 7d



Oxfordshire Growth Board minutes - 16 June 2020 2 

The Sub-group discussed the impact that the Covid-19 pandemic has had, and will 
have, on the Oxfordshire Housing Market and residents’ lives. Registered provides 
and other development partners were building in up to 12 months of delays into 
their development plans due to the pandemic. The Oxfordshire Affordable Housing 
Programme will need to reflect this reality. 

 
The sub-group offered support for the report and its conclusions, recognising that 
this was a positive step in a wider discussion about Community Led Housing.  

 

29 Covid-19 and the Oxfordshire housing market update  
 

The Sub-group were provided with a report summarising the impact that the Covid-
19 pandemic has had on the Housing Market. This reflected elements of a report 
presented to the Growth Board on 2 June 2020. It explained that the mortgage 
market had tightened nationally, requiring higher than usual deposits, which had 
limited access to loans for some. This may influence some people to pursue a 
shared ownership arrangement, instead of outright ownership. The impact on 
developers had been varied, from minor to significant, depending on the demand 
profile of the developments they were taking forward.  

 
The Sub-group discussed the changing market, its complexities, and the various 
factors that could influence the level of demand for different tenures. Members 
commented that the full impact of Covid-19 on the housing market would not be 
fully understood for some time. There would be various knock on effects from the 
disruption which will carry over into future years. Specific concern was raised about 
the need for the market to adapt to a growing aging population, which may be less 
inclined to make use of care homes given that they have been disproportionally 
affected by the pandemic.  

 
The Sub-group supported the view that it would be important for Government to be 
flexible in their approach to housing targets and spend within the Affordable 
Housing Programme given the impact of the pandemic. 

 

30 Growth Deal year end housing delivery position  
 

The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic had meant that on-site working restrictions 
would have led to productivity imitations, as people and businesses adapt to the 
new working arrangements.  For this reason, delivery in the third year had been 
significantly impacted. Accordingly, it was proposed that the Affordable Housing 
Programme should be extended for an additional year (year four) to meet the 
programmes spend, given the impact that the pandemic has had. This was a 
discussion that needed further development with Homes England. Despite the 
delays caused by the pandemic, officers continued to strive to deliver against 
existing targets where possible.  

 

31 Update on discussions with Homes England on the role of the 
Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal in the housing recovery  

 
Officers presented the Sub-group with a draft proposal to Homes England 
requesting additional freedoms and flexibilities considering the Covid-19 pandemic. 
This set that the Housing and Growth Deal could play an important role in the 
recovery of the local Housing Market. It proposed that the utility of an extended 

Page 105



Oxfordshire Growth Board minutes - 16 June 2020 3 

four-year Affordable Housing Programme would help to deliver the overall aims of 
the programme. This was presented as an opening position, and it was suggested 
that a more detailed assessment would be needed to assess the advantages of a 
year four programme in budget and delivery terms, if support for the way forward 
was secured.  

 
In recognising the significant impact that the pandemic has had on the Affordable 
Housing Programme, the Sub-group offered its support for progressing discussions 
with Government in favour of a four-year programme. 

 

32 Low/Zero Carbon housing update  
 

The Sub-group agreed to defer this item until its next meeting and requested that a 
written update be provided.  

 

33 Any other business  
 

Caroline Green updated the group on work underway on a county-wide strategy for 
tackling homelessness and rough sleeping and the response during COVID-19. It 
was flagged that the work had identified a need for a joined-up approach to 
matching available housing with people in priority need and greater engagement 
from housing associations.  

 

34 Dates of future meetings  
 

The Sub-group noted that owing to a clash with the new Growth Board meeting on 
28 July 2020, that their meeting on the same date would be rescheduled to either 7 
September of 10 September 2020. Officers were asked to canvas member 
availability before confirming the date. 

 
 

The meeting closed at 19:38 
 
 
 
Chairman Date 

 
 

Page 106



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Sub-Group - 19 March 2020  

Notes 
OF A MEETING OF THE 

 

Oxfordshire Growth Board Oxfordshire 

Plan 2050 Advisory Sub-Group 
 

HELD ON THURSDAY 19 MARCH 2020 AT 10.00 AM 

VIA CONFERENCE CALL 
 

 

Present: 
 
Councillors: Alex Hollingsworth, Jeannette Matelot, Sue Roberts and Catherine Webber 
 
Officers: Rachel Burns, (Oxfordshire County Council), Giles Hughes (West Oxfordshire 
District Council), Kevin Jacob and Rachel Williams (Oxfordshire Plan 2050) 
 
Other councillors: None  
 
 

42 Apologies for absence and notification of substitutes; declarations 
of interest; Chair's announcements  
 
It was noted that the meeting was being held virtually by conference call in light of the 
Covid-19 emergency and everyone was thanked for their flexibility for forbearance in 
making the arrangement work. 
 
Apologies for absence were submitted from Colin Clarke, (Cherwell District Council), 
Councillor Jeff Haines, (West Oxfordshire District Council) and Councillor James Mills, 
(West Oxfordshire District Council and Chair).  
 
It was agreed that Giles Hughes would manage the meeting Agenda.  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

43 Notes of the previous meeting  
 
The notes of the meeting held on 13 February 2020 were agreed.  
 
The following points were raised as matters arising: 
 

• Plan work programme – discussion had taken place around moving to two cycles of 
activity, rather than three cycles of activity as outlined at the previous meeting. The 
objective was to produce a briefing on progress in early summer and agreement of the 
consultation document in September 2020 However, it was becoming likely that the 
Covid-19 emergency would impact upon this timeline.   

Page 107

Agenda Item 7e



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Sub-Group - 19 March 2020  

• HM Government had indicated that planning functions should continue to be 
undertaken by local planning authorities.  

 
In discussion it was agreed that it would be useful to have an update on the impact of the 
emergency.   
 

44 Presentation on the Circular Economy  
 
The sub-group received a presentation on the circular economy in Oxfordshire from 
Rachel Burns, Waste Strategy Manager at Oxfordshire County Council.  
 
A summary of the key points raised, and questions asked:  
 

• It was noted that the Circular Economy was not a sector of the economy, but a theme 
or model applicable to any organisation or business in growing, manufacturing, buying, 
contracting or providing services. Circular Economy involved a modal shift in the way 
in which products were designed to allow for and encourage reuse or repair and 
consumer behaviour.  

• The positive role of Community Action Networks, Repair Cafes and ‘Swap-Shops’ in 
facilitating the reuse of products was discussed and highlighted.  

• In discussion members of the Group were supportive of the key principles around the 
circular economy.  

 
Officers indicated that the threads of the discussion around the circular economy could be 
considered further as part of the development of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 so that 
common principles partners were comfortable with were included.  
 
It was agreed that: 
 
1. Details of the Community Action Group Project website should be circulated to 

members of the sub-group.  
 

2. Members of the sub-group should be supplied with a copy of the report commissioned 
by Oxfordshire County Council on the circular economy in the Oxfordshire Plan 2050.   

 

45 Oxfordshire Plan 2050 principles and good growth discussion  
 
The sub-group considered a draft document for discussion which set out possible a 
definition around ‘good growth’ and 10 guiding principles that would inform the Plan’s 
development.  The draft had been developed as a shared piece of work by planning 
officers across the county.  
 
The draft working definition suggested had been worded broadly with the aim that it could 
be useful in developing and testing future strategy options against a baseline which set out 
a shared concept of good growth.  
 
In detailed discussion, sub-group members felt it was sensible and robust to have such a 
definition in place and to identify the guiding principles to set the broad boundaries of more 
specific policy at a later stage. A range of views were expressed regarding the principle of 
reference to, and use of the term, good growth throughout the draft document with some 
suggestion that a focus in language towards inclusive prosperity and wellbeing might be 
more appropriate than facilitation of economic growth per se.  

Page 108



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Sub-Group - 19 March 2020  

 
Officers indicated that they would reflect upon the detailed specific comments made and 
develop the draft definition and guiding principles further. 
 

46 Consultation and think pieces  
 
The subgroup was updated on proposals for future Oxfordshire Plan 2050 engagement 
and consultation exercises, noting that considering the Covid-19 emergency, dates might 
need to be revised. It was intended for the consultation and think pieces to be as 
interactive as possible, including via the Plan website to facilitate wider public involvement. 
Other different kinds of approach were also being considered and both of Oxfordshire’s 
universities had been involved in the development of engagement planned.    
 

47 Future meetings  
 
It was agreed to continue with scheduled meeting dates as set out in the agenda with the 
next meeting scheduled for 16 April subject to review in light of the Covid-19 situation with 
consideration being given to virtual meetings. 
 
 

 

Page 109



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Notes - 16 April 2020 

Notes 
OF A MEETING OF THE 

 

Oxfordshire Growth Board Oxfordshire 

Plan 2050 Advisory Sub-Group 
 

HELD ON THURSDAY 16 APRIL 2020 AT 10.00 AM 

VIA CONFERENCE CALL 
 

 

Present: 
 
Councillors James Mills (Chair), Colin Clarke, Jeff Haine, Alex Hollingsworth,  
Jeannette Matelot, Sue Roberts and Catherine Webber 
 
Officers: Giles Hughes (West Oxfordshire District Council), Kevin Jacob, (Oxfordshire 
Growth Board) and Rachel Willams (Oxfordshire Plan 2050) 
 
Other councillors: None 
 
 

48 Apologies for absence and notification of substitutes; declarations 
of interest; Chair's announcements  
 
It was noted that the meeting was being held virtually by conference call in light of the 
Covid-19 emergency and everyone was again thanked for their forbearance, 
notwithstanding that a conference call was accepted to be suboptimal. It was noted that 
every effort would be held to hold the next meeting by video conference.  
 
There were no apologies for absence.  
 
There were no declarations of interest.   
 

49 Notes of the previous meeting  
 
The notes of the meeting held on 19 March 2020 were agreed. 
 

50 Presentation on Healthy Placeshaping (Richard Kuziara, Public 
Health Oxfordshire County Council)  
 
The sub-group received a presentation on healthy place shaping from Richard Kuziara, 
Health Improvement Practitioner, Oxfordshire County Council.  
 
A summary of the key points raised during the presentation.  
 

Page 110



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Notes - 16 April 2020 

• Oxfordshire faced a demographic challenge as the number of residents aged 85 and 
over was expected to grow by 62% between 2017 and 2032 with greatest future 
change forecast in the South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse Districts.  

• 3,554 premature deaths had occurred within Oxfordshire in 2016-2018 period. 58% of 
these were considered to be preventable.  

• Top three causes of premature death included: musculoskeletal problems, mental 
health problems and non-communicable diseases including respiratory illness, 
cardiovascular diseases and cancer and diabetes.   

• Female life expectancy in Oxfordshire was 84.7 years made up of 71.7 years of good 
health and male life expectancy is 81.6 years made up of 68.3 years and 13.3 years 
living in poor health, but significant inequalities existed the headline figures between 
the least and most deprived wards. 

• The life expectancy gap was estimated to be as much as 16 years between some 
areas with some wards experiencing significantly higher standard mortality rates than 
England as a whole.  Although this is most concentrated in well-known areas of 
deprivation in Banbury and Oxford issues also exist in different wards across all 
districts. 

• Improving health outcomes was very important, considering that health care only 
constituted around 20% as a contributor towards good health outcomes with other 
factors such as the built environment, health behaviours social economic factors 
having much larger impacts. This underlined that in looking to the longer term and 
growth, the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 was well placed to take account of a wide range of 
factors to achieve the best possible outcomes for Oxfordshire residents.  

• Linking to preventable deaths – health behaviours included physical inactivity, - social 
economic factors included social isolation and - built environment included air 
pollution, unsafe or cold homes and tackling climate change.  

• Physical activity had a wide range of health benefits that extended to mental health 
and the built environment could play a role in encouraging, (or discouraging) this. 

• Social isolation could also be very detrimental to health and have wider impacts on the 
health system, (such as increased visits by the socially isolated to GPs etc). Inclusive 
community settings and multi-use community hubs could be part of the solution to help 
mitigate this.  

• Air pollution was the largest environmental risk in the United Kingdom.  

• Healthy place shaping was about a collaborative approach which aimed to create: 
o Sustainable, well designed, thriving communities 
o Where healthy behaviours are the norm 
o Which provided a sense of belonging, identity and community.  

• There was an opportunity through work with planners across all the councils to 
influence local plans, neighbourhood plans and the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 through 
health insight and evidence to achieve a built environment in the future which was 
more likely to support healthy living.  

 
A summary of key points raised in discussion: 
 
Members asked whether the population forecast included population movement into the 
county from growth in housing sites and for further information on how the figures had 
been calculated. The sub-group was informed that the data was provided by the 
Oxfordshire County Council Insight Team and took account of known Local Plan housing 
sites, but that further detail could be provided outside of the meeting.  
 
Members commented that wide variations in outcomes and deprivations existed in many 
wards even where on average a ward might be regarded as relatively affluent.  

Page 111



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Notes - 16 April 2020 

 
With regard to the existing built environment in the county, it was felt that there were good 
examples of best practice, but there were also a number of housing schemes were 
lessons could and did need to be learnt for the future. However, the tools were available to 
achieve this and the information available reinforced the need for a whole place approach.  
 
In respect of outcomes for those in areas of deprivation, comment was made that gaps in 
life expectancy opened quickly during life. It was felt that in looking at overall life 
expectancy and activity in later life, it was important to act to positively influence behaviour 
across all age groups, but particularly important to change behaviour from an early stage.   
 
The suggestion was made by a member of the sub-group that in tacking air pollution there 
should be a focus towards visions such as access to ‘shared spaces’ and there should be 
a shift away for planning for cars. In addition to the need to plan for the future, there was a 
need to improve existing infrastructure. It was noted that from the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 
perspective, overall transport demand was being looked at, not just demand for car trips.  
 
It was recognised that several projects such as the FAST Activities for Families in Cherwell 
District had been developed within Oxfordshire already to improve and make it easier for 
families to access physical activity. In respect of connecting cycleways and walking routes, 
the Greenways project was being progressed to develop plans against which funding bids 
could be made.  
 
In respect of more rural wards, it was noted that there was not necessarily full countryside 
access to residents even if they appeared less developed than more urban areas. E.g. for 
many people features such as stiles prevent access to the rights of way network 
 
The sub-group noted the presentation. 
 

51 Recommended change to Oxfordshire Plan 2050 time line ongoing 
joint response to Covid-19  
 
RW presented a report which set out a recommended change to the timeline for 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 considering the impact of the Covid-19 national emergency and 
ongoing joint response by local authorities.  
 
It was highlighted that in seeking to outline a revised timeline, a complex set out factors 
had been considered including the impact of purdah periods for future elections.  
The main proposal set out in Option 2 of the report was to postpone the launch of the 
Regulation 18 until January 21, with final adoption of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 
anticipated in October 2022.  
 
In discussion, members of the subgroup felt that a delay to the timeline was unfortunately 
inevitable in the circumstance and supported option 2 as set out in the report. However, it 
was highlighted by members that the timeline for the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 had to 
continue to take account of, and as much as possible align with the Local Transport and 
Connectivity Plan, (LTCP5).  This was because it was important that there was a 
commonality of evidence and conclusions between the two documents.  It was noted that it 
was considered by Officers that an extension of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 timeline would 
be beneficial to aligning both plans.  
 

Page 112



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Notes - 16 April 2020 

The issue of the relationship with the production of Local Plans by a number of districts 
was also raised and it was noted that this would be considered fully by Officers. 
 
Comment was made that in the context of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050, the Growth Deal, the 
evolving Oxford to Cambridge Arc and the impact of Covid-19, it was an opportunity to 
have an ongoing general dialogue with HM Government around flexibilities and alignments 
to ensure a joined up approach across the system. It was agreed that this could be 
reported back to the subgroup.  
 
It was also suggested that it was possible that there would be wider and longer lasting 
changes to behaviour arising from the Covid-19 emergency, for instance greater 
homeworking and its positive impact on pollution, that had implications for the Oxfordshire 
Plan 2050 and which the sub-group should consider as agenda item. This was agreed for 
a future meeting.  
 
It was agreed that: 
 
1. The sub-group supported the amendment of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 timeline 

subject to appropriate coordination with the Local Transport and Connectivity Plan 5.  
 
2. A report be presented to a future meeting to provide an update on dialogue with HM 

Government around flexibilities and alignments. 
 

3. A report should be presented to a future meeting around any wider implications arising 
from the Covid-19 emergency on the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. 

 

52 Discussion on how to design virtual member briefing sessions  
 
The sub-group held a discussion on how briefings for councillors across the county on the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 might be best be designed to maximise value given that it was 
likely that the opportunity for traditional face to face briefings was likely to be limited in the 
short to medium term.  
 
A range of possible solutions and virtual meeting platforms were discussed. It was 
suggested that as part of the solution, it would be useful to have a facility whereby 
questions from Councillors could be lodged and moderated and answered in real-time.  
This type of option was widely used for webinars and conferences/  
 
Officers indicated they would explore the suggestions made. 
 

53 Update on taking forward last meeting's discussion on the Plan 
Guiding Principles  
 
Rachel Williams updated the sub-group on how the comments and suggestions made by 
members present at the previous meeting, and outside of the meeting, about a draft of the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 guiding principles would be taken into consideration and worked 
through in progressing this piece of work 
 
Members of the sub-group were thanked for this input which had been very useful, and it 
was noted that the principles as presented as circulated would be recirculated to all so that 
councillors not present at the previous meeting could also contribute if they wished to.  
 

Page 113



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Notes - 16 April 2020 

It was clarified that once fully considered and appropriate technical groups consulted; an 
updated version of the principles document would be brought back to the sub-group at the 
earliest opportunity.   
 

54 Future meetings  
 
Thursday 14 May 2020 
 
 

 
 

Page 114



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 sub-group notes - 14 May 2020 

Notes  
OF A MEETING OF THE 

 

Oxfordshire Growth Board Oxfordshire 

Plan 2050 Advisory Sub-Group 
 

HELD ON THURSDAY 14 MAY 2020 AT 10.00 AM 

VIA MS TEAMS  
 

 

Present: 
 
Members: Councillors James Mills (Chair), Colin Clarke, Jeff Haine, Alex Hollingsworth, 
Jeannette Matelot, Anne-Marie Simpson and Catherine Webber 
 
Officers: Lyndsey Bayly, (Oxfordshire Plan 2050), Giles Hughes (West Oxfordshire 
District Council), Kevin Jacob (Oxfordshire Growth Board), Peter Truman, (Oxfordshire 
Plan 2050) and Rachel Willems (Oxfordshire Plan 2050) 
 
 

55 Apologies for absence and notification of substitutes; declarations 
of interest; Chair's announcements  
 
There were no apologies for absence or declarations of interest. 
 
The Chair welcomed Councillor Anne-Marie Simpson to the meeting as the new 
representative of South Oxfordshire District Council. 
 

56 Notes of the previous meeting  
 
The notes of the meeting held on 16 April 2020 were agreed.  
 
It was noted that a revised draft Oxfordshire Plan 2050 guiding principles document was 
included in the current agenda for discussion. 
 

57 Oxfordshire Open Thought launch (including demonstration of 
material and website) Peter Truman (Oxfordshire Plan Team)  
 
Peter Truman, Communications and Engagement Advisor for the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 
Team provided a demonstration of the proposed Oxfordshire Open Thought website and 
the subgroup discussed it and the proposed launch. The following summary points were 
highlighted: 
 

• It was intended that Oxfordshire Open Thought would help bridge the gap between 
previous and future formal consultation engagement by introducing a new and 
innovative and creative form of engagement.  

Page 115



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 sub-group notes - 14 May 2020 

• The website had been structured around the themes of living and working, connectivity 
and climate change. It was designed not to be prescriptive, but to seek to inspire a 
genuine debate about the future of the themes by asking a series of open questions 
and conversation points.  

• The public could contribute via a contact form which would include the ability to upload 
documents and even video contributions. This was not restricted to contributions from 
people or organisations based in Oxfordshire, all contributions were welcomed.  

• The website had been tailored towards academics and expert groups, but all 
responses were welcomed.  

• The weblink would be circulated to the sub-group as soon as possible after launch, (2 
June) and the assistance of sub-group members was sought to publicise it both within 
their home authorities and to the public generally. The link would also be circulated to 
parish councils.  

 
Members of the subgroup welcomed the exercise and the indicative website. In 
discussion, several suggestions were made, and points noted: 
 

• Small business leaders were a useful audience for engagement 

• The site did not have any overt local authority branding and would a member of the 
public be able to understand how the engagement process linked back to their own 
Local or Neighbourhood Plans and existing structures? It was noted that this 
information was available via the ‘About’ section of the website and that it had been 
felt important to create a different look and feel to the website than might have 
otherwise been the case with more traditional local authority consultations.  

• Engagement with young people, particularly considering the closure of schools, 
colleges and universities due to Covid-19. It was acknowledged that the pitch of the 
Open Thought exercise was around 6th form level, and the original intention was to 
launch a linked young person’s exercise.  This is complicated by Covid-19 but this 
could still be launched at a later date.  That exercise will also be shared with sub-
group members before launching.  

• There had been and would be close liaison with the communications teams of the 
Oxfordshire districts, city and county council to publicise the launch and social media 
would be employed. 

 

58 Briefing all Members on the Oxfordshire Growth Needs 
Assessment work (to include a trial of a draft presentation and 
discussion on how to refine it and present it) Lyndsey Bayly 
(Oxfordshire Plan Team)  
 
The sub-group received a briefing on work to develop the Oxfordshire Growth Needs 
Assessment and a draft explanatory presentation which it was intended to present to 
councillors across the county remotely considering the Covid-19 emergency. Lyndsey 
Bayly of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Team presented the item and talked through each of 
the key headings including: 
 

• The requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF); the need to 
develop an Oxfordshire Growth Needs Assessment, (OGNA) as part of the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 process; the challenges of developing such an assessment for 
a spatial plan for a period as far ahead as 2050.  

Page 116



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 sub-group notes - 14 May 2020 

• It was intended that the OGNA would look at a range of possible options and would 
include consideration of contributing strategies such as the Oxfordshire Local 
Industrial Strategy influences such as East West Rail.  

• The OGNA would build on local plans but would not replace them. It did need to be 
able withstand detailed scrutiny in light HM Government regulations. 

• The impact of Covid-19 was not yet clear, but this would need to be considered as 
much as possible.  

• Options around how the presentation might be delivered to councillors within the 
partner councils were being considered including the potential for the presentation to 
be supplied with a common audio track.  Officers from the partners councils had been 
and would continue to be involved as the development of the OGNA progressed.  

 
In discussion, members of the sub-group felt it was important for the impacts of Covid-19 
on the OGNA to be investigated and it was considered that these impacts could be 
potentially significant. The sub-group was informed that the intention was to include some 
initial consultant work, but it was likely that more in depth work would need to take place 
later when impacts of Covid-19 were more known. The view was expressed that it was 
important for there to be breadth of consultants to achieve as wide an analysis as possible.  
 
It was agreed that a map setting out a series of sub-regional functional areas that are 
being used for the OGNA would be circulated outside of the meeting. 
 
In response to a question, the process for the appointment of consultants by the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 team on behalf of all the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 councils was set 
out which included appropriate liaison and discussions with officers within those councils. 
The point was made that it was important for there to be as much transparency as possible 
about this.   
 
The draft presentation was noted.   
 

59 Guiding Principles: further iteration of the work to incorporate 
previous Member sub-group comments and additional officer 
suggestions from all authorities  
 
Rachel Williams presented an updated iteration of a draft document setting out potential 
guiding principles for the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. This reflected consideration of comments 
and suggestions made by members of the sub-group in and following previous meetings.  
 
In discussion, members of the subgroup welcomed the updated document and thanked 
officers for their hard work to get it to this point. A number of additional suggestions for 
further consideration were made: 
 
There was a need for a spatial plan to include how to contribute to equality of opportunity 
as significant inequalities existed within Oxfordshire, some of which had been highlighted 
by the Covid-19 emergency. It was agreed that this could be considered, and that health 
inequality was one such issue, but also issues like access to broadband. There were a 
broad range of inequalities and the aim was included a golden thread linking the positive 
contributions of growth.    
 
Members also highlighted the importance of the provision of affordable housing, 
acknowledging that this had been incorporated into draft principle 2 aimed at improving 
overall health and positively impacting inequalities.  

Page 117



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 sub-group notes - 14 May 2020 

 
The importance of the protection of biodiversity within the principles was emphasised and 
it was noted that it was intended that draft principle 3 relating to countryside and landscape 
and principle 4 relating to enhancing natural capital assets were intended to cover this 
area and work around natural capital work feed into this. Collated information could be 
provided to a later meeting.  
 
Although there was a need for the Oxfordshire Plan to reference partner plans and 
influences such as Thames Water’s proposals for future reservoir provision or East West 
Rail, decisions on these proposals were not within the remit of the Plan. The priority for the 
Oxfordshire Plan was to deliver infrastructure that supported the needs of Oxfordshire’s 
present and future residents.  
 
The revised guiding principles document was noted. 
 

60 Future meetings  
 
Thursday 18 June 2020 
 
 
The meeting closed at 12.00 pm 
 
 

 
 

Page 118



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Notes - 18 June 2020 

Notes 
OF A MEETING OF THE 

 

Oxfordshire Growth Board Oxfordshire 

Plan 2050 Advisory Sub-Group 
 

HELD ON THURSDAY 18 JUNE 2020 AT 10.00 AM 

VIRTUAL MEETING VIA MS TEAMS 
 

 

Present: 
 
Councillors James Mills (Chair), Colin Clarke, Jeff Haine, Alex Hollingsworth,  
Jeannette Matelot, Anne-Marie Simpson and Catherine Webber 
 
Officers: Giles Hughes (West Oxfordshire District Council), Kevin Jacob, Mike Pollard and 
Rachel Williams (Oxfordshire Plan 2050) 
 
 

61 Apologies for absence and notifications of substitutes; 
declarations of interest; Chair's announcements  
 
Councillor Matelot recorded apologies for lateness as she was unable to join the meeting 
until 11:15 because of another meeting commitment and Councillor Clarke indicated he 
would need to leave the meeting prior to its conclusion as he had an additional meeting 
commitment.  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

62 Notes of the previous meeting  
 
The notes of the meeting held on 14 May 2020 were agreed subject to the clarification of 
the 1st sentence of the second paragraph of minute 59, (Guiding Principles) to read, “In 
discussion, notwithstanding that a range of views existed, members of the subgroup 
welcomed the updated document and thanked officers for their hard work to get it this 
point’.  
 
Matters arising: Guiding principles document for the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 
 
Councillors Webber and Simpson referred to additional input they had received in respect 
of the document and climate emergency. After discussion it was agreed that most of its 
July meeting should be devoted to holding a workshop style discussion on climate change 
in the context of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. 
 
 
 
 

Page 119



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Notes - 18 June 2020 

63 Updates from the Growth Board meeting of 2 June  
 
Bev Hindle, Growth Board Director provided the subgroup with a summary of the main 
points arising from the meeting of the Growth Board held on 2 June which had included 
agreement to ask HM Government for an extension in the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 
programme and consideration of the initial impacts of Covid-19 on the Oxfordshire 
Housing and Growth Deal.    
 

64 Presentation on the work to develop a Nature Recovery Network 
for Oxfordshire Mike Pollard - (Wild Oxfordshire)  
 
The subgroup received a detailed presentation from Mike Pollard, of Wild Oxfordshire on 
work to develop a Natural Recovery Network for Oxfordshire.  
 
Members of the subgroup welcomed the presentation commenting that work to establish a 
Natural Recovery Network was important and needed to be progressed promptly with 
some areas of the county experiencing a deficit of green space and infrastructure which 
needed to be addressed. Accurate mapping of natural resources would aid the 
development of spatial planning options. 
 

65 Draft skeleton for the Reg 18 (part 2) Consultation Document for 
discussion  
 
The subgroup considered a 1st draft skeleton document which was intended to set out the 
basic framework for the formal Regulation 18 (part 2) consultation document to be 
published later in 2020. It was stressed to the subgroup that the document was intended to 
help prompt discussion and was not intended to reflect the format of the published 
document. In addition to seeking the subgroups inputs, ongoing discussions were being 
held at technical officer level across the county.  
 
Members of the subgroup made a number of detailed suggestions which Officers noted, 
and it was agreed to revisit the document for further discussion as a future meeting. 
Members of the sub-group were also encouraged to submit any further thoughts or 
suggestions outside of the meeting. 
 

66 Draft letter to Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government re Planning Reforms and the Role of Strategies Planning - 
Bev Hindle Growth Board Director  
 
Bev Hindle, Growth Board Director introduced a 1st draft of a potential letter to the Ministry 
of Housing, Communities and Local Government, (MHCLG) on behalf of the Growth 
Board.  
 
The letter was intended to capture ongoing concerns regarding the suitability of the current 
national assessment regime in respect of strategic and spatial plans, including the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050. It had been informed by recent decisions by the Planning 
Inspectorate in respect of other strategic and spatial plans and was also intended to 
capture Oxfordshire’s emerging ambition in respect of inclusive growth and response to 
the climate emergency.  
 

Page 120



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Notes - 18 June 2020 

Members of the subgroup made a number of suggestions and after further discussion, the 
further development of the letter for further consideration and approval by the Growth 
Board was supported. It was noted that Officer contact with officials within the MHCLG on 
the subject would continue. 
 

67 Spatial Planning Framework - Bev Hindle Growth Board Director  
 
Bev Hindle, Growth Board Director introduced a report which set out the approach being 
taken by the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 team in developing a strategic vision to support the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 and which sought the subgroup’s endorsement of that approach.  
 
In discussion, a number of detailed points and suggestions were made including that it 
was important to be able convey in concise and simple language what was meant by a 
spatial framework or strategic vision. It was agreed to bring an updated version of the 
document back to a future meeting for further discussion and consideration. 
 

68 Future meetings  
 
Thursday 16 July 2020. 
 
 
The meeting closed at 12.00 pm 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 121



This document is strictly in draft form and has not yet 
received formal endorsement.

DRAFT 

Secretary of State Robert Jenrick

Dear Secretary of State,

Planning Reforms and the Role of Strategic Planning 

The 2017 Housing White Paper – Fixing our broken housing market – heralded a new approach to 
strategic planning across local authority boundaries which has since been supported through various 
government announcements and funding allocations. In response to this, Oxfordshire committed in 
its Housing and Growth Deal with Government to the preparation of a joint statutory spatial plan – 
the Oxfordshire Plan 2050.

In common with other areas pursuing this approach, we are aiming to provide a high level, vision-led 
plan to help transform our areas over the next 30 years (and beyond), providing a clearly articulated 
ambition for growth and a robust framework for investment prioritisation.  However, developing this 
Plan against a national policy framework that only recognises the current local planning system has 
proved to be extremely challenging.  For example, Strategic Plans generally cover longer timeframes 
than local plans which present challenges for the level of evidence required as demonstrated in 
recent Inspectors decisions in Essex.

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 has significant support from across our communities and at such a time of 
tremendous upheaval, and opportunity, the case for needing it has never been greater about what 
our future will look like. Our current commitment offers the greatest chance of delivering a long-
term sustainable solution to growth by ensuring that we maximise the strategic opportunities 
available across the wider spatial canvas. However, our members and wider stakeholder community 
are concerned and rightfully so about our ability to deliver due to the lack of any emerging national 
policy support for strategic planning. 

Effective strategic planning can play a significant role in delivering national priorities, especially the 
Government’s ambition for clean growth and the journey to carbon zero. If done properly and with 
the right level of resourcing and government commitment, it could play a major part in the post 
Covid-19 recovery, helping to rebuild investor and public confidence across large areas.

We can offer our insights as to how the system could change to accommodate strategic planning 
whilst also continuing to support local communities and neighbourhood planning and also seek to 
work together with others to find solutions that could apply to other areas currently delivering or 
considering statutory cross boundary strategic plans.  We would welcome an invitation to discuss 
this with you and your officers at the earliest opportunity so that our extensive, combined 
experience can feed into your plans for the Planning White Paper as well as any strategic planning 
related proposals in the anticipated Future Economy (Devolution) White Paper. 

Yours

Cllr Emily Smith Cllr James Mills

Chair Oxfordshire Growth Board Chair OxPlan 2050 Sub Group

Page 122

Agenda Item 7f



www.OxfordshireGrowthBoard.org 

To: Oxfordshire Growth Board

Title of Report: Community Led Housing in Oxfordshire

Date: 28 July 2020

Report of: Growth Deal Executive Officer Group

Status: Open

Executive Summary and Purpose:

The Growth Board will be aware that we received a grant of £36,113 from Homes 
England to commission a study into how we could establish a commissioning and 
development framework to promote Community Led Housing (CLH) in 
Oxfordshire.

The study focusses on the 3 key elements that need to align if CLH is to come 
forward at scale. These elements are:

 Availability of Finance
 Availability of land that CLH groups can access 
 A conducive policy environment and available technical support.

This report introduces the findings of this study to the Board. It offers a review of 
the Oxfordshire CLH landscape, based upon the three areas of consideration and 
proposes draft recommendations for either individual partners or the Growth Board 
to consider. The study also contains case studies which demonstrate actions other 
local authorities are taking and how this is resulting in the CLH sector contributing 
to housing delivery in their areas.

It is intended that the recommendations emerging from this report should be 
refined with input from the Growth Board Scrutiny Panel and following discussion 
at the Growth Board. It is also intended that once recommendations are so 
finessed, that there is commitment to resourcing an ongoing project team drawn 
from across the councils to oversee their development and implementation, 
returning to partner councils or the Growth Board for any necessary authorisations 
as they are developed.

The agreed actions will need to reflect upon the fact that different councils are in a 
different place with CLH, both in terms of policy and with some, for example 
already employing dedicated resources whose role is to facilitate CLH. Officers are 
clear that any recommendations implemented need to add value to the current 
circumstance in the district concerned and will seek to establish flexible set of 
arrangements to ensure that is the case.

Recommendation(s):
1. That the Growth Board note and comment upon the recommendations 

contained in the study

Page 123

Agenda Item 8



2. Ask officers to establish action plans for the recommendations with the 
intention of maximising the utility of Community Led Housing in Oxfordshire 

Appendices: Recommendations of study: Building the Community-led housing Sector 
in Oxfordshire

Background- Community Led Housing in Oxfordshire 

1. Community-Led housing (CLH) is defined by Government as ‘local people 
playing a leading and lasting role in solving local housing problems, creating 
genuinely affordable homes and strong communities in ways that are difficult 
to achieve through mainstream housing’.

2. Essentially, CLH is about new forms of sharing; sharing activities, costs, 
finance, services and risk together rather than at the individual household 
level and, in doing so, creating stronger, more cohesive, communities. In 
Oxfordshire, the historic focus of CLH has primarily been on affordable 
housing, so issues of availability of appropriate finance and land are also 
relevant.

3. The definition of community housing refers to three principles:
i. A requirement that meaningful community engagement and consent 

occurs throughout the process. The community does not necessarily 
have to initiate and manage the development process, or build the 
homes themselves, though some may do.

ii. The local community group or organisation owns, manages or stewards 
the homes and in a manner of their choosing.

iii. A requirement that the benefits to the local area and/or specified 
community must be clearly defined.

4. In England, the main bodies delivering CLH are Co-operatives, Co-housing 
and Community Land Trusts (CLTs), the first two of which are constituted for 
the benefit of their membership and the latter to a wider community of benefit. 
This study focussed upon the last of these, CLTs.
 

5. Community Led Housing is not new to Oxfordshire. The CLH scheme at 
Stonesfield Housing Trust is the oldest such scheme in the country and has 
long been a model upon which other schemes have built, however since this 
only a small number of CLT have developed.

6. In recent years Oxfordshire Community Land Trust and Oxford Cohousing 
have been working with councils and Registered Providers (RPs) to find the 
finance and land to deliver their vision for CLH, aided by the introduction by 
government of the Community Housing Fund in 2018.

Page 124



7. The current pipeline of community led housing schemes in Oxfordshire is:

Group Stage Site Numbers Likely 
Completion 

Oxfordshire 
CLT 

Planning 
secured 

Dean Court, 
Botley 

8 affordable 2021 

Hook Norton 
CLT 

Planning 
application 
submitted 

The Bourne 8 affordable 
4 market 

2022

Thame CLT Site secured Thame 30 
affordable 

2023 

Oxford 
Cohousing 

Site appraisal, 
including pre- 
planning 

Oxford City 
Sites 

30 mixed 
tenure 

2023 

TOTAL 80 NEW HOMES

8. In addition, there are now 15 further other groups or local communities in 
Oxfordshire who have indicated an interest in taking forward a CLH project if 
land, funding and support were available.
 

Benefits of Community Led Housing

9. In recent times CLH has found favour with government, hence the 
establishment of the Community Housing Fund in 2016. 

10.The reasons for this support for CLH are broadly because:

      it promotes diversity in the housing development industry by offering 
opportunity to small scale developers and SME builders

 it is developed by the local community for an identified local need and 
consequently it can achieve a level of community support where other 
developments might struggle. 

 it can often be small scale to meet that need and operate at a pace that 
mainstream developers would not be able to manage. It can therefore 
be attuned to small scale infill developments on parcels of land that 
may not otherwise attract developer interest.

 it is bespoke and can therefore be attuned to local priorities- for 
example designs that complement the locality, or to meet locally agreed 
priorities such as Modern Methods of Construction (MMC), zero carbon 
or Passivehaus standards.

Challenges to Delivery of Community Led Housing

11.Despite the above benefits and there being an obvious place in the housing 
delivery framework for CLH due to its ability to operate and develop where 
others may not be successful, its history, both nationally and locally shows 
that it faces significant barriers to being able to scale up.

Page 125



12.The study’s primary focus was to examine what these barriers might be in 
Oxfordshire and to offer recommendations as to how these could be 
overcome. It built upon a similar study commissioned by Oxford last year and 
there are similarities between the recommendations of the two studies, albeit 
Oxford’s was framed in an urban context.

13.The challenges and proposals to overcome the barriers to a scale up of CLH 
were considered under the three headings. These are availability of finance, 
land and a conducive policy environment and technical support, and are 
summarised below.

Availability of Finance

14.The report highlights that availability of finance is the single biggest challenge 
for CLH. It notes that although there are potential funders for CLH, each 
funding route poses challenges.

15.The biggest challenge is the cessation of the government’s Community 
Housing Fund, which ended in March 2020. This fund, although national and 
therefore limited, has assisted Oxfordshire to take a step forward in CLH 
delivery since its inception. 

16.Officers were hoping that the fund would be extended and were awaiting 
detail following the budget announcement of the Affordable Housing 
Programme, but this has been put on hold by the COVID crisis and there must 
now be a shadow of doubt cast over its future as government priorities turn to 
economic recovery.

17.CLH are also able to access capital finance through Homes England’s 
Affordable Housing Programme although this requires the CLH to be both 
owned and managed by a RP. 

18.The Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Affordable Housing programme 
(OAHP) also funds CLH and has different restrictions from Homes England’s 
funding, requiring only that the properties are managed by an RP. This opens 
the possibility for the housing to be in non-RP community ownership and 
manged under a contract by an RP. This arrangement means that several of 
the schemes listed in paragraph 7 are actively looking at the OAHP as funding 
option and included in our current programme.

19.Looking to the future, one possibility to explore should there be an extension 
to the current OAHP, could be the prioritisation of CLH in any funding 
structure for housing to further promote take up. 

20.Outside of these public finance arrangements, there are options for funding 
from the private finance markets, however they also present challenges, 
summarised as follows:

 The landscape for funding is complex and convoluted- Securing 
funding for a project often involves groups having to make applications 
to multiple funders and combine finance. This lack of a single financial 
pathway for groups is a major impediment to successful delivery of 
schemes, many of whom do not automatically have the expertise 
necessary to navigate such a pathway.

Page 126



 Lack of long-term certainty-many of the sources of funds are not 
guaranteed across the whole development cycle and have limited life 
spans, which makes it difficult for groups to plan with certainty and 
demonstrate credibility for landowners. 

 Excess demand – the lending market has limited depth, which means 
schemes may meet the financial criteria for successful funding but be 
crowded out by competition from other projects.

 Lack of dedicated funding for land acquisitions: there is a clear gap 
in the funding landscape to assist groups acquiring sites.  Groups 
struggle in land purchase negotiations to either show financial capacity 
to prospective land sellers or to make unconditional bids. 

 Costs of funding are relatively high: the cost of investment finance 
to groups is often perceived to be relatively high, particularly when 
considered against objectives of delivering affordable housing units.

Potential solutions
21.Because of the points above, facilitating an appropriate finance pathway is a 

major recommendation of the study. The study says this could take the form 
of direct intervention, for example grant funding or borrowing by councils 
being made available to CLHs at a margin, or by indirect interventions that 
seek to draw CLH into partnerships with, for example RPs to assist them to 
access the necessary financial power and expertise to develop.

22.The study concludes that whichever route is taken, and they are not mutually 
exclusive, Councils should seek to ensure that an appropriate single source of 
finance is available for the entire development pathway, including for example 
‘soft’ grants to enable the procurement of professional advice that are 
repayable should be scheme move to completion; alongside capital finance to 
buy land and develop. 

23.There are several councils that already have such facilities highlighted in the 
study. For example, Cornwall council has a two-tier scheme with grant finance 
available for start-up and a larger loan fund to fund land acquisition and 
development costs.

24.Officers recognise the importance of these recommendations but are also 
aware that, however attractive these recommendations may be, they come at 
a time of increased pressure upon the public purse. Accordingly, officer’s 
attention will be on facilitating appropriate finance for CLH, perhaps for 
example using public sector borrowing from councils that is then lent-on at a 
margin to a CLH at a rate that is still attractive when compared to private 
finance.

25.This arrangement could then open the possibility that the margin earned by 
councils could then be used to facilitate CLH access to professional expertise, 
discussed in the section on- A Conducive Policy Environment and Available 
Technical Support.

Availability of Land 

26.The availability of appropriate land is a challenge to all development and CLH 
is no exception.
 

Page 127



27.Officers believe however that CLH also offer us an opportunity to maximise 
the utility of available developable land. This is because CLH, as community 
focused organisations have a smaller pool of land local to their community to 
consider. Consequently, they will often consider sites that other developers 
will not look at, because of for example its size, position or access issues.

28.This kind of infill development has advantages for Oxfordshire as we seek the 
most effective way to accommodate future growth, but it also poses a set of 
challenges for the planning authority that this report will consider in a later 
section.

29.Aside from planning challenges, the other challenges for CLT are the timely 
identification of sites and being able to convince landowners that they are a 
serious proposition.

30.Clearly key to demonstrating that the CLT is a serious option to a landowner 
is tied up with the availability of finance, discussed above but the study 
highlights other opportunities to support CLH as being:

 Enabling groups to connect with landowners who may be prepared to 
consider CLH as a development option.

 Acquiring and de-risking sites so they are available for CLH- an 
example of this, albeit directed at self-build, is Graven Hill.

 Prioritising CLH in public sector land disposal- recognising the potential 
revenue implications of this.

Potential solutions

31.The report recommends that councils should consider:

 Publicising and promoting CLH as a preferred development option.
 Establishing partnerships with relevant landowners.
 Establishing a database of potential sites
 Promoting CLH when considering disposal of public land for housing 

and examining whether a social value method could be applied to 
disposal to facilitate this.

 Acquiring and de-risking sites for CLH development – the study offers 
Graven Hill in Bicester as one such example locally 

A conducive policy environment and available technical support

A conducive policy environment

32.The study correctly highlights that access to land and finance as the key 
issues which constrain CLH activity. However, what often makes often these 
barriers more challenging is a lack of relevant skills and knowledge to address 
the barriers, and a lack of a policy environment that would enable CLH.

33.Hence, the study concludes, if CLH is to grow across Oxfordshire there is a 
need for a policy and political environment that shifts the balance in favour of 
CLH, alongside strong systems of support for groups. 

34.The study notes that in recent years, as the number of CLH groups has grown 
nationally, some local authorities have started to attune their policies to 

Page 128



support this activity, through for example planning policies, housing strategies, 
asset management plans or other policy instruments.

35.This trend is evident in Oxfordshire where for example Oxford City’s emerging 
Local Plan sets out the intention that, on sites of 50 or over units, a total five 
percent will be made available for self-build. Alongside this a recent draft 
policy paper on self-build and CLH seeks to align policy for these two forms of 
development. Similarly, WODC has a policy within the local plan for 5% CLH 
on all developments over 100 homes.

36.Certain district authorities are investing significant resource in neighbourhood 
planning. The process provides specific opportunities and powers for local 
communities to develop housing through CLH models. Several 
neighbourhood plans in the county have stated a desire to do this.

37.Despite these signs of policy support, awareness within some Oxfordshire 
councils and other housing providers about what CLH is, and how it can be 
supported, is perceived by the study to be relatively low and whilst there are 
signs that officers and members are engaging with this rapidly developing 
sector, particularly in Oxford and WODC, the study concludes that this is not 
universal.

38.The study also notes that whilst there are positive signs that local authorities 
are developing policies to support CLH. There is a risk of developing diverse 
policy environments that mean the policy landscape is made more complex 
across the county, with a risk that CLH will progress better in some districts 
than others.

39.Accordingly, the study recommends that one role the Growth Board could play 
as a policy champion for CLH is to facilitate a deeper discussion about how 
CLH could be supported through councils’ policies, both planning and 
otherwise and draw together a countywide picture and ambition for this, 
leading to an alignment of policy and support that is common across the 
county.

40.Officers note and agree with this recommendation. However, noting that there 
are limitations to what planning policy can achieve to promote CLH, when the 
central principle of CLH is that it is community owned and as such not directly 
related to the key planning issues of design and quality of the built 
environment.

Available technical support
41.There is an existing framework of technical support for CLH in Oxfordshire. 

For example, the Oxfordshire Community Land Trust, formed in 2006, has 
working on identifying sites, and developing potential housing schemes for 
several years, whilst also exploring potential funding mechanisms to address 
the need for more capital funding for CLH schemes.

42.More recently, the Collaborative Housing hub (the CoHo Hub) now provides 
enabling support to groups across the Thames Valley. The Hub has dedicated 

Page 129



staff, which includes associate advisors with development expertise. They are 
currently providing enabling support to four projects which are advancing 
beyond the group formation stage to site acquisition and development. The 
hub plans to support a total of 30 groups over five years, drawing on existing 
resources secured through the CHF enabler hub grant, and securing revenue 
from projects either in the form of consultancy fees, or payments deferred until 
the completion of schemes.

43.Whilst these two organisations provide the platform for enabling work across 
Oxfordshire, the study concludes that more work is needed to solidify and 
expand their offer. For example, the CoHo Hub operates across Thames 
Valley and so its ability to offer in-depth support to any one group is limited.

44.The study recommends therefore that the Growth Board consider how an 
appropriate framework of technical support, using these existing resources 
could be supported by councils.

45.One avenue to explore highlighted in the study is the role for Registered 
Providers (RPs). Public funding for CLH from Government is predicated upon 
the organisation that both owns and manages the housing being a RP whilst 
the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal, which is a more flexible funding 
regime from a CLH perspective, also requires the properties to be manged by 
a RP. The study notes the need for RP status for developing and/or managing 
CLH if it wishes to draw down public finance and given this requirement and 
challenges faced by CLTs from the administrative burden of becoming an RP, 
proposes that further work be undertaken to understand how existing RPs can 
assist with CLH developments.

46.The study concludes that the possibility of a stronger partnership role for 
existing RPs is one area that should be explored alongside consideration of 
an expanded role for the existing support groups. However, the study also 
concludes that it is not yet clear whether existing RPs really want to play a 
significant role in the delivery of CLH homes and if they do wish to form 
partnerships with CLTs, what that would mean for the independence and local 
focus of the CLT concerned, and what the role of local authorities in 
facilitating these partnerships might be.

47.The Board will note that the recommendations suggest that this matter be 
explored with relevant RPs and officers have started to engage with key local 
RPs on this subject, in advance of a proposed workshop with RP 
representatives later this year- COVID restrictions allowing.

Recommendations and Conclusions
48.The Board will note that the study has achieved its aims of offering a wide-

ranging overview of the opportunities and challenges for CLH in Oxfordshire. 
The study demonstrates that Oxfordshire has an opportunity to scale up CLH, 
but that this will bring both financial challenges and require a reorientation of 
the level of policy and technical support such community groups will need to 
realise their ambitions.

Page 130



49.The recommendations of the report cover the three areas of review 
highlighted in this report and offer the Board a set of proposals that it believes 
would elevate CLH Oxfordshire and ensure that we would be able to 
maximise the utility of CLH. Almost all the recommendations across the three 
strands of support are aimed at facilitating and simplifying, so that groups can 
move more easily from the point of initial ambitions to a focussed deliverable 
project.
  

50.As with any overview the study’s recommendations are initial, and this report 
invites the Board to comment upon them and support them as appropriate as 
areas for further work by the Project Team, under the authority of the Growth 
Deal programme Board.

51.The next steps, should the Board so wish, is that the team of officers drawn 
from across the councils that have commissioned the study will examine the 
proposed actions and offer a view as to their applicability to Oxfordshire. This 
done they establish action plans for the recommendations, referring key 
decisions to the Programme Board and Growth Board as appropriate.

Financial Implications

52.There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. It is 
intended that further work on developing the actions from the 
recommendations will be drawn from existing officer resources and any 
financial implications arising from that work will be considered at that stage.

Legal Implications 

53.There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. Any legal 
implications arising from further development of the draft recommendations 
will be considered at that stage.

Background Paper(s)
54.Building the Community-led housing Sector in Oxfordshire

Report Author: Paul Staines, Growth Deal Service Delivery Manager 
(housing)

Contact information: paul.staines@oxfordshire.gov.uk

Page 131

mailto:paul.staines@oxfordshire.gov.uk


www.OxfordshireGrowthBoard.org 

Appendix One- Draft recommendations

                                                         AVAILABILITY OF FINANCE

No Recommendation Key Actions  and comments Priority Resources required 
Consider establishing either a CLH-
focussed grant or ‘soft loan’ fund to 
support set up and pre -development 
costs for community led housing. Soft 
loans are where a loan will be repaid if a 
group is successful but would convert to 
a grant if a scheme fails. Due to the early 
stages of most groups in Oxfordshire, 
this early stage funding is required to 
fund gaps in the provision of national 
funding. 

Both the Growth deal project team and 
individual local authorities to investigate setting 
up a funding framework and potential sources 
of both capital and revenue funding for CLH. 
This is critical in the context of current 
uncertainty about national funding availability 
for CLH.

This framework will need to be focused upon a 
self-sustaining model given likely public sector 
finance restrictions 

HIGH

The project team will 
progress this action, but it 
will require specialist 
finance and legal 
resources to develop a 
framework for 
consideration

 

Consider establishing a revolving loan 
fund which can support land purchase 
and, if possible, capital development 
costs. As the demand on this is 
envisaged to be relatively modest at this 
stage, this could be a pilot trialled on a 
case by case basis. 

As above 

HIGH

          

          As above 

Consider gap funding directly for the hub 
if a pipeline of schemes is in progress but 
central government grant funding is 
exhausted. 

The hub’s sustainable business plan is that the 
pipeline of schemes will generate fees to 
continue to pay for hub operations. However, 
in the event of a gap between income coming 
in and grant being spent the hub may require 
bridging funds

 

MEDIUM Would require LA funding. 

P
age 132



AVAILABILITY OF LAND- THAT CLH GROUPS CAN ACCESS

No Recommendation Key Actions  and comments Priority Resources required 
Consider legal advice and best practice 
on the disposal of land for housing under 
market value where other social benefits 
can be achieved. 

Study suggests that this is a particular issue 
where the council is not a housing authority.

Individual authorities to review and progress. 
Perhaps with central support 

MEDIUM

This work is likely to 
require additional legal 
and finance resourcing. 
Either within individual 
councils and/or centrally if 
a coordination role is 
envisaged 

Consider the establishment of a process 
to support the identification and release 
of land opportunities for CLH. 

Local authorities to consider capacity and 
resources for investigating land opportunities. 
Potential for joint work with CoHo Hub to 
develop a process/flowchart for how site 
opportunities can be appraised and to 
matchmake sites with community led housing 
groups. Any such collaborative process needs 
to clearly determine the respective roles and 
responsibilities of each party.

MEDIUM For individual authorities to 
determine.

Identify ways of reaching landowners/ 
land agents through existing networks 
and forums. 

Local authorities to consider how best to 
promote community led housing to landowners 
and land agents. Potential for joint working 
between CoHo Hub and local authorities to 
build knowledge of landowners and develop a 
database of landowners.  

MEDIUM
CoHo Hub support can be 
provided within existing 
resources. 

Consider the possibilities of a strategic 
approach to securing land through 
partnership working with Homes England 
and other landowners.

For review by local authorities as part of 
partnership arrangements with HE. MEDIUM

Can be done within 
existing resources

A CONDUCIVE POLICY ENVIRONMENT AND AVAILABLE TECHNICAL SUPPORT
3. Gauge appetite among local Registered 

Providers to understand how they can 
play a key role in assisting with the scale 
up of CLH.

An initial training session is being planned by 
CoHo Hub for RPs later in 2020 which will help 
to both scope and determine interest amongst 
local providers. For review following this 
session.

HIGH
The CoHo Hub is carrying 
out this work within its 
current resources and the 
project team will input into 
this work. 

Consider whether/how community led 
housing could be appropriately reflected 
within the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 and/or 
Local Plans.
    

Growth Deal Project Team to progress 
discussions WITH 2050 Plan Team. 

HIGH Can be done within 
existing resources.

6. Provision of signposting support for CLH 
groups requiring professional external 
advice

Local authorities to develop a system to 
signpost groups requiring additional external 
advice to independent, not-for-profit 
organisations alongside key partners  

MEDIUM
Can be done within        
existing resources.

P
age 133



No Recommendation Key Actions and comments Priority Resources required 
7. Consider how policies to encourage or 

promote CLH can be developed, for 
example, through SPDs/ Area Action 
plans or other strategies.

Local authorities to reflect on best options for 
progressing this work. With a view to 
developing a standardised approach to 
promote a common policy landscape 

HIGH May require additional 
resourcing. 

8. 
Consider how planning departments can 
best facilitate planning discussions with 
community led housing groups, for 
example through early-stage advice. 

Local authorities to consider training and 
awareness-raising to support CLH within 
planning departments. 

MEDIUM
External training would 
require additional 
resource. 

9. Greater consideration of the role of 
neighbourhood planning at local authority 
level to ensure groups are aware and 
consider community led housing for their 
plan area. 

                      As above MEDIUM
External training would 
require additional 
resource.

OTHER
12.  Consider the appointment of a political 

champion for each local authority. For 
example, a named Councillor who would 
take responsibility for understanding and 
promoting CLH in their District.

Local Authorities to consider and progress 
internally as necessary. MEDIUM

Can be done within 
existing resources.

13 Consider setting Oxfordshire ambitions 
for the number of CLH homes to be 
delivered. 

Growth Deal core team and local authorities to 
jointly reflect on the possibility for a strategic 
target for CLH.
 

MEDIUM
Can be done within 
existing resources.

P
age 134



 

 

 

 

 

Building the Community-led 
housing Sector in Oxfordshire 
 
A report for the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal  

March 2020 

  

P
age 135



 

Accreditation 

This report was commissioned by the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 

Deal and funded by Homes England’s Community Housing Fund.  

The report was undertaken by the Collaborative Housing Hub and should 

be referenced as ‘Collaborative Housing (2020) Building the Community-

led housing Sector in Oxfordshire’. 

  

P
age 136



 

Table of Contents 

Executive Summary 

1. Introduction ...................................................................................... 1 

2. Background ....................................................................................... 2 

3. Supporting Community-led housing through Financial Interventions .. 4 

Sources of Funding .................................................................................. 4 

Funding Landscape Review ..................................................................... 9 

Implications of the Funding Landscape ................................................. 11 

Potential Solutions and Best Practice Examples .................................... 13 

Direct Interventions............................................................................... 14 

Indirect Interventions ............................................................................ 16 

4. Bringing Forward a Land Supply for Community-led housing ............ 19 

Elements for consideration in identifying suitable land for community-

led housing ............................................................................................ 19 

Potential archetypes for community-led housing ................................. 25 

Two further routes to consider ............................................................. 31 

Identified Barriers, Challenges, Opportunities and Benefits.................. 32 

5. Creating a conducive environment and effective support systems ... 34 

How to support the growth of CLH: Lessons from across England ........ 34 

The current policy and political environment in Oxfordshire ................ 37 

The current system of support for groups in Oxfordshire ..................... 39 

6. Recommendations .......................................................................... 41 

List of Contributors ................................................................................. 44 

 

  

P
age 137



 

Executive Summary 

This report analyses the current barriers and opportunities for growing the 

delivery of community-led housing (CLH) in Oxfordshire.  

The report recognises community-led housing as offering affordable 

housing with additional benefits for residents and the wider community. 

By definition, the delivery of community-led housing requires meaningful 

community engagement and consent throughout the process; the 

ownership, management or stewardship of the homes by the community; 

and clearly defined benefits to the local area and/or community.  

Despite high levels of housing growth across Oxfordshire and years of 

dedicated work by volunteers, community-led housing has, until now, only 

delivered a small number of schemes in the county. There is, however, a 

growing recognition of the role CLH can play in addressing local housing 

needs. As this report shows, there is currently a pipeline of 80 new homes 

in development across Oxfordshire and many more groups and 

communities interested in taking projects forward with access to the right 

support. This step change in development has been brought about 

primarily through access to funding through the national Homes England 

Community Housing Fund and a growing network of support for groups at 

a national level. However, if growth is to be scaled up and become a 

mainstream sector in housing delivery more needs to be done to support 

this.  

The report examines a range of potential interventions aimed at 

supporting the growth of the CLH sector within Oxfordshire. The report is 

organised around three key interconnected elements that are vital to the 

scaling-up of CLH provision in Oxfordshire: 

1. Access to funding 

2. A supply of land that CLH groups can access 

3. Policy and technical support. 

Access to funding  

The Homes England Community Housing Fund introduced in 2018 has 

made a significant difference to the delivery of community-led housing, 

with 80 homes currently in the development pipeline in Oxfordshire. This 

fund has now closed, and it is unclear at this stage whether the 

programme may be renewed. 

Whilst there are still some funding routes for CLH groups, pre-

development (up to planning permission) funding is particularly difficult to 

obtain and a sustainable source of support is vital if the growth seen in the 

last 18 months is going to continue.  

This report highlights various local approaches for consideration, drawing 

on examples from other local authority areas where community-led 

housing is now delivering in significant numbers. It identifies and argues 

for a local grant or ‘soft-loan’ fund to support pre-development costs and 

a local revolving loan fund to support capital development costs as key 

finance recommendations. As well as direct funding finance can also be 

supported through development partnerships, with registered providers 

and others and through the de-risking of sites at a strategic level.  

Access to land  

There are a number of barriers to CLH groups accessing land on the open 

markets including cost, competition and financing. Community-led housing 

schemes can nevertheless improve on what can be achieved through 

traditional development routes by building to increased densities, 

achieving a lower carbon footprint and collaborating with local 

communities. 

This report shows how barriers can be overcome through strong 

knowledge of potential land opportunities. In particular, it advocates the 

use of specific land archetypes as a means for delivering CLH at scale. This 

P
age 138



 

requires a more strategic approach to buying land at scale and sets out the 

following recommendations for tackling these challenges:  

• To consider legal advice and best practice for the disposal of land 

for housing under market value 

• To consider the establishment of a process to support the 

identification and release of land opportunities for CLH 

• To identify ways of reaching landowners/ land agents through 

existing networks and forums 

• To consider the possibilities of a strategic approach to securing 

land through partnership working with Homes England and other 

landowners 

Building a supportive enabling environment  

In recent years, as the number of CLH groups has grown, Oxfordshire local 

authorities have started to attune their policies to support this activity. In 

2019, Collaborative Housing was established as the community-led 

support hub for the Thames Valley. The hub provides the full range of 

technical support needed for groups from an initial idea through to a 

finished and occupied development. With this now in place the enabling 

environment can be enhanced through planning policy and processes. 

This report identifies a range of best practice policy options from around 

the UK for review. It also shows that there is a need for the policy and 

political environments, including at a strategic level, to develop in mutual 

support of CLH and for a strong system of technical support to continue to 

be available to groups.  

Key recommendations in this section focus on: provision of signposting 

support for groups; consideration of the most appropriate forms of early-

stage planning advice; whether CLH could be appropriately reflected 

within neighbourhood planning, Local Plans or the Oxfordshire Plan 2050; 

and the identification of supportive development partners, such as 

registered providers, to share risk. Reflection too, on the possibility of 

political champions, responsible for promoting CLH within each local 

authority.  

The full list of recommendations alongside key actions and resources 

required can be found in section five.  

 

P
age 139



Page 1 of 47 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1. Collaborative Housing or CoHo Hub (the community-led housing 
hub for the Thames Valley) was commissioned by the Oxfordshire 
Growth Board to undertake a research project about how 
community-led housing could support the ambitions for housing 
growth and particularly the delivery of affordable housing in 
Oxfordshire. 

1.2. This work has been funded through the Homes England 
Community Housing Fund.  

1.3. The report has been conducted drawing on desk-based research 
and interviews with landholders, lenders, local authorities (LA’s) 
and community-led housing groups.  

1.4. The interim findings of this work were then tested at a 
stakeholder workshop attended by the Growth Deal core team, 
representatives from all six Oxfordshire local authorities including 
officers from housing, planning and finance teams and Homes 
England. This workshop, held in February 2020, helped shape the 
recommendations of the report based on the research findings.  

1.5. Community-led housing is defined by government as ‘local people 
playing a leading and lasting role in solving local housing 
problems, creating genuinely affordable homes and strong 
communities in ways that are difficult to achieve through 
mainstream housing. It involves new forms of sharing; sharing 
activities, costs, finance, services and risk together rather than at 
the individual household level and, in doing so, it seeks to create 
stronger, more cohesive, communities. In Oxfordshire, the focus 
is primarily on affordability and so re-imagining finance and land 
systems also come to the fore. 

1.6. The definition of community housing refers to three principles: 

• A requirement that meaningful community engagement and 
consent occurs throughout the process. The community 
does not necessarily have to initiate and manage the 
development process, or build the homes themselves, 
though some may do; 

• The local community group or organisation owns, manages 
or stewards the homes and in a manner of their choosing; 

• A requirement that the benefits to the local area and/or 
specified community must be clearly defined. 
 

1.7. In England, the key identity mechanisms for CLH are dominated 
by Co-operatives, Cohousing and Community Land Trusts (CLTs), 
the former of which is constituted for the benefit of their 
membership and the latter to a wider community of benefit. 
These mechanisms are not mutually exclusive. 

1.8. This report seeks to build on the Routes to Delivery report 
commissioned by Oxford City Council and launched in January 
2020. This report, also completed by the CoHo Hub, sets out the 
benefits of community-led housing and delivery within Oxford 
City itself.  

1.9. Community-led housing will be referred to as CLH throughout this 
report.  

 

 

 

  

P
age 140



Page 2 of 47 

2. Background 

 

2.1. Whilst Oxfordshire as a whole has experienced high levels of 

housing growth, there is a perception that many local 

communities have often felt they have little control over the 

housing delivered and that it fails to meet the needs of the 

people in need of housing within their community. As a response 

there has been a growing interest across the county in 

communities directly providing the housing that could help meet 

local needs.  

2.2. To date, Oxfordshire has seen only a small number of CLH 

schemes developed. These are Stonesfield Community Land Trust 

and two housing co-operatives in Oxford City, Kindling and 

Dragonfly, which provide shared housing. Stonesfield CLT is one 

of the oldest community land trusts in the UK and owns and 

manages 15 homes in West Oxfordshire. However, Oxfordshire 

Community Land Trust and Oxford Cohousing have been working 

for many years to find the finance and land to deliver their vision 

for new housing.  

2.3. Since the introduction of the Community Housing Fund in 2018, 
the pipeline of community-led housing schemes in Oxfordshire has 
increased rapidly as shown in Table 1,  

2.4. In addition, there are now other groups which have either formed 
and incorporated or have expressed an interest in community-led 
housing. Collaborative Housing is in contact with around 15 groups 
or local communities in Oxfordshire who might take forward a 
project if land, funding and support were available.  

Table 1 – CLH pipeline since 2018 

Group  Stage  Site  Likely 
Completion  

Numbers  

Oxfordshire 
CLT  

Planning secured  Dean 
Court, 
Botley  

2021 8 affordable  

Hook Norton 
CLT  

Planning application 
submitted  

The 
Bourne  

2022 10 
affordable  

2 market  

Thame CLT  Site secured  Thame  2023 30 
affordable  

Oxford 
Cohousing  

Site appraisal, including 
pre- planning  

Oxford 
City Sites  

2023 30 mixed 
tenure  

  TOTAL NEW HOMES 80 

 

2.5. As well as an analysis of the community-led housing environment 
in Oxfordshire and of good practice across England, the 
stakeholder event held in February 2020, gave an opportunity for 
staff across departments at all six local authorities together with 
representatives from Homes England to give their views. The key 
messages from this have been incorporated in the relevant 
chapters of the report. 

  

P
age 141

https://www.oclt.org.uk/
https://www.oclt.org.uk/
https://www.oxfordcohousing.org.uk/


Page 3 of 47 

2.6. The purpose of this research is to make recommendations to the 
Growth Board as to how it might be able to support a step change 
in the development and delivery of community-led housing within 
Oxfordshire. This research will focus on these three key elements 
of funding mechanisms, land supply and technical support to 
consider how community-led housing can become a strong part of 
housing delivery in Oxfordshire  

  

P
age 142



Page 4 of 47 

3. Supporting Community-led housing through 

Financial Interventions  

 

Sources of Funding 

3.1. There are a number of different sources of funds that groups 

have used to help progress housing projects. The following details 

the major funding options available across England in the form of 

grants and loans that, in the absence of any additional 

Oxfordshire-specific funding streams, are typically the most 

important for CLH groups within the County. 

Grants 

3.2. Big Lottery Awards for All: small grants of up to £10,000 as part of 

wider funding for voluntary and community organisations. 

Principally used by groups as part of the Group stage for start-up 

costs 

3.3. Community Led Homes Start Up Grants: grants up to £10,000 for 

start-up costs, including initial advice, legal incorporation costs as 

well as initial advice from the local enabling hub and other 

professionals.  

3.4. Community Housing Fund: the principal source of funding 

support by government to community-led housing, administered 

by Homes England/ GLA. The current £163m grant programme 

closed in March 2020 and the possibility of a successor fund 

being introduced is uncertain.  

The current programme has both revenue and capital elements 

for groups which are constituted as a body corporate. The 

revenue element focuses on providing grant support to groups 

for project-specific costs, including, for example, community 

group capacity-building, seed-corn funding to get started; 

project-specific professional fees and costs, such as feasibility and 

design work; and planning applications, business planning and 

project management.  

A requirement of the grant is that ten percent of costs come from 

an alternative funding source, and grant payments are made in 

arrears. Capital funding is provided through the Shared 

Ownership and Affordable Homes Programme (SOAHP). Groups 

can apply for capital grant for units that represent additionality to 

any section 106 allocation, although the programme requires that 

long-term affordable rented units are both owned and managed 

by a registered provider (RP), which can be a significant barrier 

for CLH groups. 

3.5. Oxfordshire Growth Deal Affordable Housing Programme (OAHP): 

the OAHP is also a funding source for community-led housing. It 

has certain advantages over the SOAHP in that it does not require 

a RP to both own and manage the properties, merely requiring an 

RP to manage them thus leaving community groups which do not 

wish to pursue RP status to develop and own the properties and 

then seek a management arrangement with an RP. The 

programme also pays 90% of grant upon completion of 

contractual start on site so almost all the grant is paid before any 

ground or development works are required which can assist CLT 

with cash flow. However, the grant rates are fixed and are proving 

to not be those that can be sought through SOAHP 

P
age 143



Page 5 of 47 

 

3.6. Power to Change Homes in Community Hands Programme: £10m 

grant programme to provide revenue grants of on average 

£50,000 (up to £100,000) to cover feasibility work, pre-planning 

work and post planning costs to get ready for on site. There is a 

focus on five geographic regions (Leeds City Region, Liverpool City 

Region, Tees Valley City Region, the West of England and the 

West Midlands metropolitan county). Applications from other 

areas will be considered on merit. The Programme will also 

support small number of projects (approximately six) with capital 

contribution to securing option on land (average £25,000 grant). 

The programme runs to Dec 2021.  

 

Since Power to Change is a spend down foundation, there is 

limited expectation that the programme will extend beyond this 

date without a decision of further funding to the foundation. 

3.7. Crowdfunding: several schemes have used crowdfunding to 

source initial monies to establish groups, either in the form of 

collecting donations or by entering into a joint funding 

arrangement between members. This is separate from the more 

formal, Financial Conduct Authority regulated activity of issuing 

community shares. 

3.8. Section 106/ Right to Buy receipts: section 106 sites, section 106 

commuted sums and Right to Buy receipts allocated by councils 

have been used by the CLH sector as a source of grant funding in 

several local authority areas, with examples of non-RP groups as 

well as RP registered groups benefiting from funds. 

3.9. Ad hoc grants from supportive foundations: several charitable 

foundations have provided ad hoc grants to CLH groups for 

projects, with the most active national organisations historically 

having been the Nationwide Foundation, Tudor Trust, Esmée 

Fairbairn and Barrow Cadbury Trust. 

3.10. “Sweat equity”: most groups rely heavily on a cadre of committed 

individuals who provide time and expertise often for no-payment. 

This form of sweat equity is significant particularly in the early 

stages of establishing groups, determining local housing priorities 

and identifying potential sites. 

3.11. Risk Capital Internal Resources: some CLH groups are lucky 

enough to have built an unencumbered asset base arising from 

previous development activity or from related activities. These 

have been used by these groups to act as the risk capital for 

future development, with Glendale Gateway Trust in 

Northumberland a good example – the organisation was able to 

use its initial endowment of £2.5m to fund the costs of converting 

a building into affordable accommodation. 

3.12. Joint Venture Partners:  

• Registered providers: a significant proportion of successful 

CLH development has been in partnership. The vast majority 

of these partnerships have been with housing associations. 

The nature of these partnerships varies, but often sees the 

CLH group entering into a development agreement with an 

RP, with the CLH group receiving freehold interest including 

ground rent, and the RP owning the resulting property on a 

long lease of up to 200 years. In these arrangements the RP 

often provides the risk capital from its own reserves as well 

as providing secured borrowing to acquire a site, take the 

scheme through planning and undertake construction.  

P
age 144

https://www.glendalegatewaytrust.org/


Page 6 of 47 

• Development partners: other CLH groups have entered into 

partnership with supportive developers which in turn have 

access to development finance. These partners include 

socially motivated private organisations (for example Igloo 

Regeneration), local authority trading companies (such as 

Palace Green Homes in East Cambridgeshire), and charitable 

organisations (such as Bioregional Homes).  

• Resonance: an alternative partner is the social sector finance 

fund manager, Resonance, which is in the process of 

launching a new fund that will provide both risk finance and 

secured lending to groups looking to develop income 

generating assets, particularly housing, sports and leisure 

and renewable energy generation. Groups will work in 

partnership with a pre-specified local organisation as well as 

Resonance to develop a business plan, submit planning and 

construct the assets. The fund will operate initially in three 

targeted geographies, principally Greater Manchester, 

Cornwall and Gloucestershire. 

3.13. CAF Venturesome Community Land Trust Fund Pre-Development 

loans: CAF Venturesome runs a specialist finance fund offering 

CLT pre-development loans of up to £150,000 to cover costs of 

securing planning permission. 

 

With support from Power to Change (an independent charitable 

trust), CAF are also able to offer some groups additional grant 

funding of up to £100,000 alongside the loans. Repayment of the 

loan is contingent on successful gaining planning permission, with 

principal potentially written off in the event of an unsuccessful 

planning application. A separate pilot pot is available to fund land 

purchases (up to £400,000) with a mix of grant and loan. To date, 

the fund has focused on Community Land Trusts only, but the 

most recently launched Fund (February 2020) will now accept 

applications from other forms of community group which are 

focused on delivering affordable housing. Groups pay an interest 

rate of 5-10 per cent per annum, with investment repaid at 

successful completion of units. 

3.14. Community Shares Issues: community shares are a relevant but 

nascent source of finance for CLH. Only a small number of CLH 

groups have successfully raised community shares, with just 

£1.5m raised through the main listing platform of Ethex to date. 

These include Leeds Community Homes and London CLT.  

 

Discussions with Ethex have indicated a relatively limited 

potential for community shares as a source of finance at early 

stages of development process. Key features of successful raises 

to date have been groups looking to raise capital for assets that 

are already constructed and where the risk to a prospective retail 

investor is lower than at the start of the development phase.  

 

A number of development organisations have also issued mini-

bonds, financial instruments which have similar features to equity 

in that capital is at risk and loans in many instances lack security, 

with the most successful again being launched post a site having 

been acquired. CAF Venturesome, as part of their CLH Fund, also 

offer standby facilities of up to £150,000 to raise community 

shares. 

  

P
age 145

https://www.powertochange.org.uk/
https://www.leedscommunityhomes.org.uk/
https://www.londonclt.org/


Page 7 of 47 

Lending 

3.15. CAF Venturesome Community Land Trust Fund Development 

loans: loans post-planning to cover development finance in the 

range of £200,000 to £400,000. Loans are secured as a second 

charge over land with an interest rate of 5-10 per cent per annum  

3.16. Social Lending Banks: senior lenders such as Charity Bank, Ecology 

and Triodos have been active in providing senior loans to CLH 

organisations. These banks can offer loans to cover development 

costs once land has been secured and planning granted, as well 

as providing long term finance, frequently on flexible terms that 

reflect the often-unique tenures delivered by the CLH Group. 

Loan to values of up to 95 per cent are possible during BUILD 

phase and a more typical longer-term loan to values of around 75 

per cent in LIVE phase. Loans of up to £10m are possible, with 

terms of up to 20 years, and interest rates in the region of around 

3-3.5 per cent over base rates (c. 4 per cent total). 

3.17. Mainstream financial lenders: for larger schemes, those being 

delivered in partnership with more established organisations or 

by CLH groups with a track record, mainstream financial lenders 

can often be accessible. These not only include traditional high 

street bank lenders, but also mezzanine debt providers as well as 

specialist property funds. However, it should be noted that the 

atypical tenure types and resale and other covenants often 

present on CLH schemes can often be a major barrier to accessing 

mainstream finance. 

3.18. Government Home Building Fund: The Homes Builders Fund is 

available to small businesses, community builders, custom 

builders and regeneration specialists, administered by Homes 

England. It offers loans either to fund development or to fund 

infrastructure spend to enable housing and prepare land for 

development. 

 

Development loans are up to five years in length and 

infrastructure loans are up to 20 years in term. Loans are typically 

secured as a first charge against property assets, but the fund will 

consider subordinated lending in some instances. A scheme will 

typically require a minimum of five homes, except in the case of 

custom build or innovative housing. Interest is charged at 

commercial rates based on a margin over EC Base Rate for the UK 

(as of 4 March 2020 this matrix would imply a rate of between 1.6 

per cent to 12 per cent per annum. depending on 

creditworthiness and collateralisation). 

P
age 146



Page 8 of 47 

GROUP SITE PLAN BUILD LIVE

Secured –
First Charge 

Over 
Land/Property Lower Risk 

Higher Risk 

Secured –
Second Charge 

Over 
Land/Property 

Risk Capital / 
Equity / 

Unsecured

Grant

Internal Resource

CAF Venturesome – Pre-Development

Start Up Support Power to Change: Homes in Community Hands  / Ad hoc grants

Community Housing Fund/ Affordable Housing Grant

Bank Debt Bank Debt

Big Lottery Awards for All

CAF Venturesome –
Development Finance

S106 / Right to Buy Receipts

Community Shares 

Joint Venture Partners

Joint Venture Partners

Home Building Fund

Source: updated from Land and Buildings Bank: A funding solution for community led housing (E. Corrado, T. Rothery, and R. Speak 2019) – unpublished report for Nationwide Foundation and Power to Change 

 

Table 1 Summary of funding landscape  

 

P
age 147



Page 9 of 47 

Funding Landscape Review 

3.19. Securing funding for a project is a major challenge for CLH groups. 

Delivering a scheme often involves groups having to make 

applications to multiple funders and combine finance from a wide 

range of sources. Frequently, there is no guarantee that finance 

at future stages is available and there is a high degree of 

uncertainty throughout the process. This lack of a single financial 

pathway for groups is a major impediment to successful delivery 

of schemes and has secondary consequences often in terms of 

the credibility of groups entering commercial negotiations with 

landowners and builders. In particular, there are gaps in the 

ability of groups to secure upfront funding for land or the 

purchase of existing building for renovation and conversion, 

which inhibits successful delivery. 

The sector also faces significant uncertainty in the funding 

landscape. Many of the sources of funds are not guaranteed and 

have limited life spans, which makes it difficult for groups to plan 

with certainty. This is compounded by the limited depth of the 

market in many cases, which means schemes may meet the 

financial criteria for successful funding but be crowded out by 

other projects. Additionally, the uncertainty over the future of 

the Community Housing Fund post-March 2020 and grant funding 

with Power to Change Homes in Community Hands limited to the 

next few years, risks having significant implications in terms of 

funding for early stage work in particular the funding for site 

investigations, securing sites and funding technical and 

professional fees associated with planning applications. 

3.20. Lack of dedicated funding for land acquisitions: there is a clear 

gap in the funding landscape to assist groups acquiring sites. 

Groups struggle in land purchase negotiations to either show 

financial capacity to prospective land sellers or allow groups to 

make unconditional bids. Nationally groups which have been 

successful have often to rely either on: 

1. Internal resources to acquire land or buildings for 

development; or  

2. On benevolent land owners who accept deferred 

payment schedule; or  

3. Rely on nil value land transfers from public bodies; or  

4. Acquire de-risked sites either in the form of land with 

pre-existing planning permission or completed units.  

The CAF Venturesome fund does offer some potential for site 

acquisition, but transaction sizes are often beyond its capacity 

and its current fund has the scope to finance only a small number 

of sites. CHF capital grant has also had the potential to support 

groups, however the terms of the grant agreement are often too 

restrictive for groups, in particular requiring rental units to be 

both owned and managed by an RP, and by paying in arrears 

groups are still left with a potential funding gap.  

3.21. Depth of market where it exists is often low with limited number 

of providers of capital: the previous section illustrated that there 

is theoretically funding for grant, risk capital and debt for groups 

at every stage (with the exception of at-risk upfront land 

purchases). However, unlike the mainstream market groups are 

often faced with a sole provider of each form capital, which 

P
age 148



Page 10 of 47 

means if an application is unsuccessful there can often be no 

alternative source of equivalent finance.  

Funders often have specific requirements, for example CAF 

Venturesome has previously focused on providing funding for 

CLT’s only with a majority of affordable housing, so other forms of 

CLH or groups with mixed developments have been ineligible for 

funding. Groups are often also competing for limited pools of 

capital, which means despite meeting the required financial and 

social criteria, applications are crowded out by projects in other 

areas. The absence of CHF grant funding post March 2020 will 

also have a significant impact on the sector given it dominate size 

in comparison to other grant funders.  

3.22. There is no single financial pathway: by the nature of the sector 

funders often try to co-ordinate in supporting groups, however 

there is no single finance pathway for groups. A group may be 

successful in getting funding for a set of activities from one 

source and have agreement principal for future finance from a 

second source, but still have a shortfall which needs to be found 

elsewhere. This gap can delay projects substantially and has been 

particularly marked for groups in relation to the post planning, 

pre-construction professional fees associated with detailed final 

design and tender documentation. 

Even if there is no gap, delays in decision making on can often 

have an impact on speed of delivery, particularly when decisions 

on later stage finance are conditional and require further review 

(for example, post planning decision). This uncertainty is not 

solely linked to the availability of the finance, but also its potential 

cost which can pose challenges for groups in developing business 

case and financial appraisals. 

3.23. Costs of funding are relatively high: the cost of investment 

finance to groups is often perceived to be relatively high, 

particularly when considered against objectives of delivering 

affordable housing units. This is a reflection both of the external 

cost in terms of the headline interest rate, but also the internal 

costs associated with the time and effort to make multiple 

funding applications.  

It also reflects the fact that transaction sizes are often relatively 

small, the source of funds coming from specialist funds that 

themselves are subscale, risks on developments are often 

perceived to be high due to groups lack of track record and the 

often more difficult sites that groups take on, and transaction 

costs are high given the unique nature of many development and 

ownership structures.  

3.24. As projects progress depth, availability and pricing of funding 

improve: this is particularly the case at the point where projects 

are looking to secure development debt finance to fund 

construction (BUILD stage), with planning in place and where the 

group can provide security, typically over land. Similarly post 

completion long term finance is also more readily available (LIVE 

stage).  

This finance typically comes from social banks, and the interest 

rates on debt available are typically comparable or better than 

that available from mainstream banks for self-build mortgages, 

albeit more expensive than residential mortgages. 

3.25. CHF and Power to Change funding uncertainty significant and will 

create gap in risk capital provision: the £163m MHCLG-funded 

CHF grant programme has been a significant catalyst for activity 

in the CLH sector over the last four years, allowing a number of 

P
age 149



Page 11 of 47 

groups to accelerate activity and in particular helping groups fund 

the upfront at risk activities of searching for sites engaging 

professional support to develop site plans and submitting 

planning applications. The CHF and associated MHCLG-funded 

programmes providing over £1.3m of support to groups, Hub and 

local authorities over the last four years.  

The impact of this funding is evidenced by the progress made by 

Thame CLT and Oxfordshire CLT at Dean Court and Transition by 

Design with Champion Way over the last few years. In many 

respects the scale and focus of the CHF fund has helped address 

the under-capitalisation of the CLH sector and the shortage of 

appropriately priced early stage risk capital. The CHF programme 

in its current form ends at the end of March 2020, with activity 

needing to be completed by then. At present there is no clarity 

over whether there will be a successor programme of support 

and what form it might take, an issue which will only be 

exacerbated by the COVID crisis which has led to a lack of 

announcements for future funding for all forms of affordable 

housing.  

Experience demonstrates that the prospect of a future grant 

programme launch is likely to delay activity with many groups 

preferring to wait to see if they can fund activity through grant 

rather than use alternative sources of repayable capital. The 

same applies to a smaller extent with Power to Changes Homes in 

Community Hands programme which is scheduled to finish at the 

 

1 39 per cent of SME house builders reported access to finance as a major barrier 
to their ability to build more homes, according to the FMB House Builders Survey 
2019, October 2019. 

end of 2021, and there is no guarantee of an additional support 

unless Power to Change receive additional funding themselves. 

It is worth noting that there is an important distinction between 

smaller and larger schemes. Larger schemes are often of a 

sufficient size to attract professional partners with bespoke 

financing solutions or be attractive enough to allow groups to 

partner with a mainstream finance provider, for example L&G 

involvement with the University of Oxford at Begbroke or the 

financing solution developed to deliver Graven Hill being case in 

points. 

Implications of the Funding Landscape  

3.26. The implications of the difficulties of the funding landscape are 

present in the rate of delivery of CLH homes across Oxford and 

the rest of the UK and are part of the explanation for the chasm 

between the aspirations of CLH sector and the overall number of 

homes which have been delivered. It is extremely difficult to 

quantify this impact, particularly given the multitude of 

challenges facing the CLH sector, but numerous studies have 

identified these financial challenges, not just for the CLH sector, 

but also for the SME house builder nationally.1  

3.27. Reduced delivery: the impact for delivery is pronounced. Securing 

land often remains the key impediment for groups to be able to 

move forward with a project and leverage funding to deliver 

P
age 150



Page 12 of 47 

homes. Without a viable funding source for the acquisition of 

land, many groups remain in a latent aspirational state.  

3.28. Reduced credibility/site opportunities: the lack of upfront funding 

sources for land has impacts not only on the ability of groups to 

acquire, but also the credibility of groups in searching for sites. 

Without evidence of the ability to finance land, call for sites by 

CLH groups are often viewed as not credible resulting in low 

response rates. Even when sites do become available and vendors 

wish to sell to CLH groups, it is often the case that groups are 

unable to meet vendors timescales, resulting in opportunities for 

incremental new home delivery being missed.  

3.29. Missed virtuous cycles: the historical pattern of the Community 

Land Trust sector also illustrates the presence of virtuous cycles, 

whereby the success of early groups helps encourage and 

demonstrate to others the potential of CLH, leading to increased 

activity and home building. This is very much evident in areas 

such as Cornwall, Devon, Leeds, Sussex and East Cambridgeshire. 

This virtuous cycle also helps achieve a critical mass of activity, 

which in turn helps the viability of the associated supporting 

infrastructure such as enabling hubs and professional advisors, 

which are critical in helping the next wave of organisations meet 

their development objectives. 

3.30. Slower pace of delivery: the other major impact from the current 

funding environment is that delivery timescales for CLH groups 

are typically longer. The absence of a single financial pathway and 

the need to often apply to multiple funders for different stages of 

a project results in additional time and effort being spent on 

securing finance than would be the case for a traditional house 

builder with a pre-agreed funding structure.  

Additionally, the uncertainty that this lack of a single financing 

pathway introduces often leads to greater caution and 

contingency being built into business plans, again slowing the rate 

of delivery and reducing the number of sites which groups view 

as viable. 

3.31. Lower social and community benefits: one of the responses of 

CLH groups to the challenges they face from the funding 

landscape has been to look at entering into partnership with 

other organisations. In the majority of cases this has been with 

registered providers, with a small number active in this area. 

Partners typically bring CLH groups the financial capacity to fund 

the purchase of land as well as development costs, and help 

groups resolve constraints on funding. They also often help share 

the risks associated with development, by being able to offer 

additional professional support as well as through absorbing cost 

overruns.  

Deals are often structured with groups holding freehold interest 

in land, but partners retaining a long leasehold interest, 

potentially in some cases, for up to 200 years. The trade-off for 

groups in entering into partnership is often a loss of a degree of 

control over the development process, reduced influence over 

the use of the final homes as well as sharing the economics of any 

development gain.  

For communities the impact of the partnership approach is often 

developments which deliver lower social benefits, are less in 

keeping with the communities’ original objectives and where a 

significant amount of any financial benefits from development 

are lost to the local area. 

 

P
age 151



Page 13 of 47 

Potential Solutions and Best Practice Examples 

3.32. There are several successful interventions that have been 

undertaken in other areas and which could be considered by 

authorities and the Growth Board to help address the funding 

challenges facing CLH groups in Oxfordshire. These fall into two 

broad camps: 

• Direct interventions make finance available at points where 

groups are currently underserved 

• Indirect interventions reduce the funding needs of groups, 

particularly in relation to risk capital. 

None of these solutions is a panacea for the multitude of 

challenges facing CLH groups. Those authorities which have 

intervened with one or more of the proposed actions outlined 

have done so in the wider context of ensuring a supportive 

operating environment to CLH groups in which additional barriers 

have been addressed.  

This includes ensuring groups have easy access to professional 

support in a cost-effective manner, operate in a planning 

environment that is supportive to the groups aims and have clear 

political support in the local areas in which they operate. 

Additionally, this support has come in a form that offers clarity to 

groups and a permanence in design that provides groups with a 

degree of certainty around which business plans can be 

developed. 

  

P
age 152



Page 14 of 47 

Direct interventions Indirect interventions 

• Grant programme 

• Loan/Risk Capital Fund 

• Preparation and supply of 
sites 

• Fostering RP partnerships 

• Establish Community 
Development vehicle 

 

Direct Interventions 

3.33. Grant programme: several councils have created grant funds to 

support CLH groups at critical points in their development 

journeys and to address specific funding challenges. These 

schemes have typically been administered by the local authorities 

concerned, although this does not preclude using an independent 

or local sector champion to perform this role. Grant programmes 

have supported both revenue and capital funding of projects. The 

effectiveness of grant programmes can be increased by defraying 

risk by paying recipients upfront (in stages) to avoid placing 

additional working capital strains on groups. 

 

 

 

Case study: Leeds City Council 

• Leeds City Council launched a capital grants programme using 
receipts from Right to Buy sales 

• Scheme funded up to 30 per cent of capital costs of purchase and 
repair or development of new affordable homes 

• Eligible costs including acquisition costs, as well as build and 
renovation works costs 

• Targeted at community groups which are not eligible to access 
Homes England funding 

• Funding provided in stage payments to groups 

• Leeds City Council requires recipients to enter into a nomination 
agreement for 60 years from practical completion for 100 per 
cent of initial new lettings and 75 per cent of subsequent lettings 

• Four organisations received funding with target delivery of 130 
homes 

P
age 153



Page 15 of 47 

 

3.34. Loans/Risk Capital Fund: a number of local authorities have 

provided loan and risk capital finance to groups to help bridge 

gaps in the funding landscape. This funding has either been 

provided directly to groups or to a partner organisation which in 

turn acts as a development partner to the group (for example, 

from East Cambridgeshire District Council to Palace Green 

Homes, see below), or in the case of self-builders to individuals 

(for example Graven Hill mortgage scheme operated by Cherwell 

District Council). This approach has been particularly successful 

where it helps groups secure land/property and progress projects 

to a stage where senior lenders can be leveraged. The use of 

funding has typically been to finance land or property purchases 

or provide groups with additional working capital.  

3.35. A local authority can make a loan in connection with housing 

using powers either under Section 24 of the Local Government 

Act 1988 (loans) or Section 12 of the Local Government Act 2003 

(investment), supplemented by General Power of Competence in 

Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011. The terms of these loans 

depend on the nature of the group’s activity, but broadly fall into 

two categories to address state aid considerations:  

• Loans or investment on market terms with the council acting 

in line with the Market Economy Investor Principle or;  

• Loans or investment for affordable housing which is deemed 

exempt from state aid regulation as a Service of General 

Economic Interest (SGEI).  

Loans can be sourced from general reserves or through on-

lending from PWLB and can be structured with any surpluses 

retained by councils. Depending on the way the investment is 

structured, and the repayment terms, the provision of finance in 

this form can have net negative or positive revenue impacts once 

allowance is made for any required Minimum Revenue Provision. 

 

  

Case study: Cornwall Council Housing Land Remediation Fund 

• £1m fund to support the development of new community-led 
affordable housing 

• The fund aims to tackle expensive to develop sites by helping get 
sites ready for development 

• Funds can be used for a range of activities, including addressing 
abnormal ground conditions, soil contamination or flood risk. It 
does not cover any costs related to development which are 
expected to be financed separately 

• Grants are paid in advance against an estimate of costs with a 
clawback clause in the event of underspend 

• Recipients must be properly constituted community housing 
organisations. Registered P 

• Providers can apply but must demonstrate genuine community 
engagement and support for the project 

P
age 154



Page 16 of 47 

Case study: Cornwall: Loan Fund 

• Cornwall Council has operated a revolving loan fund to 
community land trusts since 2009, with the most recent £4m 
fund launched in 2018 

• Loans are provided to community groups constituted as 
Community Land Trusts looking to deliver all types of affordable 
housing and can be used to cover the costs of purchasing land or 
buildings or the construction and renovation of buildings 

• Cross-subsidy schemes which include an element of market 
housing are permitted if they enable the delivery of affordable 
housing which would not be possible otherwise 

• Loans charge interest at a market rate of 4.5 per cent and loans 
of between £75,000 to £1.5m are available for durations of up to 
18 months  

• Borrowers also pay an arrangement fee to cover administration 
and legal costs. Loans are available in multiple stage payments 
and are subject to a legal charge being secured  

• A separate revolving loan fund for small Customer and Self Build 
sites has also been established 

Indirect Interventions  

3.36. Preparation and supply of sites: by preparing and de-risking 

prospective sites on behalf of CLH groups, councils have the 

potential to reduce the extent of financial barriers facing groups, 

including the extent of risk capital and grant that is required.  

This approach effectively transfers an element of the financial risk 

to the council, however if done in partnership can avoid the risk 

of losing the social and community benefits arising from 

community-led housing. Cherwell District Council’s actions at 

Graven Hill for self-builders are an example of a large-scale 

intervention, which reduced the risks to individual self-builders 

and offered individuals access to land in a way that substantially 

reduced the funding challenges. 

 

3.37. Fostering partnership between groups and development 

organisations: an alternative indirect way of addressing gaps in 

the funding environment has been to encourage groups to 

partner with strong, like-minded, motivated organisations, which 

share the aspirations of groups, but are also able to provide both 

the professional and financial resources to deliver schemes in 

partnership with groups. In doing so these partners are able to 

help de-risk the development process for the CLH group. 

  

P
age 155



Page 17 of 47 

 

Registered providers: these potential partner organisations have 

often, but not exclusively, been registered providers which are 

generally able to use internal resources as well as access to 

government funding streams such as the Affordable Homes 

Programme to help finance the delivery of new affordable homes.  

Development companies: other example organisations including 

Bioregional Homes and Palace Green Homes. One of the 

additional key challenges is how to systematically develop 

relationships in an efficient way between CLH groups and 

potential partners. The example of Wessex Community Land 

Trust Project below illustrates how this can be achieved. 

CLH schemes are often small, non-standard and in many 

instances located in areas which are not efficient for a larger 

housing association to manage. Consequently, there is not always 

interest to act as a development partner. In this instance it may 

be necessary to consider directly creating an organisation that 

can act as a development partner to groups. This organisation 

would need to possess a centralised set of professional resource 

and expertise. Critically it would also need to have sufficient 

funding to be able to fund developments on behalf of groups. An 

example of where this has been undertaken has been Palace 

Green Homes (see below) which was established and is owned by 

East Cambridgeshire District Council, with an express purpose of 

supporting community-led housing developments. 

  

Case study: Cherwell District Council: Graven Hill Self-Build 

• Cherwell District Council acquired the site from the Ministry of 
Defence in 2014, through the council’s wholly-owned holding 
company and its development company subsidiary, with the 
original purchase funded from the Public Works Loan Board. The 
site will deliver 1,900 homes over a ten-year period of which 30 
per cent are targeted to be affordable 

• The council has undertaken a multistage planning process for the 
site with outline planning permission in 2014, a master plan, area 
design codes and local development order (LDO), covering what 
can and can’t be built on each plot. The development company 
arranges for all infrastructure works to be completed and then 
sells plots to individuals  

• Individuals acquire plots at “golden brick” stage with foundations 
completed (helping individuals to avoid facing 20 per cent VAT on 
the land transaction) with buyers having the option to either self-
build or use a mix and match service where home is delivered by 
a pre-selected builder  

• The combination of the LDO combined with the plot passport 
reduces planning costs and critically minimises the planning risks 
for purchasers. The purchase of plots with foundations 
completed also removes significant amount of financial risk to the 
individual and makes the raising of development finance more 
straightforward. 

P
age 156



Page 18 of 47 

Case study: Wessex Community Land Trust Project 

• Wessex Community Land Trust project established in 2010 as 
part of an action research project to support Community Land 
Trusts in Somerset, Dorset and subsequently Devon. Wessex 
Community Assets (WCA), a Community Benefit Society, has 
acted as the delivery agent for the project 

• WCA provides end to end technical advice to community-led 
housing projects ranging from initial groups formation, business 
planning, site search and land acquisition. WCLT project delivers 
homes by acting as match maker between Community Land Trust 
groups and a range of local and national housing associations 
which are willing to finance and build homes on behalf of and in 
partnership with the CLT groups  

• Post development, housing association partners typically retain a 
long leasehold interest in the properties and manage them as 
part of their overall stock. Project does not support groups 
wanting to develop independently or community groups which 
are not Community Land Trusts (although WCA are developing a 
separate service offer to cover both these aspects).  

• The community benefits particularly from helping the selection of 
the preferred site and the design and may retain freehold 
interest and associated ground rent. A range of sites have been 
delivered, with majority reflecting rural exception sites 

• Over 200 homes have been delivered through this approach, with 
the vast majority delivered by four housing partners: Hastoe 
Housing Association, Aster Group, Yarlington Housing Group and 
Teign Housing 

Case study: Palace Green Homes 

• Palace Green Homes (PGH) established as a trading name in 2018 
of East Cambridgeshire Trading Company Ltd (ECTC), a wholly-
owned local authority company. ECTC operational since 2016, 
acting on an “arms-length” basis from East Cambridgeshire 
District Council 

• Limited activity/interest from housing associations in working 
with CLT and other forms of CLH in East England. Provides “one-
stop shop” development partner to community-led housing 
groups in East England, with a dedicated team of housing 
professionals. Closely aligned with operations of local CLH Hub 

• Design led focus to deliver schemes that meet local needs rather 
than generic housing designs. Targets a positive developer profit 
margin with a target of double-digit return on investment, but at 
a level that is lower than market competitors 

• Funded by initial £5m working capital loan from ECDC with 
additional loans provided from public sector organisations on a 
project basis. An initial £1.7m was repaid in December 2019, 18 
months ahead of schedule  

• As well as the Council receiving interest and principal repayments 
from PGH, the council records direct financial benefits from land 
receipts, Community Infrastructure Levy and section 106 
contributions, which combined have totalled £1.6m as of end of 
2019 

• Operates in supportive planning environment with SPD 
supporting community-led development in place 

P
age 157



Page 19 of 47 

4. Bringing Forward a Land Supply for Community-

led housing  

  

4.1. This element of the research aims to identify how a viable land 

supply could be developed for community-led housing. It reviews 

some of the current land opportunities and considers how these 

might be brought forward. Consultation and interviews were 

carried out with landholders and community groups.  

Elements for consideration in identifying suitable land for 

community-led housing  

4.2. CLH can be brought forward through a wide variety of forms, 

routes and mechanisms and involves a range of stakeholders, 

often with quite different motivations. In examining this further, a 

number of potential ‘elements to be considered’ were identified, 

with some of the key elements listed and considered below. 

• Initiator/ Promotor 

• Landowner and their motivation 

• Community Group, their motivation, mechanism and legal 

form 

• Transfer form, value/ cost and payment arrangement 

• Land/Property form, location and type 

• Development form and scale 

• Tenure and resident group/ occupation restrictions 

• Delivery and construction routes 

• Member/ resident involvement 

• Environmental objectives 

• Funding sources 

Initiator/ Promotor 

4.3. New CLH projects may be initiated/ promoted from two potential 

‘directions’, these being: 

• Community Group led: a local housing need, or desire, 

identified and promoted by a group of local people, 

requiring a site or property to be found; 

• Land/ landowner led: a piece of land identified and 

promoted to provide CLH, requiring a community group to 

be found or established to take forward development. 

Part of the CoHo Hub’s activities will be to act as 

‘matchmaker’ bringing sites and groups together. At the 

stakeholder event there was recognition of the opportunity 

for partnership working between local authorities and the 

hub to build up knowledge about land opportunities that 

might be suitable for CLH and identifying potential groups 

for these sites. 

  

P
age 158



Page 20 of 47 

Type of Landowner 

4.4. The potential sources of land and/ or property will be numerous. 

Following our research these have been clustered into six key 

groups: 

• Private individual/ family: this could range from a single 

property owner with a large garden looking at the potential 

for disposal and redevelopment to a farmer looking at the 

potential to develop some, or all, of their landholdings 

• Institutional land/ property owner: such as private/ landed 

estates, universities/ colleges, etc. some with extensive 

historic landholdings 

• Investor/ funds: potentially with strategic landholdings 

• Developer: including volume house builders as well as small 

and medium sized custom enabling developers 

• Registered provider: previously known as housing 

associations or registered social landlords, varying 

considerably in terms of size and local/ community 

involvement. Small, locally focussed, associations, some 

established as mutuals, consider themselves as community 

housing providers, other larger associations, especially 

those resulting from mergers, are more removed from the 

communities they serve. Where affordable housing is to be 

provided an RP will, ordinarily, need to be involved, 

although a community group could seek registration as an 

RP; 

• Public body: including local authorities, at county, district 

and parish levels as well as health trusts. 

Landowner Considerations 

4.5. Considering the range of potential landowners, it should be noted 

that these organisations may focus their activities on their core 

business/ key objectives and will be looking to use their 

landholdings and other resources to support that core business. 

4.6. Some of the landowners identified, especially those with more 

historic landholdings, may have a very long-term view of 

investment activities. 

4.7. In addition, some landowners, particularly local authorities and 

charitable organisations may have restrictions around disposal, 

e.g. achieving ‘best value’ 

Landowner Motivation 

4.8. The land/ property owner’s decision to use or promote 

landholdings for CLH will be motivated by either:  

• Choice: with objectives including achieving a financial return, 

disposing of assets identified as surplus to requirements, 

looking to deliver housing, possibly including for staff/ key 

workers, providing some form of community benefit and 

providing more diverse housing opportunities (some of these 

objectives may form part of an organisations existing key 

objectives such as a local authorities responsibility for 

housing or a religious organisations social objectives); 

• Obligation: such as through a planning condition or 

obligation imposed by the local planning authority. 

P
age 159



Page 21 of 47 

4.9. There are several potential benefits to landowners from 

meaningfully involving local communities in the shaping and long-

term stewardship of housing development. These may include: 

• Increased local support which lowers risk through the 

planning process 

• Potential to bring forward land as ‘exception’ sites providing 

affordable housing for local people 

• Identified groups providing end user residents and 

purchasers reducing potential sales risks and void losses 

• Potential for providing accommodation for local workers 

assisting in staff retention and recruitment 

•  Access to community and private finance which reduces the 

need for high-risk commercial borrowing 

•  Improved relationships with local communities within which 

you operate 

• Opportunities for corporate social responsibility and public 

relations activities and events  

Community Group 

Depending on the location and type of CLH opportunity being considered, 

the community group may be established from one of three potential 

starting points: 

4.10.  New start-up group: grassroots ‘start-up’ groups responding to 

housing need or demand, or people seeking to deliver their own 

homes 

4.11.  Existing community-led (housing) organisation: existing 

community-based organisations with local roots decide to 

provide housing in addition to their current activities, or increase 

their existing provision, for and on behalf of the local community 

4.12.  Developer-led partnership: a local authority/ landowner/ housing 

association or small builder wants to provide housing that 

benefits the local area. They access community-led housing 

expertise to recruit ‘founder members’ from within the 

community and support them to take over 

ownership/stewardship and/or management of the homes, or 

they may support an existing group or organisation to deliver 

their ambition. 

Community Group Motivation 

The underlying motivation of a community group could be to: 

4.13. Meet members’ needs: a group established to meet the specific 

needs of the members (a community of interest), could simply be 

a group of individuals or families looking to self-finance and 

communally develop housing to meet their own housing needs. 

The benefits are limited to the households directly involved. Such 

groups may be less well supported, especially where seeking 

discounted land and/ or grant subsidy. However, there are often 

quantifiable social impacts such as the reduction of isolation and 

loneliness and reduction in carbon footprints of those living in the 

scheme. 

4.14. Develop a community benefit in perpetuity: perhaps the more 

accepted motivation, providing some long-term benefit (usually 

affordable housing and other community assets) to the wider 

community rather just meeting the needs of limited membership; 

P
age 160



Page 22 of 47 

4.15. A combination of the two: it is possible that a CLH scheme could 

be developed to meet a combination of the two above, 

potentially with some element of cross subsidy allowing the 

‘market’ housing to assist in the delivery of more affordable 

housing for local people. 

4.16. The groups may take a variety of forms and different legal entities 

which will depend on their aims and the way they want to 

structure their financial model.  

How Land is Transferred to Community Groups 

This can be done in a variety of ways:  

4.17. Community Group acquires freehold: full ownership of the land 
or property will then rest with the group, or be split and sold to 
individual occupiers; 

4.18. Community Group acquires long leasehold: the freehold interest 
is held by the landowner or another party and a leasehold 
interest is granted to the group, possibly for 99 to 125 years, or 
even longer. The CLH organisation may then grant tenancies or 
sub-leases to individuals to occupy;  

4.19. Community Group acquires limited leasehold: again, the freehold 
interest is held by the landowner or another party and a short 
leasehold interest, up to seven years, is granted, on a rolling 
basis. This allows the asset to remain on the freeholder’s 
accounts. The CLH organisation may then grant tenancies or sub-
leases to individuals to occupy; 

4.20. Community Group secures management agreement: ownership is 
retained by the landowner or another party and the group is 
granted a management agreement, tenancies or leases are 
granted by the freeholder to individuals; 

4.21. Community Group acquires freehold and grants long leasehold to 
an enabling partner: where the freehold is acquired by the group, 
they may wish to pass a leasehold interest to an enabling partner, 
such as an RP, in order to allow them to take on some or all 
responsibility for funding, development and long-term ownership 
and management. 

Expectations of transfer value and cost 

4.22. Where the transfer of land or property, whether freehold or 

leasehold, is an option, a key consideration will be the value/ cost 

expectations of the vendor. Landowners with limited experience 

of the land market may have unreasonable expectations, which 

may be difficult to change. Any land or property purchase should 

be supported by an independent assessment of value.  

• Market value: payment will reflect the full current market 

value, supported by an independent valuation and based on 

comparable land sales in the local area, allowing for any site 

abnormals. 

• Discounted: purchased at a price below the current market 

value, this discount may be offered for a variety of reasons, 

in order to support the proposed development, provide 

some community benefit and assist in the delivery of more 

affordable housing or help to diversify housing options 

available. 

• Free/ nil cost: another form of discounted purchase where 

the value agreed/ cost paid is nil 

• Discounted or free with clawback or overage provision: in 

certain instances, vendors may agree to discounted or nil 

cost disposals based on the site being developed for a 

P
age 161



Page 23 of 47 

specific use and/ or generating a fixed gross development 

value (GDV). Provisions may be included within the purchase 

contract for additional payments to be made to the vendor 

should the use or GDV vary from that originally anticipated. 

4.23. Where land or property may be secured at a discounted or nil 

cost, care should be taken to ensure that any reduction from 

market value will not be considered as a public subsidy with 

regard to any claim for additional grant funding, especially where 

land is acquired from a public body. 

Transfer Payment Arrangement 

4.24. Where payment is being made, whether for a freehold or 

leasehold interest, the payment structure may be one of the 

following: 

• Single capital payment: usual payment method for a 

freehold purchase, possibly split between a deposit payment 

at exchange of contracts and the balance paid at legal 

completion of the land or property purchase. 

• Deferred/ staggered capital payment: this may be adopted 

through agreement between the vendor and purchase in 

order to assist in terms of cashflow for both or either parties, 

this may be a potential benefit to the landowner, especially 

on larger, phased schemes. 

• Annual/ revenue payment: more usual for leasehold 

purchases.  

Land/ Property Form and Location  

4.25. It is likely that the land/ property will take one of two forms: 

• Standalone: land or property which is sold/ interest 

transferred as a standalone/ discrete property. 

• Part of larger site: mostly likely land, possibly properties, 

which form part of a larger private development or, 

potentially, a larger CLH/ Custom or Self Build (CSB) 

development, perhaps secured through a section 106 

requirement. 

4.26. The land/ property secured for a CLH development, could 

constitute any of the following: 

• Urban  

• Suburban 

• Rural  

• Brownfield  

• Greenfield  

Development Form and Scale 

4.27. CLH development, whether houses or apartments, may come 

forward in one of the following forms: 

• Just housing or include other community assets such as 

common houses/allotments, cafes or commercial building. 

• Sizes can range for the very small (fewer than five homes) to 

over 50 homes -although commonly schemes tend to be 

between 10 – 40 homes.  

P
age 162



Page 24 of 47 

Tenure  

4.28. CLH may deliver a wider variety of tenures than other developers. 

• Social rent  

• Affordable rent  

• Rents that are affordable but don’t conform to the standard 

affordable definitions  

• Shared ownership 

• Shared equity  

• Mutual home ownership 

• Discount market sale -often with a resale price covenant  

• Market rent  

• Market sale  

Occupancy restriction  

4.29. Occupation restrictions may be placed on a development either 

to ensure that a group’s specific objectives are met, to satisfy 

possible planning requirements or conditions associated with a 

site or property purchase. Where such restrictions are adopted, 

clear policies and procedures need to be established to ensure 

that decisions can be clearly evidenced and justified. 

• Open to all: no restrictions applied 

• Local connection: selected applicants to have a connection 

to the local area, such as a parish, connection may include 

normal residence (current or previous), employment, family 

connections and possibly special circumstances 

• Housing need: the allocation of housing, particularly 

affordable, may be subject to a proven housing need, this 

may be managed through the LA allocations policy or choice-

based lettings system 

• Financial requirements: restrictions may include a 

requirement, again particularly for affordable housing, for a 

household’s income to fall below a certain threshold in order 

to evidence their difficulty in securing housing on the open 

market, whether rented or for sale. Alternatively, a 

restriction may be imposed ensuring that households 

seeking market housing have an income above a certain 

threshold to ensure that they are able to afford the 

properties available. 

• Specific groups: where developments are undertaken to 

provide housing for specific groups such as over-55’s/ older 

persons, women, multi-generational living, additional 

restrictions may also be applied. 

Delivery and Construction  

4.30. The delivery of a project can be undertaken through two primary 

routes 

• Direct procurement: where the community group directly 

appoints consultants and contractors to undertake all works 

including surveys and investigations, design and construction 

• Partnership with a third party: such as a registered provider, 

‘parent’ Community Land Trust or other party, in order to 

bring on board specialist skills, access to land and possibly 

funding 

P
age 163



Page 25 of 47 

4.31. The procurement of construction services can be achieved 

through one of the following options:  

• A land and build package with a developer 

• A managing main contractor on a design and build basis  

• Custom build, a group working with a contractor/enabler  

• Self -build, the group directly organises the design and 

construction of the homes often doing at least some of the 

construction work themselves  

• Self -finish, the group procures the construction of the 

homes to a watertight shell and then completes the internal 

fit out  

Member/ Resident Involvement 

4.32. Dependent on the objectives of the group, the type of properties 

being developed and the skills and experience available within 

the group, the level of member/ resident involvement may 

include any of the following. The elements to be delivered 

directly (hands-on) by the group need to be clearly set out from 

the outset along with the external resources required to be 

procured. 

• Design: it is likely that external design/architectural services 

will be required, however, it is important that the group is 

involved in the development of the project brief, scheme 

design and specification 

• Construction: involvement in the direct construction of the 

project will be dependent on the objectives of the group, 

skills available and the construction route selected, 

especially regarding self-help and fit-out/ self-finish 

• Management and/ or Stewardship: including properties and 

external areas. 

• Ownership. the group will ideally want to retain ownership 

of the development 

Standards and design  

4.33. Community groups will often want to achieve environmental 

objectives on behalf of their community and to increase 

affordability by achieving lower running costs. The level achieved 

will depend on the budget available and the balance between 

affordable housing costs and quality of the build. Some schemes 

will also want to achieve communal environmental objectives 

such as car free schemes, open space and growing areas. 

Funding  

4.34. The funding sources available will depend on the type of housing 

being delivered and the delivery route chosen.  

Potential archetypes for community-led housing  

4.35. Considering the elements set out above and the possibilities as to 

how these can be combined, the potential routes to delivery are 

far too numerous to consider all in detail. Through the research 

undertaken and the interviews conducted, five common 

archetypes have been identified, as listed below. These have 

been chosen based on the most common opportunities for CLH 

P
age 164



Page 26 of 47 

as identified by groups. The archetypes provide a framework to 

explore key characteristics, barriers and possible requirements 

associated with certain sites. 

• Section 106 Requirement on Larger Private Development: 

custom and self-build (or community-led) housing 

• Exception Site: Rural and/ or Entry-level 

• Benevolent Landowner: off-market purchase 

• Public Land/ Property Transfer 

• Open Market Purchase 

Section 106 Requirement on Larger Private Development - Custom and 

Self Build (or community-led) Housing 

4.36. Under the ‘Right to Build’ legislation local authorities now have a 

duty to hold a register of individuals and groups interested in 

developing custom and self-build housing within their areas. In 

addition to this there is a requirement for local authorities to 

have regard to the register and ensure that enough planning 

permissions are granted to satisfy this demand. 

4.37. In order to achieve this, local authorities are beginning to 

introduce ‘percentage’ policies requiring developments over a 

certain size to provide a percentage of the plots developed for 

CSB housing. Policies introduced to date range in scope, but a 

typical example requires any development over 100 units to 

provide five per cent of plots for CSB. 

4.38. The introduction of such policies is still in its infancy and the 

detail of how this will work in practice and the results generated 

remain to be seen. 

4.39. It would seem reasonable to assume that such opportunities 

could equally be secured for CLH (see the support section below). 

It should be noted that developers may have high expectations of 

the potential financial return especially in comparison with ‘open 

market’ CSB. However, a sale to a single, already identified, 

community-led group may be attractive to a developer, rather 

than the need for marketing and sales to several individual 

purchasers. 

4.40. The requirement for CSB housing, and possibly CLH, will be 

imposed by the local authority as a planning condition or 

obligation, usually set out within a section 106 agreement or 

similar. The terms of any such agreement will be agreed between 

the landowner/developer and the local authority, probably far in 

advance of any community group being identified or established. 

The terms of the agreement will need to be tight enough to 

ensure that the objective of true CLH is achieved but allowing 

enough flexibility for the community group to influence/control 

delivery. 

4.41. As with all CLH projects the community group will be key in 

securing delivery. With section 106 CSB/ CLH requirements on 

larger sites it is possible/likely that this will require a new 

community group to be started up from scratch, unless an 

existing group can be identified locally. This will require the 

identification of locally-based individuals or organisations with 

relevant skills, experience and local connections to assist in 

identifying and assembling a steering group to be developed into 

a solid community group to take the project forward. 

4.42. There is limited understanding of CLH outside of the sector. There 

may be some knowledge of specific, perhaps, local, schemes but 

P
age 165



Page 27 of 47 

limited recognition of the potential scale of interest and demand 

for such opportunities. There is also a nervousness around the 

potential difficulties in the process of delivering CLH, often 

involving individuals with, perhaps, limited development 

knowledge and experience. The adoption of clear processes and 

experienced advisors would assist in increasing the confidence of 

landowners and developers. 

 

Key characteristics 

Initiator/promotor  Landowner/developer 

Landowner 
motivation 

Obligation – planning condition/obligation 

Transfer Potentially freehold and potentially discounted 

Land/property form 
and type 

Part of larger site, serviced site/plots 

Development form 
and scale 

Self-contained homes, potentially communal 
facilities, five to more than 50 homes 

Tenure(s) Potentially mixed tenure 

Resident 
group/occupation 
restrictions 

Potentially open to all, possibly local connection 

Exception Site 

4.43. Affordable housing for local people in rural areas has long been 

delivered through what are referred to as ‘rural exception sites’ 

(RES). These are sites, which would not normally be granted 

planning permission for residential development, especially for 

private market housing, but may receive permission as an 

exception to general planning policy for affordable housing (social 

rent, affordable rent or shared ownership) for local people in 

perpetuity provided that this is secured through a planning 

obligation, the housing need can be clearly evidenced and the 

relevant parish council is in support. 

4.44. More recent planning guidance now allows an element of market 

housing to be included within such sites in order to assist in 

scheme viability and allow sites to come forward. 

4.45. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) also requires 

local planning authorities to support the development of entry-

level exception sites, suitable for first time buyers (or those 

looking to rent their first home). These sites should be on land 

which is not already allocated for housing, should comprise entry-

level homes that offer one or more types of affordable housing as 

defined in the NPPF, be adjacent to existing settlements, be 

proportionate in size and comply with any local design policies 

and standards. 

4.46. This exception site mechanism could be adopted for CLH, 

although the housing provided, or at least an element of it, will 

need to be either truly affordable housing or satisfy the definition 

of ‘entry level’, possibly including the Government’s new ‘First 

Homes’ housing initiative 

P
age 166



Page 28 of 47 

4.47. These sites will generally require a housing needs survey to 

identify need and demand and the support of the Parish Council. 

The requirement for affordable and/ or ‘first homes’ housing will 

be imposed by the local authority as a planning condition or 

obligation, usually set out within a section 106 agreement or 

similar. The terms of any such agreement will be decided 

between the landowner/developer and the local authority, 

probably in consultation with the parish council and, possibly, the 

community group, if established/ identified. The terms of the 

agreement will need to be tight enough to ensure that the 

objective of true CLH is achieved but allowing enough flexibility 

for the community group to influence/control delivery. 

4.48. As exceptions these sites can be complicated to bring forward 

and land values and expectations can be unclear as landowners 

need to be clear that only affordable housing can be developed 

reducing the value of the land.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key Characteristics  

Initiator/promotor Landowner or community group  

Landowner motivation Choice – bring forward land not currently 
developable, some financial return 
 

Transfer Potentially freehold and potentially 
discounted 

Land/property form and 
type 

Stand alone, rural, unprepared site  

Development form and 
scale 

Self-contained homes, potentially 
communal facilities, five to more than 20 
homes 

Tenure(s) Mostly affordable rent or shared ownership 
with possibly some market sale to cross 
subsidise  

Resident 
group/occupation 
restrictions 

 Local connection, housing need  

 

Benevolent Landowner Off Market Purchase 

4.49. Many CLH projects have been made possible by the offer of land, 

property or finance at a discounted or nil cost. This is dependent 

on the presence of benevolent and/ or civil-minded individuals or 

P
age 167



Page 29 of 47 

organisations with a desire to assist local communities in securing 

affordable housing solutions. 

4.50. The development of CLH, particularly for affordable housing, will, 

ordinarily, require some form of discount or subsidy in order to 

be financially viable. The ability to secure land or property at a 

discount or nil cost will, obviously, boost the viability of any 

scheme, as will the provision of funding or the ability to access 

finance at a reduced cost. 

4.51. Where resources are provided at a discount or nil cost 

landowners may impose some restrictions in return for this 

discount, possibly around a requirement for the housing to be 

affordable in perpetuity, for local people, or some form of 

clawback or overage provision. 

4.52. Where landowners are locally based with historical connections 

with the community, possibly including a reliance on the local 

population for staff, the opportunity to contribute to meeting 

local housing needs may well be welcomed, especially if seen as a 

legacy, or potentially improving relationships with the 

community. Larger organisations may consider involvement in 

the development of CLH to help achieve their wider social 

responsibilities including corporate social responsibility (CSR) 

objectives. 

4.53. Local community groups will be well placed to understand their 

community, including the housing needs that exist, potential sites 

that may be suitable, and available, and contacts or relationships 

with local landowners. Such local knowledge and connections 

may allow potential sites to be identified and secured before they 

are made available on the open market. 

 

Key characteristics 

Initiator/promotor Community Group  

Landowner motivation Choice, some financial return, legacy  

Transfer Potentially freehold or leasehold and 
potentially discounted possibly with a 
clawback or overage provision 

Land/property form and 
type 

Stand-alone site, unprepared site  

Development form and 
scale 

Self-contained homes, potentially 
communal facilities, five to more than 50 
homes 

Tenure(s) Potentially mixed tenure 

Resident 
group/occupation 
restrictions 

Potentially open to all, possibly local 
connection 

 

Public Land/ Property Transfer 

4.54. The various public bodies listed above, will, from time to time, 

look to dispose of land or properties as they become surplus to 

their requirements, no longer meet their key objectives and are 

seen as a potential opportunity to generate some financial return 

to support those key objectives.  

P
age 168



Page 30 of 47 

4.55. There is an ongoing internal tension within public bodies between 

maximising the financial return achieved for reinvestment, often 

through sale on the open market, and considering other 

potential, social, economic and environmental benefits which 

may be achieved through promoting the scheme for other 

potential uses, such as CLH. Many organisations are required to 

evidence ‘best value’ when disposing of assets, especially local 

authorities and charitable organisations. 

4.56. Councils have powers to dispose of land under the Local 

Government Act 1972 and circular 03/O6 gives a general consent 

for disposal under best consideration where it will promote the 

economic, social or environmental wellbeing of local inhabitants. 

This consent covers any undervalue up to a maximum of 

£2m. However, where the land is disposed for rental or leasehold 

properties and the immediate landlord is not the local authority 

then section 25 of the Local Government Act 1988 applies.  

4.57. This requires the consent of the Secretary of State unless it falls 

into one of the exemptions listed. These exemptions generally 

apply to disposing of the land to an RP. Although there is another 

exemption that could apply where there is a gratuitous benefit 

for any purpose up to a maximum of £3 per head of population in 

any financial year. Where community-led groups are not RPs or 

working in partnership with an RP Secretary of State consent may 

be required but is unlikely to be withheld. State aid issues may 

also apply.  

4.58. The hub and the wider sector network are working on tools that 

can help landowners quantify the social benefits that the scheme 

provides. For example, the Bristol Social Value Calculator. This 

calculator enables organisations to demonstrate the additional 

economic, social and environmental benefit created when they 

perform activities the Council commissions and/ or invests in.  

4.59. Feedback from the stakeholder event identified a desire to 

understand how social impact can be quantified in land value. 

 

Key characteristics 

Initiator/promotor Landowner  

Landowner motivation Choice, some financial return, deliver housing, 
possibly surplus to requirements  

Transfer Potentially freehold and market value, possibly 
discounted, potential clawback or overage 
provision 

Land/property form and 
type 

Standalone or part of larger site, unprepared 
site or existing building 

Development form and 
scale 

Self-contained homes, potentially communal 
facilities, five to more than 50 homes 

Tenure(s) Potentially mixed tenure 

Resident 
group/occupation 
restrictions 

Potentially open to all or could meet a 
community of interest in line with the 
landowners aims and objectives 

P
age 169



Page 31 of 47 

Open Market Purchase 

4.60. Potential opportunities will become available on the open 

market. In such cases community groups looking to develop CLH 

will need to compete with other potential purchasers, possibly 

including private developers.  

Community groups will need to be able to react quickly and 

professionally when looking to submit offers for such 

opportunities. This is in terms of the priced offer and in terms of 

process to purchase  

Community groups will need to be well-networked to hear of 

potential opportunities  

 

Key characteristics 

Initiator/promotor Landowner  

Landowner motivation Choice, financial return  

Transfer  Freehold and market value 

Land/property form and type Standalone, unprepared site  
 

Development form and scale Self-contained homes, potentially 
communal facilities, possibly mixed use, 
five to more than 50 homes 

Tenure(s) Potentially mixed tenure 

Resident group/occupation 
restrictions 

Potentially open to all  

Two further routes to consider 

Difficult to Develop Sites 

4.61. A further, potential, archetype or route to delivery could be 

through the identification of more difficult to develop sites or 

properties. All the landowners listed above may well have land or 

property which, for one reason or another, are difficult to 

develop and so sit at the bottom of their list of potential sites and 

are unlikely to be progressed at least in the short- to medium-

term. 

4.62. This may then present opportunities for CLH, if community 

groups accept that accessing these sites may require extensive, 

and potentially abortive, upfront work. Difficulties may be 

around: 

• Small size of site and potential scale of development not 

being financially viable for the landowner; 

• Accessing the site, requiring negotiation of access, purchase 

of a ransom strip, highways alterations; 

• Need for remedial work relating to existing structures, 

contamination, ground conditions, etc; 

• Relocation/ accommodation of existing uses. 

4.63. There may be scope for the cost of addressing these issues to be 

negotiated off the purchase price for the land/property. 

  

P
age 170



Page 32 of 47 

Strategic Land Purchase 

4.64. All the archetypes listed above are reliant on other parties 

bringing forward land. It can be argued that if CLH is to become a 

more mainstream route to delivery then a more strategic 

approach to the acquisition of land should be considered. 

4.65. Volume housebuilders dedicate time and resources to identifying 

and securing strategic landholdings, often through long term 

options, promoting sites through the Local Plan process and 

securing allocations for development.  

4.66. The CLH sector could consider securing land in a similar manner. 

However, there are several questions which need to be 

considered: 

4.67. How could such a fragmented network look to secure land at a 
more strategic level? Most CLH developments are relatively small 
scale and brought forward by small, independent, community 
groups. There could be a role here for the CLH Hub network, the 
various sector representative bodies such as The Confederation of 
Community Housing, UK Cohousing Network or the National 
Community Land Trust Network, as well as Homes England. Should 
a financially viable model be developed which could generate a 
financial return then investors and funds could be encouraged to 
invest. 

4.68. How would this work if we are looking to provide housing for 
locally identified needs? Again, as with the volume housebuilders, 
once strategic landholdings are secured then these could be 
traded with other developers and landowners in order to secure 
more geographically suitable land which meets identified demand 
for CLH.

 

Identified Barriers, Challenges, Opportunities and Benefits 

4.69. Throughout the interviews conducted with community groups, 

landowners and others, several key barriers and challenges, as 

well as potential opportunities and benefits of CLH were 

identified and discussed. These are briefly reviewed below. 

Barriers and Challenges 

4.70. Access to land opportunities: much of the land in Oxfordshire is 

held by organisations with extensive historic and strategic land 

holdings, therefore, restricting potential access by others. The 

more historic landholdings rest, in the main, with the University 

of Oxford colleges, which, as stated elsewhere, take a relatively 

long-term view regarding asset management and are proving 

difficult to engage in discussion. Several strategic landholdings, 

particularly around the edges of the larger conurbations have 

been secured by investor funds and volume housebuilders. 

4.71. Cost of land: as is well recognised, housing is in high demand in 

the Oxfordshire area and so property prices are high, when 

compared nationally, and this high price also feeds through to the 

price of land. This, therefore, makes it particularly difficult for 

groups looking to develop some form of more affordable housing 

to achieve expected land purchase prices. 

4.72. Competition for land: the high demand for land and the difficulty 

in accessing land opportunities, mean that competition is intense 

when land is identified and made available, especially through the 

open market. 

P
age 171



Page 33 of 47 

4.73. Ability to act quickly: some groups, particularly those newly 

formed, may find it difficult to respond to land opportunities, 

especially where unconditional offers are required. This difficulty 

may be around a lack of experience and knowledge (particularly 

around land purchase and negotiation), a lack of clear objectives 

for the group, limited understanding around funding and 

potential conditions related to any funding secured. 

4.74. Dealing with commercial developers: through several responses 

in interviews it is apparent that some developers adopt certain 

practices when looking to secure land or property. Specific 

examples include conditions/ obligations within purchase 

documentation and/ or planning agreements being accepted at 

the time of offering, although possibly not priced within the offer, 

but then being removed or negotiated out as the land purchase 

negotiations progress.  

Opportunities and Benefits 

4.75. Local knowledge and connections: locally-based groups with 

knowledge of the local area and connections with local groups 

and individuals may allow land/ property opportunities to be 

more easily identified and local support to be more easily 

generated, possible leading to financial support, particularly 

through discounted land. 

4.76. Possibility of increased densities: especially where developed on a 

more co-operative/ Cohousing model, increased densities may be 

achieved through the provision of shared external spaces rather 

than individual gardens and a reduced reliance on individually 

owned cars, both requiring less space to be taken up (by gardens 

and parking spaces). Increased densities may enable a greater 

GDV to be achieved and so a greater land value/ offer to be 

generated. 

4.77. Improved local support for planning applications: where planning 

applications are progressed with genuine and meaningful local 

consultation, taking into account the views of local people and 

addressing local needs, particularly delivering affordable housing 

for local people, it is more likely that such applications will be 

supported and receive less objections. 

4.78. Bring forward sites as exceptions to Local Plan policies: using CLH 

as a way to deliver affordable housing or entry level housing for 

local people, through an exception site application, may allow 

sites to be brought forward which would not otherwise receive 

planning permission for development. 

4.79. These challenges and opportunities lead to several 

recommendations in section six of this report. A fund for groups 

seeking land could help position groups to act quickly when an 

opportunity arises and considering social impact as part of a land 

valuation could help groups compete for market sale purchases 

and public bodies to consider under value disposals. By working in 

partnership Coho Hub and LAs could identify sites and 

‘matchmake’ to community groups which can unlock land that 

other developers may not have the time or resource to do.  

 

 

  

P
age 172



Page 34 of 47 

5. Creating a conducive environment and effective 

support systems 

How to support the growth of CLH: Lessons from across 

England 

5.1. This report has highlighted access to land and finance as the key 

issues which constrain activity. However, what often makes these 

barriers ever more intractable is a lack of skills, knowledge, 

human resources, and a political and policy environment which 

would enable access to the key ingredients of land and finance. 

Hence, if CLH is to grow across Oxfordshire there is a need for a 

policy and political environment that shifts the balance in favour 

of CLH, alongside strong systems of support for groups.  

Building a supportive policy and political environment 

5.2. In recent years, as the number of CLH groups has grown, local 

authorities have started to attune their policies to support this 

activity. Through planning policies, housing strategies, asset 

management plans or other policy instruments, the additional 

value of CLH is increasingly recognised. 

5.3. Some local authorities have targeted specific interventions. For 

instance, Bristol City Council have long held a desire to in see CLH 

develop in the city. From 2011, they were providing small 

amounts of funding to develop the city’s first CLT and made a site 

available for its initial scheme. This has shaped political support, 

with the mayor setting an aspiration for 300-500 CLH homes in 

the city in the coming years. In its Housing Delivery Plan 2017-

2020, the Council set out a commitment to work with CLH groups 

to deliver new homes.  

5.4. This has been backed up with development of a CLH Land 

Disposal Policy (CLH LDP). The CLH LDP provides for social value 

to be taken into account in the disposal of sites, in a way that 

accords with the Council’s Social Value Policy. It is applying this 

policy to dispose of sites with the capacity to deliver between 3-

10 homes, with four specific sites identified as suitable for 

delivery via CLH. 

5.5. Other local authorities are slowing shifting their policies to reflect 

the needs and potential of CLH. York’s Local Plan has explicitly 

defined self-build housing to include CLH schemes, bringing it 

within scope of the associated policies. Elsewhere, Birmingham 

City Council has been working with local stakeholders to develop 

a dedicated CLH policy, to help define a process for their 

engagement with schemes.  

5.6. Creating the political backing for CLH, and embedding this in 

policy, can take time. However, East Cambridgeshire District 

Council shows how different policies and interventions can be 

aligned to create an effective mechanism for CLH. 

5.7. Local political support for CLH has been invaluable in some areas. 

Having a local Councillor act as a CLH ‘Champion’ is one possible 

option for engendering support and sponsorship at a senior level. 

5.8. The Community Housing Fund has provided revenue support for 

certain local authorities to build their knowledge of, and support 

for, CLH. The challenge is to translate this resource, and growing 

interest, into firm policy changes. This requires looking at existing 

policies to see how they can be refined (or implemented 

P
age 173



Page 35 of 47 

differently) to support CLH for drafting dedicated policies and 

strategies to show how support for CLH will be offered.  

 

Case Study: Embedding CLH in policy - East Cambridgeshire District 
Council 

East Cambridgeshire’s Local Plan 2015 contains the policy ‘GROWTH 
6: Community-led development’. This dedicated CLH policy sets out 
general support for such development, and specifically how 
affordable housing may be permitted outside of development 
envelopes by specific bodies meeting wider requirements, notably 
that the scheme was initiated by, and is being led by, a legitimate 
local community group such as a Parish Council or Community Land 
Trust and that the scheme has general community support, with 
evidence of meaningful public engagement.  

In addition, the authority has created a Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) to provide guidance on how ‘GROWTH 6’ and other 
Local Plan policies should be applied when proposals for community-
led development come forward. This includes what information 
should be required within planning applications. The SPD contains a 
presumption in favour of affordable CLH projects when considering 
proposals outside development envelopes. 

Alongside this, the council has been instrumental in creating Palace 
Green Homes (PGH). A development arm of East Cambridgeshire 
District Council’s trading company, PGH was formed to support CLH 
groups and other affordable housing projects locally, often reducing 
financing issues for groups and identifying sites for potential CLH 
developments.  

 

Building the support infrastructure 

5.9. A conducive policy environment is important, but CLH groups 

often need significant advice and technical support to develop 

their ideas, their organisations, and their housing schemes. It has 

become widely recognised that enabling hubs are a central 

component in the success of CLH at a local level. Across England, 

these hubs are developing rapidly, receiving crucial resource from 

a range of funders, including government.  

5.10. Hubs undertake important functions in supporting CLH groups, 

and these are explained at length in recent research for Power to 

P
age 174



Page 36 of 47 

Change2. These functions may be summarised as helping groups 

to: 

• Understand their values and objectives and the different 

legal forms they may adopt 

• Explore different ways of developing community-led housing 

• Identify potential sites 

• Develop viable business plans and financial plans for 

schemes 

• Build local interest in the project 

• Understand the range of funding, finance, development and 

management; 

• Improve their approaches to governance, management and 

community organising  

• Access technical support from professionals; 

• Build relations and negotiate with a range of stakeholders 

including landowners, developers, and local authority 

officers  

• Manage a build or development process 

• To explore and put in place arrangements for management 

of housing after completion 

5.11. Outside of these functions, hubs have an important role in 

helping stakeholders understand how they can create the right 

 

2 Lavis and Duncan (2017). Delivering a Community-led housing Enabling Hub 
Service. London: Power to Change 

conditions for CLH, whilst also stimulating public interest in this 

activity. Hubs also have the potential to develop their own land 

holdings and housing schemes, and in ways that can reduce the 

risks and burdens of scheme development for local groups.  

5.12. It has become clear in recent years that where an effective 

enabling hub is developed, this can directly support CLH groups 

facilitating access to land and finance and helping to shift local 

policy. In these circumstances CLH homes are much more likely to 

come to fruition. This is clear from evidence in places like 

Cornwall, Wessex, the East Midlands and East of England, where 

the presence of longstanding hubs correlates with larger numbers 

of active groups and CLH homes. 

P
age 175



Page 37 of 47 

 

Case Study: An effective enabling hub - Leeds Community Homes 

Leeds Community Homes (LCH) was formed in 2015, as a 
collaboration of organisations and individuals keen to improve 
housing in Leeds. After an initial phase scoping their values and 
objectives, LCH set an ambitious goal to develop 1,000 homes in 10 
years. Early effort was invested in developing their own schemes, and 
they ran a highly successful community share issue in 2017, which 
raised £360,000. This money was tied to a specific scheme, enabling 
them to acquire 16 affordable units from the development of a larger 
scheme. Alongside this, LCH received a grant from Power to Change 
to expand their enabling support for aspiring CLH groups in the Leeds 
and surrounding area. 

With this latter funding, alongside other income streams, LCH now 
employs a full-time director, several part-time advisors who support 
groups at an early stage, and a part-time development director 
helping deliver projects at planning and build phases. Alongside this, 
LCH has developed a portfolio of associates for professional services. 
This has enabled an expansion to supporting groups in neighbouring 
authorities, partnering with organisations in North Yorkshire and 
other hubs nationwide. LCH is rapidly expanding the number of 
groups and schemes it is supporting, as exemplar schemes in the city 
drive interest among the public. 

LCH continues to explore bringing schemes forward itself, in order to 
facilitate CLH at a local level. One of these schemes, on Leeds City 
Council land, is currently under consultation and will comprise 34 
homes. LCH is playing a critical role in the absence of an established 
CLH group, helping bring the scheme forward whilst building 
community involvement and future vehicles for ownership and 
governance. 

The current policy and political environment in 

Oxfordshire 

5.13. There is a growing recognition, across Oxfordshire, that CLH can 

play an important role in addressing local housing needs. At the 

broadest scale, the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 provides an 

opportunity to consider the role of CLH in delivering on the gross 

affordable housing need that will be identified. Early topic papers 

to guide consultations on housing highlight the focus on 

affordability and ensuring that housing is appropriately sited.  

5.14. There are signs of dedicated policies and process to facilitate CLH 

in certain districts, and these should be welcomed. Oxford City’s 

policy H7 in the emerging Local Plan sets out the intention that, 

on sites of 50 or over units, a total five per cent will be made 

available for self-build. A recent draft policy paper (background 

paper 5) on self-build and CLH seeks to align policy for these two 

forms of development. This creates the potential for CLH to be an 

efficient delivery option for these units, and a means to provide 

ongoing governance forms for shared space and continued 

community involvement. A similar policy in West Oxfordshire – 

that states five per cent of units on sites of over 100 units should 

be made available for self-build – provides a key opportunity to 

maximise social value (at the very least in the form of 

affordability), as well as offering a more efficient model of 

delivery. 

5.15. District authorities are also using housing policy to support CLH. 

Cherwell’s Housing Strategy (2019-2024) sets out a desire to 

diversify the provision of affordable housing through innovation 

and partnership working (e.g. on community-led schemes), and to 

undertake social value assessments to enable decisions to be 

P
age 176



Page 38 of 47 

made about whether council land should be disposed of at or 

below market value (for instance, for the development of housing 

including affordable housing). Cherwell also aims to work with 

Build!, registered providers and community-led developers to 

maximise grant funding that can be used for affordable housing 

development. Oxford City has invested in research to understand 

how CLH can contribute to affordable housing delivery, 

commissioning the Routes to Delivery report in 2019, and seeking 

to implement some of its recommendations. 

5.16. Certain district authorities are investing significant resource in 

neighbourhood planning. The process provides specific 

opportunities and powers for local communities to develop 

housing through CLH models. Several neighbourhood plans in the 

county have stated a desire to do this.  

5.17. The Mid-Cherwell Neighbourhood Plan Forum, and its member 

parish councils, are seeking ways of providing genuinely 

affordable dwellings on rural exception sites through 

establishment of a community land trust. Headington’s 

Neighbourhood Plan contains an expression of active support for 

development by the Oxfordshire Community Land Trust. And the 

Neighbourhood Plan group in Shilton had sought a community 

right to build order, though this was rejected by the Inspector. 

Questions remain about how local authorities might better 

enable these groups to understand and realise the opportunities 

of CLH in their area. 

 

3 Co-operative Councils Innovation Network (2018). Community-Led Housing: A 
Key Role for Local Authorities 

5.18. Despite these signs of policy support, awareness within local 

authorities and other housing providers about what CLH is, and 

how it can be supported, is likely to be low. In certain local 

authorities there are signs that officers and members are 

engaging with this rapidly developing sector, but this is not 

universal. The specific roles that local authorities can play in 

facilitating CLH has been well documented by Co-operative 

Councils Innovation Network3.  

5.19. Without these forms of action, opportunities to deliver more 

affordable homes will be missed, as local policies and a lack of 

political support prevent groups developing schemes and drawing 

on significant external funding for these initiatives. 

 

P
age 177



Page 39 of 47 

The current system of support for groups in Oxfordshire 

5.20. Recent developments in Oxfordshire means that there is a 

bedrock of knowledge about CLH in the county. Oxfordshire CLT, 

formed in 2006, has been identifying sites, and developing 

potential housing schemes for a number of years, whilst also 

exploring potential funding mechanisms to address the need for 

more capital funding for CLH schemes. 

5.21. Alongside this, the Collaborative Housing hub (the CoHo Hub) 

now provides enabling support to groups across the Thames 

Valley. The Hub has dedicated staff, which includes associate 

advisors with development expertise. They are currently 

providing enabling support to four projects which are advancing 

beyond the group formation stage to site acquisition and 

development. The hub plans to support a total of 30 groups over 

five years, drawing on existing resources secured through the CHF 

enabler hub grant, and securing revenue from projects either in 

the form of consultancy fees, or payments deferred until the 

completion of schemes 

5.22. Whilst these two organisations provide the platform for enabling 

work across Oxfordshire, more work is needed to solidify and 

expand their offer. 

5.23. Ongoing research in Oxfordshire is showing the value of an 

enabling hub to local CLH groups, and the types of functions they 

would want a hub to perform. Interviews with developing groups 

are highlighting the role that the hub can play: 

• Being a trusted, one-stop shop for information, advice, 

enabling and advocacy 

• Connecting CLH groups with capable and supportive 

professionals 

• Building a wider understanding of CLH to create systemic 

changes to policy and access to funding, land and other 

resources 

• Brokering visits and buddying so that groups can support to 

each other 

• Forming networks and setting up events to share knowledge 

• Conducting deep dives into common issues, and providing 

workshops to help groups work through these 

5.24. The presence of Oxfordshire CLT and the CoHo Hub presents 

several opportunities locally. CHF funding is premised on working 

with an organisation that is a registered provider with Homes 

England. Groups may choose to become an RP themselves, or 

select a suitable RP to partner with. The latter may be preferable 

to groups, but it is not yet clear whether existing RPs really want 

to play a significant role in the delivery of CLH homes. There is the 

potential for Oxfordshire CLT or the Hub to become RPs, and 

provide this dedicated function for groups, helping them access 

funding, manage developments and help with ongoing housing 

management. 

5.25. CLH schemes can often progress when an enabling organisation is 

able to acquire and progress schemes in the absence of an 

existing CLH group, a model being applied in Leeds. Again, OCLT 

or the CoHo Hub might play this role in future, acting as a 

temporary holder of land and property as groups develop to the 

point where they can take ownership.  

P
age 178



Page 40 of 47 

Constraints on CLH delivery in Oxfordshire: Policy and enabling support 

5.26. The picture presented above, of good practice nationally and 

emerging support systems locally, helps us identify key 

constraints in Oxfordshire that might be targeted: 

• In most authorities there is a limited understanding (among 

both officers and councillors) of the role that CLH can play in 

local housing delivery, and how it is best supported.  

• There are signs that local authorities are developing policies 

to support CLH, but this is not the case for all. Diverse policy 

environments will mean CLH thrives in some areas and not 

others. And yet, there are various approaches nationally 

which can be built on to help groups access sites, access 

finance and get the resources needed to progress their 

schemes.  

• Policies and support infrastructure are not being adequately 

connected. An example of this relates to self-build and CLH, 

where the opportunities to align policies and define this as 

one activity are significant. 

• The structures for supporting CLH in Oxfordshire are still 

developing. The Collaborative Housing hub and associated 

bodies need to be able to resource deeper levels of support 

for groups, alongside developing an infrastructure which 

enables groups to draw in funding, seize on opportunities to 

acquire sites and so on. 

• At the time of writing the Community-led housing Fund has 

closed. The Hub has a clear business plan to enable it to be 

self-sufficient through fee charges to groups payable at the 

grant of planning permission and completion of the scheme. 

However, this is reliant on having enough groups ready 

within the funding period of two years (ending in early 

2021). Introducing the recommendations in this report will 

help but the short time period is extremely challenging.  

Summary  

5.27. The stakeholder event held with local authorities as part of this 

research demonstrated an appetite amongst officers for 

supporting CLH as an important contributor to housing delivery 

across the County. The report has highlighted some of the 

challenges and demonstrated where changes to the local 

authority environment can have a significant impact on the ability 

of local communities to deliver housing that meets their needs 

and helps the community to flourish.  

5.28. This analysis show there are some clear steps that could be taken 

by the Oxford Growth Deal authorities to tackle the three key 

areas of finance, land and enabling support required by groups to 

progress CLH. Some of these, in particular the potential for local 

funding mechanisms and for the release of land, will need further 

work which the Co-Ho hub will be keen to support as laid out in 

the recommendations below. 

P
age 179



Page 41 of 47 

6. Recommendations 

This section brings together the key recommendations from the report across the finance/land and support environment sections.  

 

No  Recommendation  Key Actions  Priority  Resources required  

1. Consider establishing a CLH-focussed 
grant or ‘soft loan’ fund to support set up 
and pre -development costs for 
community-led housing. Soft loans are 
where a loan will be repaid if a group is 
successful but would convert to a grant if 
a scheme fails. Due to the early stages of 
most groups in Oxfordshire, this early 
stage funding is required to fund gaps in 
the provision of national funding.  

Both the Growth deal project team and 
individual local authorities to investigate 
setting up a funding framework and potential 
sources of both capital and revenue funding 
for CLH. This is critical in the context of current 
uncertainty about national funding availability 
for CLH. 

 

This framework will need to be focused upon a 
self-sustaining model given likely public sector 
finance restrictions. 

HIGH.  The project team will 
progress this action, but it 
will require specialist 
finance and legal 
resources to develop a 
framework for 
consideration. 

2.  Consider establishing a revolving loan 
fund which can support land purchase 
and, if possible, capital development 
costs. As the demand on this is envisaged 
to be relatively modest at this stage, this 
could be a pilot trialled on a case by case 
basis.  

As above.  HIGH. As above.  

3.  Gauge appetite among local registered 
providers to understand how they can 
play a key role in assisting with the scale 
up of CLH. 

An initial training session is being planned by 
CoHo Hub for RPs later in 2020 which will help 
determine interest amongst local providers. 
For review following this session. 

HIGH. The CoHo Hub is carrying 
out this work within its 
current resources.  

P
age 180



Page 42 of 47 

No  Recommendation  Key Actions  Priority  Resources required  

4.  Consider legal advice and best practice 
on the disposal of land under market 
value where other social benefits can be 
achieved.  

Individual authorities to review and progress. 
Perhaps with central support. 

MEDIUM.  This work is likely to 
require additional legal 
and finance resourcing. 
Either within individual 
councils and/or centrally if 
a coordination role is 
envisaged. 

5.  
The establishment of a process to 
support the identification and release of 
land opportunities for CLH.  
 

Local authorities to consider capacity and 
resources for investigating land opportunities. 
Potential for joint work with CoHo Hub to 
develop a process/flowchart for how site 
opportunities can be appraised and to 
matchmake sites with community-led housing 
groups. Any such collaborative process needs 
to clearly determine the respective roles and 
responsibilities of each party. 

MEDIUM.  For individual authorities 
to determine. 

6.  Provision of signposting support for CLH 
groups requiring professional external 
advice.  

 

Local authorities to sign-post groups to the 
CoHo hub which is developing a database of 
technical associates to support groups  

 

MEDIUM.  Can be done within 
existing resources. 

7.  Identify ways of reaching landowners/ 
land agents through existing networks 
and forums.  

 

Local authorities to consider how best to 
promote community-led housing to 
landowners and land agents. Potential for joint 
working between CoHo Hub and local 
authorities to build knowledge of landowners 
and develop a database of landowners.  

MEDIUM For individual authorities 
to determine. CoHo Hub 
support can be provided 
within existing resources.  

P
age 181



Page 43 of 47 

No  Recommendation  Key Actions  Priority  Resources required  

8.  Consider how planning departments can 
best facilitate planning discussions with 
community-led housing groups, for 
example through early-stage advice.  

 

Local authorities to consider training and 
awareness-raising to support CLH within 
planning departments.  

MEDIUM External training would 
require additional 
resource.  

9. Greater consideration of the role of 
neighbourhood planning at local 
authority level to ensure groups are 
aware and consider community-led 
housing for their plan area.  

As above  MEDIUM  As above  

10. Consider whether/how community-led 
housing could be appropriately reflected 
within the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 and/or 
Local Plans. 

Growth Deal Project Team to progress 
discussions with Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Team. 

HIGH  Can be done within 
existing resources. 

11.  Consider how policies to encourage or 
promote CLH can be developed, for 
example, through SPDs/ Area Action 
plans or other strategies. 

Local authorities to reflect on best options for 
progressing this work. With a view to 
developing a standardised approach to 
promote a common policy landscape  

HIGH  May require additional 
resourcing.  

12.  Consider the appointment of a political 
champion for each local authority. For 
example, a named Councillor who would 
take responsibility for understanding and 
promoting CLH in their District. 

Local authorities to consider and progress 
internally as necessary.  

MEDIUM Can be done within 
existing resources. 

P
age 182



Page 44 of 47 

No  Recommendation  Key Actions  Priority  Resources required  

13 Consider setting Oxfordshire ambitions 
for the number of CLH homes to be 
delivered.  

Growth Deal core team and local authorities to 
jointly reflect on the possibility for a strategic 
target for CLH.  

MEDIUM  Can be done within 
existing resources. 

14  Consider gap funding directly for the hub 
if a pipeline of schemes is in progress but 
central government grant funding is 
exhausted.  

The hubs sustainable business plan is that the 
pipeline of schemes will generate fees to 
continue to pay for hub operations. However, 
in the event of a gap between income coming 
in and grant being spent the hub may require 
bridging funds  

MEDIUM  Would require LA funding. 

15 Consider the possibilities of a strategic 
approach to securing land through 
partnership working with Homes England 
and other landowners 

For review by local authorities as part of 
partnership arrangements with HE. 

MEDIUM  Can be done within 
existing resources 

16 Consider the potential for an Oxfordshire 
Community Led Development Company 
to acquire and develop sites in 
partnership with community-led housing 
groups.  

 

This will be kept under review as the pipeline 
of schemes develops. 

LOW   

 

List of Contributors  

P
age 183



Page 45 of 47 

Dr Tom Archer 

Dr Tom Archer is a Research Fellow at Sheffield Hallam University and 

consultant specialising in housing and community development. Between 

2010 and 2016 Tom was one of the National CLT Network’s Technical 

Advisors, providing support to urban CLTs in England. Tom’s doctoral 

research focused on the factors affecting housing collectivism in England 

and Canada, and its costs and benefits. Tom has led major evaluations of 

community-led housing programmes, alongside other large housing 

market studies. He has co-authored influential reports on the private 

housebuilding industry in the UK, and the growth of community owned 

assets. Tom is a Director of East Midlands Community-led housing, the 

nascent enabling hub for the East Midlands region. 

Fiona Brown -Communities Lead, Collaborative Housing  

Fiona is the Communities Lead at Collaborative Housing providing front 

line support to groups across the Thames Valley. She has over 30 years’ 

experience in the management and delivery of affordable housing 

through housing associations and local authorities. She was part of the 

Build! Team at Cherwell District Council, pioneering affordable self- finish 

developments. She is an accredited CLH Advisor with the Institute 

of Housing  

Phil Cringle – Cringle Associates  

Phil Cringle is a successful housing development professional, specialising 

in affordable and self/custom build housing. He has over twenty-four 

years of experience, including project management, policy and procedure 

development and implementation, staff management and development, 

new business generation and development and sales programme 

delivery. He has worked for twenty years at a senior level, contributing to 

the overall management and development of organisations, including 

involvement at strategic and corporate levels. Phil established the Cringle 

Consultancy in 2018 specialising in Community-led and Self Build housing. 

Charlie Fisher – Transition by Design  

Charlie is a Director of Transition by Design (TbD), a social enterprise and 

co-operative working mainly in the community-led housing (CLH) and 

low-carbon architecture sectors. Charlie is trained as an Architect, is 

currently undertaking a Doctorate at Oxford Brookes University on urban 

housing delivery models and is a CLH Advisor with full accreditation with 

the Chartered Institute of Housing. Having undertaken research projects 

on CLH for Joseph Rowntree Charitable Trust, Power to Change and CAF 

Venturesome, Charlie’s focus is on action-research which builds 

capabilities within communities. 

Tim Rothery – Structured Solutions Ltd. 

Tim is an experienced housing consultant with a specialist interest in 

developing and launching new models for the financing and delivery of 

affordable housing for low to middle income households and housing for 

individuals with additional support needs. He has undertaken a number 

of projects with local authorities and other voluntary sector partners, 

most recently working on a project developing a land financing solution 

for community-led housing. Tim holds an MPhil in Economics from Oxford 

and a BA in Economics from Cambridge. 

 

P
age 184



 

 

 

 

Oxfordshire Growth Board Forward Plan  

July 2020 
 

The Forward Plan sets out all forthcoming issues scheduled for meetings of the Growth Board. The Plan will be updated and published on the 
Growth Board’s website every month. Where matters for consideration are likely to require the disclosure of exempt information, and the 
exclusion of the press and public (pursuant to Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972) this will be made clear in the Forward 
Plan. Unless otherwise stated, all meetings will be held at Didcot Civic Hall, Britwell Road, Didcot, OX17JN. 

 

28 July 2020 (Virtual meeting) 

Item Description Contact 
Covid-19 Recovery To receive an update on countywide initiatives that contribute towards Oxfordshire’s post 

Covid-19 recovery.  
 

TBC  

Oxford to Cambridge 
Arc  

To receive an update on the developing governance arrangements for the Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc, including to receive any relevant recommendations.  

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director 

Growth Board Review 
Stage 1 Outcomes  

To review progress made following the Growth Board review and to endorse a revised draft 
terms of reference and other key governance documents.  

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director 

Community Led 
Housing in Oxfordshire 

To support actions relating to maximising the utility of Community Led Housing in 
Oxfordshire. This follows the receipt of £36,113 from Homes England for a study looking at 
how a commissioning and development framework could be established to promote 
Community Led Housing in Oxfordshire. 
 

Growth Board 
Executive Officer 
Group  

Q4 Housing and 
Growth Deal and 
Financial Summary 

To receive the 2019/20 Quarter 4 progress report for the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal and endorse any amendments to the programmes of work as necessary. Also, to 
receive the quarterly financial summary. 

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director. 

 

P
age 185

A
genda Item

 9

https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/meetings/


 

 

 

24 November 2020 

Item Description Contact 
Q2 Housing and 
Growth Deal and 
Financial Summary 

To receive the 2020/21 Quarter 2 progress report for the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal and endorse any amendments to the programmes of work as necessary. Also, to 
receive the Quarter 2 financial summary for the Deal. 

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director 

Growth Board and 
Health and Wellbeing 
Board joint work 

The consider recommendations concerning joint working between the Growth Board and the 
Oxfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board.   

Rosie Rowe, Health 
Place Shaping Lead  

Oxfordshire Rail 
Connectivity Study: 
Stage 2 Outcome  

To consider progress and any outcomes from Stage 2 of the rail connectivity study.  John Disley, OCC 
Infrastructure 
Strategy Manager 

The Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc 

To receive any updates from the Growth Board Director in respect of regional developments 
within the Oxford to Cambridge Arc.   

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director 

22 September 2020 

Item Description Contact 
Growth Board Review 
Stage 2 (TBC)  

To consider progress and recommendations associated with the longer-term conclusions of 
the Growth Board review.  

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director 

Supporting 
Oxfordshire’s Tourism 
and Visitor Economy  

Oxfordshire’s tourism and visitor economy has been severely impacted by a combination of 
factors, most recently, the COVID-19 Pandemic. The Growth Board will be invited to explore 
what measures partners can introduce, with the support of Government and industry, to 
sustain jobs and support recovery. 

Ahmed Goga, 
OxLEP 

Q1 Housing and 
Growth Deal and 
Financial Summary 

To receive the 2020/21 Quarter 1 progress report for the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal and endorse any amendments to the programmes of work as necessary. Also, to 
receive the quarterly financial summary. 

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director 

The Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc 

To receive any updates from the Growth Board Director in respect of regional developments 
within the Oxford to Cambridge Arc.   

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director 

P
age 186



 

 

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 
Update (TBC) 

To receive an update on progress in the development of the Oxfordshire Plan ahead of the 
Regulation 18 (Part 2) consultation. 

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director 

 

26 January 2021 

Item Description Contact 
The Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc 

To receive any updates from the Growth Board Director in respect of regional developments 
within the Oxford to Cambridge Arc.   

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director 

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 
Consultation on 
Spatial Options (TBC) 

To review progress concerning the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 consultation on spatial options 
(Regulation 18 Part 2). 

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director 

 

22 February 2021 

Item Description Contact 
Q3 Housing and 
Growth Deal and 
Financial Summary 

To receive the 2020/21 Quarter 3 progress report for the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal and endorse any amendments to the programmes of work as necessary. Also, to 
receive the Quarter 3 financial summary for the Deal. 

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director 

The Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc 

To receive any updates from the Growth Board Director in respect of regional developments 
within the Oxford to Cambridge Arc.   

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director 

 

23 March 2021 

Item Description Contact 
The Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc 

To receive any updates from the Growth Board Director in respect of regional developments 
within the Oxford to Cambridge Arc.   

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director 

 

P
age 187



 

 

8 June 2021  

Item Description Contact 
The Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc 

To receive any updates from the Growth Board Director in respect of regional developments 
within the Oxford to Cambridge Arc.   

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director 

 

27 July 2021 (provisional) 

Item Description Contact 
Q4 Housing and 
Growth Deal and 
Financial Summary 

To receive the 2020/21 Quarter 4 progress report for the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal and endorse any amendments to the programmes of work as necessary. Also, to 
receive the Quarter 4 financial summary for the Deal. 

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director 

The Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc 

To receive any updates from the Growth Board Director in respect of regional developments 
within the Oxford to Cambridge Arc.   

Bev Hindle, Growth 
Board Director 

 

 

P
age 188



www.OxfordshireGrowthBoard.org 

To: Oxfordshire Growth Board

Title of Report: Oxford to Cambridge Arc – Update 

Date: 28 July 2020

Report of Bev Hindle, Growth Board Director 

Status: Open 

The Arc

1. Members will be aware that the Oxfordshire Growth Board is one of four which covers 
the area known as the Oxford to Cambridge Arc (The Arc).  The other three Growth 
Board areas generally align with the Local Enterprise Partnership boundaries: 
Buckinghamshire Growth Board; Central Area Growth Board covering 
Northamptonshire, former Bedfordshire authorities and Milton Keynes; and 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Growth Board.

2. The Arc has been identified by Government as a region of economic priority. While it 
has no formal central administration or status, the Local Authorities, Local Enterprise 
Partnerships and universities located in the Arc have all come together under the Arc 
Leadership Group.  The Government has also set up an Arc Unit within MHCLG, which 
involves officers from several departments across Whitehall.  There is also a minister 
who leads on Arc-related matters, Simon Clarke, who sits in MHCLG.

3. The Arc Leadership Group consists of the elected Leader or Mayor of each of the 
authorities, including the Cambridge & Peterborough Combined Authority, the Chairs 
of the Local Enterprise Partnerships and the Chair of the Arc University Group. There 

Executive Summary and Purpose:

The purpose of this report is to update the Growth Board on the current work being 
undertaken relating to the Oxford to Cambridge Arc. Shortly following several Arc-related 
announcements in the Spring budget, COVID-19 lockdown restrictions came into effect and 
the Government’s Arc team reallocated to work on priority response programmes.  With 
lockdown easing, and a real push to support economic recovery, the Government is once 
again focussing on areas that can help lead the recovery with the Arc still be considered an 
area of national economic importance.

The efforts of the Arc Leaders Group, while acknowledging the economic priority that is the 
Arc, have been in developing a place-based focus for the Arc with emphasis on delivering 
clean, green and inclusive growth to support our existing and future communities. This is even 
more relevant now as we plan for post-COVID-19 recovery. The workplan and priorities of the 
Arc Leadership Groups is now focussed on this recovery story.
  
Recommendation:
That the Growth Board notes the report for information.

Page 189

Agenda Item 10



is an Executive for this Group which consists of three representatives from each 
Growth Board Area (six from the Central Area), one Chair representing the LEPs and 
one Chair representing the Arc universities.  The representatives from Oxfordshire 
Growth Board are Cllr Emily Smith as Chair of the Growth Board, Cllr Ian Hudspeth as 
Leader of the County Council and, Cllr Barry Wood who is currently Chair of the Arc 
Leadership Group.  Jeremy Long, Chair of the Oxfordshire Local Enterprise 
Partnership, also sits on the Executive as the Chair representing all Arc LEPs. 

4. The Arc Leadership Group has initiated four inter-related workstreams: Environment; 
Place; Productivity; and Connectivity.  While there is currently a small central part-time 
support resource (Bev Hindle as Director and Anna Rinaldi as Administrative support), 
the bulk of the resources for the Arc come from the collaborating partner organisations.

Workstreams and Priorities

5. For most of 2019/20 the emphasis of the work being done was on:

 Developing a shared and joint Arc Local Industrial Strategy position, developed 
by the LEPs under the Productivity workstream;

 setting up a suitable governance structure for the Group;
 developing an environment workstream from scratch, with focus on supporting 

the early work on Natural Capital planning; 
 developing an outline transport strategy for the EEH area of which the Arc sits;
 developing a common narrative and engagement strategy for the Arc; and,
 contributing to the Government’s proposed initiative to complete an Arc Spatial 

Framework as a priority (reinforced as part of the commitments in the Spring 
2020 Budget).  

6. The Government also announced plans in the Spring for four Development 
Corporations along the central and eastern end of East-West Rail.  These, however, 
are not the focus for the Arc Leadership Group as they will be addressed through the 
relevant Growth Boards.

7. The focus now over the last few months has shifted to recovery. We have been urged 
by Government to develop an Arc-wide Recovery Strategy which we see building on 
and adding value to our county-wide Recovery plans.  The Arc Leadership Executive, 
which met for the first time on 02 July, strongly urged this work be completed at pace; 
in particular, that we develop a high level prospectus, similar to other regional pitches 
(e.g. West Midlands https://www.wmca.org.uk/news/32-billion-blueprint-unveiled-to-
kickstart-the-west-midlands-economic-recovery/), that we can submit to Government 
ahead of an anticipated Comprehensive Spending Review in the autumn.

8. Given the Arc has been identified as an area of national economic significance, and 
that all emerging Recovery Strategies are heavily focussed on the economy, there is 
belief there may be significant opportunity to secure better recovery arrangements and 
funding through working collectively across the Arc. 

9. While the Arc is not a Combined Authority in its own right, and there are no plans for 
such at any level of Government, its regional economic importance affords an 
opportunity to pitch for extraordinary funding as some other regions have done.  
Working collectively, it is also an opportunity to emphasise our key core messages 
about clean, green, inclusive and innovative growth being embedded in our recovery 
efforts - for Oxfordshire and the wider Arc area.

Looking Ahead

10.At their meeting on 31 July, the full Arc Leadership Group will be considering the 
following items:

Page 190

https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.wmca.org.uk_news_32-2Dbillion-2Dblueprint-2Dunveiled-2Dto-2Dkickstart-2Dthe-2Dwest-2Dmidlands-2Deconomic-2Drecovery&d=DwMFaQ&c=KveGjKEXiH4bMFgGs-LRbCbewnnyGW6-rJ0JK7ViA_E&r=ACOFQsKBth7YKJejyfxXqpfmLoiucviEZuhgydkjCSM&m=T_iIneoZzzGrFKpHoHmv8sIGmoqXx5BopLZ3O9PIQig&s=WgjA3DVtXTu_eSVjMN7A7dvkJAVkY7Cd1MozcDzXhhU&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.wmca.org.uk_news_32-2Dbillion-2Dblueprint-2Dunveiled-2Dto-2Dkickstart-2Dthe-2Dwest-2Dmidlands-2Deconomic-2Drecovery&d=DwMFaQ&c=KveGjKEXiH4bMFgGs-LRbCbewnnyGW6-rJ0JK7ViA_E&r=ACOFQsKBth7YKJejyfxXqpfmLoiucviEZuhgydkjCSM&m=T_iIneoZzzGrFKpHoHmv8sIGmoqXx5BopLZ3O9PIQig&s=WgjA3DVtXTu_eSVjMN7A7dvkJAVkY7Cd1MozcDzXhhU&e=


 Selection of a Chair for the Arc Leadership Group and Executive;
 an update on the progress we are making on developing an Arc-wide 

prospectus for recovery;
 an update from the Environment workstream on the Natural Capital Arc pilot 

project led by DEFRA and how we may apply this across the Arc;
 an update from the Government Arc team on their progress with the Arc Spatial 

Framework.

11. It is planned that a regular update item will be provided on future Growth Board 
agendas, bringing the Board up to date with current and projected work for the Arc.

Financial Implications 

12.There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.  

Legal Implications

13.There are no legal implications arising directly from this report.

Background Papers

14.None.

Report Author: Bev Hindle, Oxfordshire Growth Board Director 

Contact information: bev.hindle@oxfordshire.gov.uk

Page 191

mailto:bev.hindle@oxfordshire.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Growth Board Review Stage 1 Implementation
	5. Appendix 1 - 5
	2. Termination and Variation
	3. Responsibilities
	4       Financial Management Arrangements
	5       Provision of Services by OCC


	6 Covid-19 Recovery
	6. OxLEP Presentatioon Growth Board July 2020

	7a Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Progress Report -Year Two
	7b Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Financial Outturn 2019/20
	7.b Growth Deal Annex

	7c Infrastructure sub-group update
	7d Housing sub-group update
	7e Oxfordshire Plan 2050 sub-group update
	7.e Oxf Plan 2050 160420 Final
	7.e Oxf Plan 2050 notes 140520
	7.e Oxford Plan 180620

	7f Oxfordshire Plan 2050: Letter to HM Government
	8 Community Led Housing in Oxfordshire
	8. Building the Community Led Housing Sector in Oxfordshire

	9 Growth Board Forward Plan
	10 Oxford to Cambridge Arc Update

